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Five Year Financial Summary

AFEMBRE

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
gF2010% H 220005 HZ20085 HZ0075 H 220065
12ABLEEE 12A31HLEE  12B31ALEE  12A31BLEE  12A31ALFE
(restated) (restated) (restated)
(=5 (mE51) (=51
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
TERL TET TEn TAL TAL
Turnover EEL
- Continuing operations - BROEEE 20,24 15,155 4,206 204 -
- Discontinued operations -BRIEBEEE - 19,279 38,532 75,772 72,200
29,224 34,434 42,738 76,066 72,200
Result gz
- Continuing operations -BEOEER
Profit/{loss) before income BAER LAl
tax expenses &5/ (B8) 8,194 (32,940) (40,244) (36,673) (42,790)
Income tax expenses R (3,510) - - - -
4,684 (32.940) (40,244) (36,673) (42,790)
- Discontinued operations - BRIHEERH
Gain/(loss) from discontinued BRIEEEEH
operations @i/ (BB - 3,073 9,543) (37,213 (61,440)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidaries HENEAT
Wi/ (68) - 11,503 (87,531) 66,909 -
Income tax expenses FEf - (651) (2,830) (959) (820)
- 14,015 (99,904) 28,737 (62,260)
Profit/loss) for the year AEERT/ (B#B) 4,684 (18,925) (140,148) (7,936) (105,050)
Profit/{loss) attributable to: WTATEEER/ (BB
QOwners of the Company AYNGIE DN 6,108 (18,784) (140,148) (7,936) (85,187)
Non-controlling interests ¥R (1,424) (141) - - (19,869)
4,684 (18.925) (140,148) (7,936) (105,050)
Earing/(loss) per share BRAEH/ (58)
- Basic (HK Cents) - ER(E) 0.101 (0.431) (3.311) (0.191) 2.691)
- Diluted (HK Cents) - BB (B 0.098 (0.431) THEA TER TER



Five Year Financial Summary

AFEMBRME

31 December

31 December

31 December

31 December

31 December

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
12010F 720095 820085 20074 120064
128318 12A31H 12A31H 12A31H 12R31H
HK$ 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000
FHET TEL TEL TEL TEL
Assets and liabilities BEHER
Non-current assets ENHEE 2,750,595 228,481 113,165 194,386 558,382
Net current assets/(liabilities) THEERE/ (8F) (207,1229) (4,384) 19,264 66,463 (294,270)
Non-current liabilities ERPER (15,098) (75,806) - - (160,000)
Net assets EEFE 2,528,375 148,291 132,429 260,849 104,112
Non-controling interest R - (141) (122) - -
Equity attributable to owner NG 2PN
of the Company ElhiES 2,528,375 148,150 132,307 260,849 104,112

The above figures are based on the latest published financial
statements, except for the summary of result for year ended 31
December 2006 and assets and liabilities as at 31 December
2006 which were restated due to the change in presentation
currency from Renminbi to Hong Kong dollars.

BT HERGITATIE M BmRAER -
ME E2006F12A31HIEFEZXEME
LA HA2006F12A31ACEERBEEHBE
HEEHRARBHRABT -

Vi— REHRZERER DA » 2010 £ 3]



>
=)
5
c
=3
el
)
]
)
g
~+
N
S
2
o
L]
wu
3
)
o
Q
>
a
9]
Q
wv
T
=3
=
=)
@
a
[
3
ES
@
a

Chairman’s Statement

FREEE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to report the audited annual
results of the Company, together with its subsidiaries (collectively
the “Group”), for the year ended 31 December 2010.

2010 was an important year for the Group as we had re-
positioned our business in terms of strategic direction. The
Group was renamed Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited in July
2010, signifying our commitment to make China our base for our
core business activities, which focus on oil exploitation. We will
use natural gas and coalbed methane (“CBM”) as well as other
clean energy sources as a driver to accelerate the growth of the
Group’s business.

ERDOS BASIN IN SHAANXI PROVINCE: OUR
NEW STRATEGIC BASE

The Group’s oil and gas operations are mainly located in Erdos
Basin in Shaanxi Province. This region has been designated
by the Central Government as one of the five major areas with
abundant and multiple energy sources for conducting strategic
exploration and development. Erdos Basin’s coal stockpile is
one-sixth of the national capacity, while natural gas is one-third of
the country’s total. This region is also rich in mineral resources,
which will be the focus of the Group’s development of oil and gas
businesses in the future.

During the year, the Group completed the acquisition of Orion
Energy International Inc. (“Orion”) and formally began CBM
exploration in Sanjiao Block of the Erdos Basin, marking a new
era for the Group’s corporate development in the oil and gas
sector in China.

BOMRE -

AANERXREFTS MREREEARALHE
MEA R ([AER]) B#E2010012A31H 1E
2R Bz FEE -

2010 R A B EREXEB R T MARHERE—
F o AREBER2010F7RE A A [ BB RIE
BRERAF]  EHECEUNRRAEEMNRE
o EXBEUABRARAER WAXRARAR
HEREBRER ERASHBEDAEERR
HKRBFB N -

VASE Bl % Hi 4 #th A R B

AEEORRER SHERBESBS
a2 RSB RGERS 2 E LR %
hEhkEREFBZARGEERREL L —-
SEEHBWOERFEELHZEN D —
AARAME=n— MEHEALENRESR
R ERAEERICHREGEHROKE -

REBRFE AR BT E R i 2 s RE
RARAR ([Bink])  EARASEZH
AW ="ERNOKERFARESR - A EH
ROEEER BN —H-



Chairman’s Statement

EFREEE

CBM BUSINESS IN LINE WITH NATIONAL
ENERGY POLICY

According to the 12th Five-year Plan for National Economic
and Social Development (2011-2015, the “12th Five-year Plan”)
adopted in March this year, the national focus is on promoting
energy production, using the right means to revolutionize
and increase the country’s energy production capacity by
expanding exploration in oil and natural gas resources. China
also emphasizes the need to stabilize national oil production and
to promote the production of natural gas so as to match rising
demands. In the meantime, China also further advances towards
the exploration of CBM, shale gas and other forms of important
unconventional gas resources. The 12th Five-year Plan also
states that the government aims to expedite the construction
of the oil and gas pipeline network strategically located across
the country in order to facilitate the development and supply of
natural gas and CBM.

The Coal Information Institute of China’s State Administration of
Work Safety stated on 30 November 2010, that the country’s
CBM exploration and production capacity are expected to
gradually increase in the coming years towards the annual target
of 20 billion cubic meters set by the 12th Five-year Plan.

THE ADVANTAGE OF CBM

The methane concentration in the mixture of CBM is about 98%
and it is generated and stored during the coal formation process.
It is a type of unconventional natural gas resource and its heat
content scale, properties and components are similar to those
of natural gas. It is a clean fuel which does not produce a lot of
pollutants at high temperatures. The characteristics of CBM and
natural gas are similar except that the service life of CBM is longer
which could always reach between 10 to 20 years. Further, as
CBM is formed between layers of coal seams, it can be extracted
at relatively shallow depths as compared to natural gas.

China is determined to develop CBM to satisfy rising energy
demands from the growing middle-class and rapid urbanization.
In the past, because of its limited alternatives of energy supply
and related infrastructure, China depended heavily on coal-
fired electricity in both residential and commercial consumption.
Unregulated coal burning in urban areas had caused widespread
pollution as well as producing large amounts of carbon dioxide
to the detriment of the environment. CBM offers unparalleled
environmental advantages that coal and other fossil fuels cannot
offer. With rising incomes in urban areas, people become more
educated and more environmentally aware. They want a better
quality of life and environment. Natural gas is the future for urban
development and thus the demand for CBM is growing rapidly.

ERESERPOEERES

RIB2011F3A BRI EAREMBEER
4R A & 3 R 512859 (2011-20154F -
[+tZHDRIME - BRAFAHBDEREE
MABAREE  ERMAEGH KAFTE
FRHERENE BTBRRNAHRES  RE
AARAREBRFER VWHELERER &
EREIFERBRERALFNA -WEWIR
B R 5 2 iR 4t 2 B S 1 A9 S B R
BERR UWEARKAZLREEISRI W
FERENEIRS -

B B R % B 4R R ik A AR 7 B 201 04F
11A30R & & » R EIE B Rl R B 15 1% F 18
e+ ZRAREEIEARFEE200EL K -

RERMES

BKERABIBRK D AF I RHEKKBIE
RAERK  BERRKES  BRIEFHRXA
R — & EREBEXARMBLY - KERH
Ry ERAREE  MEBRRKIEELEK
BN BERER KEREXRARE
FROR RERERNEEFRER —K
Z10-205F MABRHERKERE 2R - 2#
REBRARE °

BERHEEREER T2REATELHE
FRNE 2EFHEATIENTE -BEMR
REERGEBIRTFRR  WHRKEFERRIK
TEMREANMBERSR  REIREERK
ERERE - KERAEARRFHEMEON
BEELBRORRES - BERHERERKA
MiEs  ARBRFRNEZBMFRAHRES -
WHERREBRARERNBE  KERD
BRI RIBR -
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Chairman’s Statement

FREEE

NATIONAL POLICY SUPPORTS CBM
INDUSTRY

CBM is safe, clean and environmentally sound and can also plug
the supply gap in natural gas. Hence China has been encouraging
and supporting the development of the CBM industry by
introducing a series of directives and incentive policies.

On the taxation side, the CBM industry enjoys tax rebates while
the importation of related industry materials is tariff-free. The
pricing of CBM is free, adjusted in response to demand and
supply of the market instead of being regulated by a pre-set
structure. The central and local authorities also provide subsidies
for CBM operation. Furthermore, the Central Government also
provides reduction or exemption for certain levies in respect of
exploration rights and mining rights.

CBM is trapped within coal seams, so conventional coal mining
has always been plagued by the constant risk of gas explosions
and water leakage. The state has therefore put measures in place
to improve safety in view of the country’s large numbers of mine-
related accidents. The government has regulated CBM emissions
and required that CBM, now recognized as a valuable resource,
be exploited ahead of coal mining. This will improve the safety of
coal mining while reducing the environmental impact due to gas
leakage or combustion during the mining process.

Lastly, the government also encourages participation of foreign
parties in CBM projects and provide support in research and
development in order to further increase the production capacity
of CBM fields.

STRENGTHEN SHAREHOLDER BASE AND
MANAGEMENT

In order to match the rapid growth of its oil and gas businesses,
the Group actively strived to strengthen its shareholder base
during the year. A number of experienced investors with extensive
knowledge and understanding of the mainland China investment
markets joined us as strategic shareholders, including Dr. Dai
Xiaobing, Mr Chang Yim Yang, and Mr Chen Hua. Other major
corporate investors, such as well-known financial establishments
such as Och-Ziff and Ping An Life Insurance also came on board.

Orion, acquired by the Group in November 2010, was set up
in 2006 and engaged mainly in the business of exploration,
development and investment of CBM and related projects
in mainland China. The Group appointed Dr. Yang Luwu in
December 2010 as the Group’s Vice President and Chief
Geologist to lead the Group in geological exploration work in
terms of identifying and developing new projects. Dr. Yang has
long been involved in researching specialized drilling techniques
required for the distinctive geological conditions of CBM fields.

ERHEEREXRDBRZH

RKERAELZEZMEREZTEES 717
MARROEET R AUEBERSHEMX
FREREXFERLFAENA #LHT X
SIS EERE -

EREEETH KERFREEZFEEE
MABEBRRES EORBIRBET IE
OIREEER - RERER AT HHKAEL
REBENERRSG o R TTBRT Y
REREEBRHEMY -ZXHE RESS
BEAEBRE  BRTAERRCBRES °

HEERMAEBRTE  BREEREEZRH
EREXRE WERRKE FERHTEE
MBEKERELE - AHBERERTRERSH
PRI PR Il - %53 80 1 36 75 JX 7% 5 3 BT 6 2B R A
REZERBENKER B AR KR
FENZERE  TARERERRNE
KRGS PTAE AR VBRI IS 2 ©

BES - B SR T 5k B ¥ 5 A fF 0 3 AR BHSOAT 3
EEESHS - BE SRR ERMMEEN

MILIRREREREEE

AEERMRSEERNEARES EFE
ATRERE R RER - SREH/ N TFEL -
REGTERRELESETERBEEERKR
ERRELEHRMNEERARBERR > L&
Och-Ziff R FRABEMNBHBIREE AR -

AEER2010F 11 A STk W iE 1) B Im 2 Ak 37
20067 « —HEFMABERFETEBEER -
REBER2010F12ABEMEZEBERIELR
AEEBCEBERERHEER  SiELE
B g AENTRRERE TE-
GERBLTRE—ESFMEHEPEEE
R E R 2 R FPIRE -



Chairman’s Statement

EFREEE

Additionally, the Group also appointed Dr. Dai Xiaobing as
Executive Director and Orion’s director Mr. King Hap Lee as
Chief Executive Officer of Sino Oil and Gas, responsible for the
Company’s strategic development and daily operation. These
appointments have further strengthened the Group’s professional
management and operational capability. Their details are set
out in “Directors and Senior Management Profiles” in this annual
report.

New reporting regulations set out in Chapter 18 of the Listing
Rules were introduced on 3 June 2010, which requiring mineral
companies listed with the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong to
have detailed disclosure of the oil and gas properties to be
acquired and providing an internationally recognised technical
report in accordance with certain basic requirements set out in
the Listing Rules. Companies are also required to give details
in subsequent interim and annual reports on the latest progress
of their exploration, development and mining projects as well as
the costs of related business activities. The Group completed
the acquisition of Sanjiao Block CBM project in November 2010,
the first major acquisition conducted after the introduction of the
revised Chapter 18 of the Listing Rules. The Group fully complied
with the new rules, in line with the strict requirements to protect
investors’ interests.

Since the beginning of 2011, major oil-producing countries in the
Middle East and North Africa have been experiencing political
and economic instability, while Japan’s recent mega-earthquake
triggered serious radioactive leaks. These have consequently
changed the dynamics of global energy supply and clean energy
sources will certainly become more popular and widely accepted
in the market. The management therefore has every confidence in
the future of the Group.

Finally, on behalf of the Board | would like to extend my gratitude
to our shareholders and business partners for their long support. |
would also like to express my most sincere appreciation to all our
staff, especially our frontline colleagues in the oil fields who are
facing extremely harsh working and weather conditions day after
day. Thank you.

Kong Siu Tim
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2011

W AKETEFEAZTRHINEE LR
HITES VT EAERKLEETERRMEES
REER ZITHRAE  EEAE QP BB E
RASNMEREESE EFPHEALAEENE
XEEMEERN PN HEFINRAEF
BIE=ZLRSEEEABBN] -

EABMAR SIS HRBELE Z EWAAE
18E B 7] H2010F6AHBBEM  frE £
NAIMBEAMEXNERIBEL WE  ¥AE
T ETIEPIIRRRERRAMEMMRE WA
FRrUVBEFHEE2FFRAN XREFH
BEMK FHERAREBER UAREBEAEZH
RF S - REBR2010F11A TR WE 2 =
REREERIEELE  AEERENN LTE
PIEISEMREMET 2 EANEEIE T4
AREREEREME LR ER -

B A011FE AR P RMIEIFFERME
WEZEHBER BARIOFMBERSI R
AT R - It FINE O D 2 Ry BE TR
EIRAEE BEERNOM  BREREEER
FEXMBER EEBHERERKNAR
BEDL-

R&RAANERREZE R-EXFAE
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2010, Sino Oil and Gas
Holdings Limited (the “Company” or “Sino Oil and Gas”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) recorded a turnover
of HK$29,200,000 (2009: HK$15,200,000), representing an
increase of 92.8% vyear on year. The increase in turnover was
mainly contributed by the oil and gas blocks in Shaanxi Province,
which have proceeded into the second phase of exploitation.
While production levels were still below optimal scale, productivity
has improved gradually. In addition, the Group expects the
coalbed methane (CBM) field in the Sanjiao Block acquired in
mid-November 2010 will commence production in 2011 and is
expected to contribute further to the Group.

The Group disposed of its oilfield operations in the United States
for considerations of HK$150 million at the end of December
2010 and recorded gain on disposal of HK$72.7 million. During
the year under review, the profit attributable to shareholders
of the Company amounted to HK$4,600,000 (2009: Loss of
HK$18,900,000), with an operating profit of HK$12,300,000
(2009: Loss of HK$25,600,000).

Oil and Natural Gas Exploitation

Liuluoyu and Yanjiawan

Both of our two oil fields in the PRC, namely Liuluoyu and
Yanjiawan, are located in Erdos Basin, Shaanxi Province, with a
production of approximately 6,810 tonnes of crude oil during the
year. In addition to the existing oil wells, in view of the geological
formation of the blocks and successful gas production in adjacent
fields in Erdos Basin, our technical team has been actively
working on the second phase of exploitation of the oil resources
on these blocks, as well as the exploration of natural gas during
the year in order to enhance the efficiency of our oil fields. The
team successfully discovered a high-yield shallow gas reserve at
Liu-cong 6-4 well in Liuluoyu oil field in October 2010. According
to preliminary tests, the daily open flow of each gas well would
be more than 10,000 cubic meters. It is conservatively expected
that the minimum daily production of each well will be more than
3,000 cubic meters.

¥ Y5 OEE

B E2010F12H31BLEFEARN  FHEABR
TRARAR([ARRIHFEBRI]) &
HMBAR (MBI AEE]) & XER
29,200,0007% 7T (2009%F : 15,200,000 7T)
B EFEEEN2.8%  EHEBEMEREIEEMA
NERBEREREETE _RBRHRAR  £E
i REZIBERE  BEEENEZHNE -
I AN - AN £ [ 78 HA 220104811 A 7 52 Bk Uk B
M=XHEERERAENR2011FEAZEAE
EMRE  BRAKETERER -

ANEBER2010F12AK © U1.5EB T
B PEREBEMBHER Em&EELH
72,700,000 w2 W m - ERIBEFE AN - A
A7) 2 1% R FE 1 5 ) A4,600,0007% JT (2009
F ¢ E51818,900,000/8 L) - ME& & & F A
12,300,0007% 7T (20094F : & $825,600,000/5
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TREHH®ZE  RMEAEERFEREL
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HRARETHERILIE - WK 2010510
AEME R EEYZEe-4aHBREESE
RAAR -RKUIFZHF BREAEERER
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EREST R RS0

Liuluoyu oil field is located in Ganquan County, Shaanxi Province.
According to estimate from oil field experts with reference to the
relevant data, it is expected that the shallow gas reserve in the
Liuluoyu block is at a depth of about 300-500 meters with an
estimated recoverable reserve of about 500 million cubic meters.
The natural gas production in Liuluoyu oil field will substantially
increase in the future. In 2010, the trial production of natural gas
yielded a total of approximately 2 million cubic meters.

The management remains cautiously optimistic of discovering
large quantities of natural gas in the blocks and anticipates that
the natural gas discovery will further enhance the investment
return of the two oil fields in Erdos Basin.

Jinzhuang

The Group obtained a 15 month operation right of Jinzhuang oil
field in May 2010 under an operating agreement. As such, the
Group owns a 95% economic interest in the turnover from the
production sharing right of Jinzhuang oil field during the operating
period. Pursuant to the agreement, the Group will have the first
right of refusal to acquire the oil field at an agreed price upon the
end of the period.

Jinzhuang oil field is located at the plateau of Erdos Basin,
Shaanxi Province, with an area of 62 square kilometers. From
September to December 2010, crude oil output amounted
to approximately 1,680 tonnes. According to the preliminary
assessment carried out by a local independent assessment
agency, the 3P (the sum of proven, probable and possible
reserves) of crude oil was approximately 25 million tonnes.

The Group has also carried out preliminary exploration of tight
gas reserve in Jinzhuang oil field and completed two exploration
wells to a depth of approximately 3,200 meters, leading to the
discovery of tight gas reserve of industrial value at underground
levels of about 3,200 meters to 2,800 meters. According to
preliminary tests, the daily open flow of each gas well would
be more than 50,000 cubic meters. It is expected that the daily
production of each well will be more than 20,000 cubic meters
upon stabilization of production. Trial sales of the natural gas
commenced in November 2010, amounting to approximately 2.3
million cubic meters. The management expects that the discovery
of the tight gas reserve in Jinzhuang oil field will bring promising
additional income to the Group.

SR BEMERAEEER%  REHEE
X HBEER 2 EE - MR BEBEEERX
SR R R £9300-500K + BRI AT IR FE B L A
FENFRK RREMEREEHOXRARE
EBAE LA 20106 REXARD
2,000,00037 77 % o

BEEHAELREEEZERARERRANA
REMRFEELE YTHERARNERA
BE - RASBZHM2AMMEHANRE

2E
AEBMPR2010F5 A RBERDEEARMN AR
BESE BN+ RER &SR -F&EH
W SEREBSEHBEBRERS X5E05%
DK o BRIEHE - AEBEEBERERE
AN EERELEEZHE -

CEBENERAESBZ T REN @
HECT AR AREEAEEEZLRAHE -
EFOE12A M R MEE %) A1,680M o 1B &
Bl A f8 5 5T RS W) 2P RS - 2 M B B3P
(BE MERUEREZA) RAFEEH
£2,5008 1A °

AEBTHSEHENEERARET T
HEER - SERC AR O FF R 493,2005K B K AR RAE
F o I FE T £93,2005K £2,800K 2 L [E
BRTAEIXBENREAERAR - £OF
B - &8 B H XA REM RS iB50,000
SH K FEEARRIBE S B 0] 20,000 5
KA E - B2010F 11 BB iR H 2 RARAME
S E - E 24 52,300,0003 75 K o B E
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Coalbed Methane Exploitation — Sanjiao Block in Erdos Basin

In July 2010, the Group entered into an acquisition agreement
to acquire the entire interest of Orion Energy International Inc.
(“Orion”) for a total consideration of HK$2.34 billion. Orion owns
a 70% interest in a CBM exploration, exploitation and production
project in the Sanjiao Block located in Shanxi and Shaanxi
Provinces pursuant to a production sharing contract (“PSC”)
entered into with PetroChina Company Limited (“PetroChina”,
HKEX: 857), the Chinese partner in this project. The gross 2P
(oroved and probable) reserve of the Sanjiao Block as per the
Competent Person’s Report as disclosed on the circular dated 26
September 2010 is 356.6 billion cubic feet. The acquisition was
duly completed in November 2010.

In December 2010, the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC
approved the extension of the exploration period of PSC of the
Sanjiao Block to 30 June 2012, and the relevant government
authorities renewed the operation license for Orion in December
as well, with its term extended to 30 June 2012. The Ministry of
Land and Resources of the PRC also approved the term of the
exploration license of the Sanjiao Block to be extended to 8 July
2012. The obtaining of these three licenses provided a lawful
foundation for the application of the overall development plan of
the Sanjiao Block under the PSC. Moreover, according to the
PRC standards, the proven reserve of CBM of 43.5 billion cubic
meters of the Sanjiao Block has been reviewed and endorsed by
the Expert Review Group of the State Reserve Committee of the
PRC. Accordingly, the Company is in the process of preparing
and reporting the overall development plan of the Sanjiao project,
which is expected to obtain the approval from the National
Development and Reform Commission during the year.

By end of December 2010, Orion had completed 17 multi-
lateral horizontal wells in the Sanjiao Block, with an annual
production capacity of 130 million cubic meters of CBM. The
Chinese partner, PetroChina, has established and commenced
the operation of a compressed natural gas head station with a
daily compression capacity of 30,000 cubic meters. The project
is ready to run external trial sales of CBM. The management
expects that CBM production will enter into a formal production
phase in the second quarter of 2011, which will contribute to the
Group’s revenue.
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Disposal of the oil fields in the United States

The Group had previously operated two oil blocks in the United
States, namely Grassy Trails located in Utah and Squaw Canyon
located in the Four Corners area of Colorado, New Mexico, Utah
and Arizona.

In view of the gradual shift of the business focus of the Group
to oil and gas exploitation in the Erdos Basin of the PRC, and
as it is planned to actively engage in the development of new
CBM business, the management decided to dispose of the
oilfield assets in the United States after cautious study and
consideration, for more effective deployment of management and
technical resources.

In December 2010, the Group disposed of its oil and gas
business in the United States for a consideration of HK$150
million. The disposal brought in a gain of approximately HK$72.7
million to the Group.

Summary of Resources
QOil and gas reserves of the Group as at 31 December 2010 are
summarized as follows:

M & 7 R B 2 8
AEEBEAEZTHEENEMBRLE 25l
AURZEBEMMNOEEBE - AR
T2~ HT AR T AN - S 4B )N A 5 R S AR
JH PO JH 28 52 [ 35 0 S R gk m A

ERNASEZ S HEKELFE TN EFR
ZH AWM RFAE W EERRAZR
MHEEREK ERETEMREREE
RREEVERBEELEMER REHSE
BeyHAEERE -

A2010F 128  REFBLISEBTRE H
EREEMNHAEL BHEZHEAREETS
472,700,000 7T 2 Wz -

BEHME
A& B R2010%12 A31H 8 i R % & 8 att a0
N

Crude Oil Coalbed Methane
9] HER

Liuluoyu and
Yanjiawan Sanjiao
& s % B =X 8 =%

Million barrels  Billion cubic feet (Gross)

A2 FIET T ER (4E5E)
Proved and Probable BE ML 2.8 (Note a) 356.7 (Note b)

GERY (Bi3EDb)
Notes [{hg=3

(@) The oil reserve is estimated by internal expert. The study of the gas

reserves on these fields has not been completed.

(b)  The gas reserve is extracted from the Competent Person’s Report
published in the Company’s circular dated 27 September 2010. The
Company does not expect there will be material change of the gas

reserve as at 31 December 2010.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Capital Structure

In April and June 2010, the Company successfully placed 1,624
million shares and 600 million warrants, respectively, raising
net proceeds of approximately HK$343 million. The proceeds
are used as general working capital, for possible oil and gas
investment opportunities and further development of existing oil
and exploitation projects in China.

Och-Ziff, one of the largest global institutional asset management
firms, became the Group’s strategic shareholder in October 2010.
0OZ Management LP under Och-Ziff subscribed to an aggregate of
432,220,000 new shares in the Company at a price of HK$0.45
per share. The placing shares accounted for approximately 4.73%
of the share capital of the Company as at the end of the year,
contributing net proceeds of HK$194.3 million to the Company.

A total of 437,000,000 new shares were placed to Ping An Life
Insurance Company of China Limited, a subsidiary of Ping An
Insurance (Group) Co. of China, Ltd. (“Ping An Life Insurance”)
at the same price of HK$0.45 per share, in December 2010.
Accordingly, Ping An Life Insurance became another important
strategic shareholder of the Group in addition to Och-Ziff. Ping
An Life Insurance is the second largest life insurance company
in the PRC. The placing shares accounted for approximately
4.78% of the Company’s share capital as of the end of the year,
contributing net proceeds of approximately HK$194.3 million to
the Company.

While such placement activities brought additional working capital
to the Group, it also satisfied future investment needs. With
the engagement of quality strategic shareholders, the Group’s
management capability and development strategies were seen to
be recognized by investors.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure
As at 31 December 2010, the net assets of the Group were
HK$2,528 million (31 December 2009: HK$148.3 million) while
its total assets were HK$3,423 million (31 December 2009:
HK$246.2 million). As at 31 December 2010, the Group did
not have external borrowings (31 December 2009: Nil) and the
gearing ratio based on total assets was 0%. As at 31 December
2010, the current ratio was 0.76 (31 December 2009: 0.8). The
current ratio as at the end of 2010 was seen to have weakened,
but in early March 2011, with the support of the shareholders
and business partners, the due date of payables of approximately
HK$556 million has been extended to early next year. The
Group’s liquidity has subsequently improved.

Foreign Exchange Fluctuations

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales
and purchase transactions and recognized liabilities of assets that
are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency
of the operations to which they relate. At 31 December 2010,
no related hedges were made by the Group. In respect of trade
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and other receivables and payables held in currencies other than
the functional currency of the operations to which they relate,
the Group ensures that its net exposure is kept to an acceptable
level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates where
necessary to address short-term imbalances.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION

POLICIES

As at 31 December 2010, the Group employed approximately 183
employees. The remuneration policy of the Group is based on the
prevailing remuneration level in the market and the performance
of respective companies and individual employees.

PROSPECTS

The Group will continue to focus on the expansion of its oil and
gas business in Erdos Basin in the coming year. In addition to the
traditional business of oil exploitation, the Group will also actively
engage in the exploitation of unconventional natural gas such as
shallow gas reserves and CBM.

The shallow gas reserve discovered by the Group in Liuluoyu oil
field will be a new profit growth point. The Group plans to make
further investments in the development of shallow gas reserves in
the coming two years, and in the construction of auxiliary ground
transportation and distribution facilities. The Group has performed
exploration and exploitation of the tight gas reserve in Jinzhuang
oil field in early 2011. Trial sale of natural gas has commenced
since the end of 2010, and the sale of natural gas from the
tight gas reserve will improve the overall operating income.
The management will continue to consolidate the oil and gas
exploitation operations in Shaanxi area, optimize the resources of
management and technical expertise allocated to the oil and gas
assets in Erdos Basin, and enhance the overall synergy effect and
production efficiency.

With the completion of the acquisition of Orion, the contribution
from our CBM business will gradually be reflected in 2011.
As Sanjiao Block is one of the best CBM fields in China, the
management is confident that, upon the commencement of
production in the first half of this year, Sanjiao Block will become
a large-scale CBM field within the next three years with annual
output exceeding one billion cubic meters.

The Government of Shanxi Province has planned three gas
pipelines and a liquefied natural gas plant in Sanjiao and
its surrounding areas, which were completed and put into
operation in succession in early 2011. The CBM produced
from Sanjiao Block will be transported primarily through these
newly constructed facilities to the central and western parts of
Shanxi Province where industrial natural gas consumption is
concentrated. The management believes that the CBM project in
Sanjiao Block will be the key driver of growth for the Group in the
future which brings considerable long-term return on investment
to the shareholders.
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Directors and Senior Management Profiles
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Kong Siu Tim, aged 45, was appointed as Non-executive
Director of the Company in August 2005 and redesignated as
Executive Director of the Company in November 2005. Mr. Kong
has been appointed as Chairman of the Company since March
2009. Mr. Kong holds a master degree of Economics at University
of Warwick, UK. Mr. Kong has years of experience in banking
and securities industries and he is a member of the Hong Kong
Securities Institute.

Dr. Dai Xiaobing, aged 43, was appointed as Executive Director
of the Company in May 2010. Dr. Dai was awarded a PhD in
Econometrics by the School of Economics, Jilin University, the
PRC. Dr. Dai is experienced in the corporate finance sector as
well as merger and acquisitions and corporate restructuring
of companies in the PRC. He is also familiar with the capital
market in the PRC. Dr. Dai had been one of the co-founder of
China Securities Journal published by Xinhua News Agency and
was a journalist, department head and deputy general manager
of the agency, through which he has extensive experience in
government public relations and investor relations. Currently, Dr.
Dai is the executive director and Chief Executive Officer of China
Precious Metal Resources Holdings Co., Ltd., (stock code: 1194),
a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He is also
an independent Director of Jiangxi Ganneng Co., Ltd. (LFa%
BERS DB PR A R]) (stock code: 000899), a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange and the Chairman of Beijing Ji Fude
Information Technology Co., Ltd. (it & EE S BRIMTAR R ),
which is not a public company.

Mr. Wang Ziming, aged 44, was appointed as Executive
Director of the Company in August 2010. Mr. Wang graduated
from the College of Economy and Trade Management,
Shanghai International Studies University in 1988, and received
a Bachelor Degree in Economics. Mr. Wang has worked in
Sinochem Corporation, PRC and has extensive experience in the
exploration and management in the resources sector. He is also
well experienced in mining business investment and possesses
abundant governmental public relations resources.
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Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence, aged 46, was appointed as
Executive Director of the Company in March 2009. He is also the
chief financial officer and company secretary of the Company.
Mr. Wan holds a bachelor degree of commerce and a master
degree of business administration. He has years of experience
in accounting and financial management and has worked for
international accounting firms and listed companies in Hong
Kong. He is a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a Certified Practising Accountant of CPA
Australia. He is an independent non-executive director of China
Primary Resources Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

Non-executive Director

Mr. Ni Zhenwei, aged 74, was appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in November 2005 and
redesignated as Non-executive Director of the Company in
August 2010. Professor Ni graduated at Tsinghua University in
1959, majoring in mechanical engineering. Since then, he had
been teaching and conducting research activities at the Tsinghua
University. In 1987, Professor Ni obtained his qualification as an
associate researcher in Tsinghua University and retired in 1996.
Professor Ni is an independent non-executive director of Hong
Kong listed VST Holdings Limited. He is also a senior advisor to
Korea’'s POSCO Group, China Oceanwide Group, STIG Limited,
EC Guard Limited and a number of conglomerates.
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Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter, aged 51, was appointed as
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in April
2006. Mr. Wong is currently a practising barrister-at-law of the
High Court of the Hong Kong SAR. Mr. Wong holds a master
degree of commerce in marketing from University of Strathclyde,
UK and a post-graduate certificate in laws from University of
Hong Kong. Mr. Wong has more than 17 years of extensive
experience in legal practice.

Dr. Di Lingjun, aged 55, was appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in August 2010. Dr. Di
graduated from Northwest University, PRC, major in the field of
petroleum and natural gas geology in 1980. Dr. Di was awarded
a doctorate degree in sedimentology and basin analysis by the
Northwest University, PRC. In his career, Dr. Di has worked as
a project manager in the regional petroleum and natural gas
exploration project, Changqging Oil Field; Geology Controller and
Deputy General Manager of the North Shannxi Petroleum and
Natural Gas Exploration Project conducted by the New District
Exploration Division of the China National Petroleum Corporation.
Dr. Di is at present the Deputy Chief Geologist of Exploration and
Development Institute, Changging Oil Field, CNPC.

Dr. Wong Lung Tak Patrick, aged 62, was appointed as
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in August
2010. Dr. Wong is a practising certified public accountant in
Hong Kong and the managing director of Wong Lam Leung &
Kwok CPA Limited. He has over 30 years’ experience in the
accountancy profession. Dr. Wong was accorded Doctor of
Philosophy in Business, was awarded a Badge of Honour by
the Queen of England in 1993, was appointed a Justice of the
Peace in 1998 and was awarded a Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS)
by the Hong Kong Government of SAR in 2010. He has been
appointed Adjunct Professor, School of Accounting and Finance,
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University since 2002. Dr. Wong
participates in many types of community services, holding posts
in various organizations and committees, both governmental
and voluntary agencies. Dr. Wong is currently an independent
non-executive director of Water Oasis Group Limited, CC Land
Holdings Limited, Galaxy Entertainment Group Limited, Ruinian
International Limited, Guangzhou Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd. and
China Precious Metal Resources Holdings Co., Ltd., all of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Dr. Wong
is also an independent non-executive director of National Arts
Holdings Ltd. (listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the
Stock Exchange).

BIAHBITES

HEEZNKE 515 N2006F4R EZ T A
RARZBIUFNPTEE -BLERBEE
B KRER - &=L ARFA R BUniversity of
Strathclydez F ¥ B 1 (35 52) 1B T 246 &
EBRBZARFERTE BEAEREER
THFLEEREHLRH -

ERSEEE L - 5557 - R2010F8A BRI AR
NEZ B FERITES - B F T MN1980F £
ERFEEIL RS (EEARERARZME) -
I ERF R KB B HPIHE
MEEED AT - BELTETIRERBA
MAARBIBHEEELE  PABRAR
BRABFEDESEBRRILABRARZDE
HEMMWBEEENBALE  REPABE
B B IR P S i S B B AR b ' R o

EERBEL 625 M2010F8REZ I A
ARNBZBUIERTESZ - BEEL AT EH
XgiMkAEMNRASHMERMBERA
AMNESREE FREFEEEFR =T
FEB HEHLITHSEHELASHLSM0 R
1003 F ER L 2R EELEHE - M908 F &
ZEABKFHLT - WHR2010F EEF B FHITT
& BT MR % L 2 & o 18 R20024 2 &
EXEBETITAEBETREMERZEAREH
K-EZBIT2EZEHRERSE YR ZEEB
FHEBEREZES R ERBBETLRY =18
THREREBEEBBERAR  RaBMHIERE
RARCBUIRLEEFER LA - IHFEKE
ERAE -BNEXROHERAFTRPHE
SBEREBRER QA (ZERRHREZFT
IRMET)MBULIERITTES - BB LINESZ
FAEBIBZERER AT (KRB RFTaIER M)
MBI FEITESE -



Directors and Senior Management Profiles

EEREEEEASEHN

Senior Management

Mr. King Hap Lee joined the Company in November 2010
and was appointed as Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
Mr. King is principally responsible for strategy development
planning and daily operation of the Company. Mr. King graduated
from Xian Jiaotong University in 1983. He has been working
for various central government departments and state-owned
enterprises for a considerable period of time and has more than
20 years’ experience in government organizations and enterprises
management. He was the deputy director and Chairman of
Workers’ Union of Mechanic and Electronic Products Importation
and Exportation Office of the State Council, the deputy general
manager of FFEIM#IK T2 H i RYIEE A F (China Machinery
Industry Marketing & Supply Shenzhen Group Corporation®) and
managing director of F#EFE /AT (China National Machinery
Hong Kong Company?).

Dr. Yang Luwu joined the Company in November 2010 and was
appointed as Vice President and Chief Geologist of the Company.
Dr. Yang is principally responsible for geological exploration,
development and new business expansion of the Company. Dr.
Yang holds a PhD degree in geology of China University of Mining
and Technology. He is a certified appraiser of mineral reserve in
China and a member of Coalbed Methane Specialized Committee.
He has nearly 15 years experience in project management and
technical research for coalbed methane and petroleum and coal
development. He is the founder of Orion Energy International
Inc.. He was the director of technology department and research
center of China United Coalbed Methane Co., Ltd. and led the
formulation of Specifications for Coalbed Methane Resources/
Reserves of China.

Mr. Gong Jie joined the Company in August 2010 and was
appointed as Vice President of the Company. Mr. Gong
is principally responsible for government and environment
related affairs for the Company. Mr. Gong graduated from Jilin
University, major in economy in 1982. He has nearly 40 years
working experience in scientific research institutes, government
departments and enterprises management. He was the vice
secretary to the Communist Party Committee of Economics
and Management School of Jilin University and executive vice
president of Business School of Jilin University and a senior
project officer of Department of International Cooperation and
Exchanges, Ministry of Education of PRC. He was also the vice
president of Shide Group in Dalian, vice president of KjZrH &
(Tianjin Zhongji Group®) and a director of Tianjin Huanbohai
Holding Group.
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Directors and Senior Management Profiles

EEREEEEASEHN

Mr. He Hongbing joined the Company in 2008 and was
appointed as Vice President of the Company in November
2010. He is principally responsible for the corporate finance and
investor relation of the Company. Mr. He holds a bachelor degree
of Geology at Peking University and a master degree of Civil Law
at Yantai University. He is a CFA Charterholder and a member
of The Hong Kong Society of Financial Analysts. He holds a
Chinese lawyer qualification, and has nearly 10 years working
experience in corporate finance and investor relations. He was
the financial manager of Shenzhen B&K Electronic Co., Ltd, the
deputy general manager of the Investor Relation Division of China
Gas Holdings Limited in Hong Kong and an investment analyst of
Singapore UOB Kay Hian Research Pte Ltd.

Mr. Ding Guiming was appointed as Chairman of the Oil and
Gas Expert Commission of the Company in November 2010. Mr.
Ding is principally responsible for assisting the management team
of the Company to formulate strategic development plans. Mr.
Ding graduated from Chengdu University of Technology majoring
in oil and gas geological exploration in 1964. He worked in Daging
Qilfield for a considerable period of time, and has nearly 40 years
working experience in the exploration, exploitation, production
and management of large oil and gas fields. He was a technician
of Daging Oilfield Institute (KB BEFEFT), the head of Daging
Petroleum Extraction Sixth Factory Institute (E&d7~ERETITFT),
the director of the Administrative Bureau of Daging Oilfield, the
director of Exploration Bureau and the assistant general manager
of China National Petroleum Corporation. He was also a special
inspector of the State Council, the chairman of the Supervisory
Committee of Central Enterprises Working Commission and the
vice chairman of China Enterprise Directors Association.

*

For identification purpose only
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EEXELSRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) is
committed to high standards of corporate governance for the
purpose of providing a framework and solid foundation for its
business operation and development. The Company considers
that effective corporate governance with probity, transparency
and accountability makes an important contribution to corporate
success and to enhancement of shareholders value.

The Company complied with the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (the “Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) in the year 2010.

THE BOARD

The Board is structured to ensure it is of a high calibre and has
a balance of key skills and knowledge. The Board comprises four
executive Directors, namely Mr. Kong Siu Tim (Chairman), Dr. Dai
Xiaobing, Mr. Wang Ziming and Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence; one
Non-executive Director, Mr. Ni Zhenwei; and three Independent
Non-executive Directors (“INEDs”) required under Rule 3.10(1) of
the Listing Rules, namely Dr. Di Lingjun, Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen
Peter and Dr. Wong Lung Tak Patrick. All the Directors have
entered into service contracts with the Company. The terms of
appointment for Executive Directors and Non-executive Directors
(including INEDs) are three years and one year respectively.
Dr. Wong Lung Tak Patrick has appropriate qualifications and
accounting related financial expertise required under Rule 3.10(2)
of the Listing Rules. There is no financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship between the Directors. All the
three INEDs are independent under these independence criteria,
and with their respective expertise and experience to the Group,
they are capable to effectively exercise independent judgment
on issues of strategy, performance, risk and people through their
contribution at Board and committee meetings.

The Board has the necessary skills and experience appropriate
for discharging their duties as Directors in the best interest of
the Company and that the current board size is adequate for its
present operations. Each of the Directors keeps abreast of his
responsibilities as a Director of the Company and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company.

The biographical details of the Directors are listed in the section
of “Directors and Senior Management Profiles” in this annual
report and that the INEDs are expressly identified in all of the
Company’s publication such as circular, announcement or
relevant corporate communications in which the names of
Directors of the Company are disclosed.
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EEXELSRE

The Board conducts meeting on a regular basis and on ad hoc
basis to meet its business needs. The attendance of individual
Directors at board meetings and at two other board committees
(the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee) during

the year is set out as below.

Meetings attended/held during term of office in 2010

Corporate Governance Report

=
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HERMEEFR2010F ER AR 21T

EFECRREXRBHE R REHMEELE
KREEBTEH -ERNEETRAFEALE
CeRMHEMMBAEEFZES (FXREE
FHZE®) @B RAEN T X -
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Audit Remuneration
Board Committee Committee
EEg BREEE HFMESE
Number of meetings held during the year FEEXETEHBE 13 2 1
Executive Directors BTES
Kong Siu Tim (Chairman) IO (EE) 13/13 - 11
Dai Xiaobing (appointed on 1 May 2010) /T (72010F5 A1 B EERT) 6/7 - -
Wang Ziming (appointed on 16 August 2010) T B8 (R2010F8 A 16 HEZ ) 3/3 - -
Wan Tze Fan Terence BTE 13/13 - -
Jiang Rizhong (resigned on 1 May 2010) ZH 2 (R2010F581 B &HT) 1/6 - -
Non-executive Director ERTES
Ni Zhenwei (redesignated on 16 August 2010) {21 (& (R2010E8 B 16 R EF ) 7113 11 -
Independent Non-executive Directors BIAEHTES
Wong Kwok Chuen Peter =S 7/13 2/2 1/1
Di Lingjun (appointed on 16 August 2010) Bf8E (R2010F8 16 B EZT) 3/3 1/1 -
Wong Lung Tak Patrick (appointed on & (R2010F8F16HEZR ) 3/3 11 1/1
16 August 2010)
Yip Ching Shan (resigned on 16 August 2010)  E& 1L (7201048 A16H B (T) 3/9 11 -

Notes:

Wi

1.

Dr. Dai Xiaobing and Mr. Wang Ziming were appointed Executive
Directors on 1 May 2010 and 16 August 2010 respectively.

Dr. Di Lingjun and Dr. Wong Lung Tak Patrick were appointed
Independent Non-executive Directors and members of the Audit

Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter and Dr. Wong Lung Tak Patrick were
appointed members of the Remuneration Committee on 16 August

Mr. Ni Zhenwei was redesignated from Independent Non-executive
Director to Non-executive Director and ceased to act as member

of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee on 16

Mr. Jiang Rizhong resigned as Executive Director on 1 May 2010.

2.
Committee on 16 August 2010.
3.
2010.
4.
August 2010.
5.
6.

Mr. Yip Ching Shan resigned as Independent Non-executive
Director and ceased to act as member of the Audit Committee and
the Remuneration Committee on 16 August 2010.

1. #BNOEBIRERTBEBREESDRR2010F571
HX2010F8A16 A ELZ T ARITES -

2. EEEBLIREEEBLN201068A16H
BEZARBUINTEERELZEEHKE -

3. mEPEE R FEERE L R2010F8816H
EZERYFMEZEGKE -

4. fRARE % ER2010F8A16H B B L JE# 1T
ERATHEUTESABEIERZES LT
MEZEEEKE -

5. E=HBEAER2010FE581HETHRITES -
E 5Lk ER2010F8 A16H B B L IE#L
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are segregated
and performed by two separate individuals, Mr. Kong Siu Tim
and Mr. King Hap Lee respectively, to ensure a balance of power
and authority. The Chairman of the Company provides leadership
to the Board and ensures that the Board discharges its
responsibilities effectively. His primary roles and duties include to
formulate corporate strategies and plans in conjunction with the
Board and to ensure that Directors receive complete, accurate
and timely information and are properly briefed on issues arising
at Board meetings. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible
for the effective management and operation of the Company
and his primary roles and duties are to monitor and control the
operational and financial performance within the Group and to
implement the Company’s strategy and policies for achieving its
objectives.

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND
REMOVAL

The Company’s Bye-laws provide that each Director is required
to retire by rotation at least once every three years and that
one-third (or the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) of the Directors shall retire by rotation every year at the
Company’s annual general meeting. Retiring Directors shall
be eligible for re-election at the annual general meeting of the
Company. In considering the nomination of a new director, the
Board will take into account the qualification, in particular any
qualification as required in the Listing Rules, ability, working
experience, leadership and professional ethics of the candidates
that, in the opinion of the Directors, will enable them to make a
positive contribution to the performance of the Board. The Board
considers that the existing human resource policy in recruitment
of new senior staff is also applicable to nomination of a new
director. As the Board is responsible for selection and approval
of candidates for appointment as directors to the Board, the
Company has not established a nomination committee for the
time being.

ERRITHER
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EEELGRE

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

Apart from the fiduciary duty and statutory responsibility towards
the Company and the Group, the Board is responsible for the
management of the business and affairs of the Group with the
objective of enhancing the Company and shareholders’ value.
Key responsibilities include formulation of the Group’s overall
strategies, setting of corporate and management targets,
monitoring of operational and financial matters, approval of major
capital expenditures, material acquisitions and disposal of assets,
corporate or financial restructuring, material borrowings and any
issuing, or buying back, of equity securities. Responsibility for
delivering Company’s objectives and running the business on a
day-to-day basis is delegated to divisional management who have
been given clear guidelines and directions as to their authority.

The Company has adopted the Model Code (the “Model Code”)
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the Company’s code
of conduct and rules governing dealing by all directors in the
securities of the company.

All the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
required standard regarding directors’ securities dealings set out
in the Model Code during the year.

SUPPLY OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION
The Company updates the Directors from time to time with
development in the laws and regulations relevant to their role as
director of the Company. Directors are also encouraged to update
their skills, knowledge and familiarity with the Group through
initial induction, ongoing participation at Board and committee
meetings.

The Company’s senior management regularly supplies the
Board and its committees with adequate information in a timely
manner to enable them to make informed decisions. All Directors
have access to Board papers and related materials that will
assist them for decision making. Any Director, wishing to do so
in the furtherance of his or her duties, may take independent
professional advice through the Company’s expense.

EFEMRE
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company’s objective for its remuneration policy is to
maintain fair and competitive packages based on business
requirements and industry practice. The Board has established a
Remuneration Committee which comprises three members with
a majority of whom are INEDs, namely Mr. Kong Siu Tim, Mr.
Wong Kwok Chuen Peter and Dr. Wong Lung Tak Patrick. The
committee is chaired by an INED, Dr. Wong Lung Tak Patrick.
The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year.
With reference to business needs and company development,
individual performance and contribution, changes in relevant
markets and general economic situation, the Remuneration
Committee reviews and recommends to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for remuneration of the Directors
and senior management. During the review process, no
individual director is involved in decisions relating to his or her
own remuneration. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee is made available to the public on request and by
including the information on the Company’s website to ensure full
compliance with the code provision B.1.4 of the Code.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Board is accountable for proper stewardship of the
Company’s affairs, and is responsible for ensuring that the
Group keeps fair and accurate accounting records which
disclose its financial position. The Directors also acknowledge
their responsibility to prepare the financial statements of the
Group in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards. This responsibility extends to both interim
and the annual reports.

Internal Controls

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to establish, maintain
and review the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal
controls to ensure that shareholders’ investments and the

Group’s assets are safeguarded.

In order to improve the level of corporate governance and
safeguard shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets,
under the guidance of the Code, the Group has performed
a comprehensive review for the internal control system
systematically annually with an aim to establish an effective and
comprehensive internal control system within the Group.

FMEET

ARABNHFHEREERBEHBRKRITE
EBhgFsAFREEGFNOFHNAS  -EF
CERUFMEES BE=Z2KEBE AKX
ZHKERBIIFNTES - AT DML -
EEEEENEERE L -ZZBEENERE
EEURTEEEREREL -FHEZES
BEELBRTEZ R -BFRAEXBIFRER
ABRRERERL - EAXRRAREM BEATE R
ERKCEARANED FMEZEERARF
EELEREEABNFHFMERMREET
ma o YMEEFSRHER - R BRES -
EMEETELTABERAFTMAORE -
REEETERTHIRXEBAAMRNMRE
FNZEenREREEARERBATRAA
TR YEKEHEEESENERELRR
Al ETE -

BEREZ

MBmE
EEeFETEEHERAQRAER LA
AERASERFREEMBARAATOAR
FREBNGATH BEEFNAE  KREDH
BEEERBEAEELMER ST EUREN
SENMBHRER -EFNAAERET R
ERFHEOELE -

P BB BS 1=

EXgPREAEAERY #FERFTASR
EAMEERGONAERE  UBRIRRKEE
RAEEEERERE -

BTRALEEBKTE  URRERREE
MAKREEE AREREBEETHTAE
SIEFHANERRASGIEFLERARNEZEMR
A AR AEEKE R 2L AR E
REMR

N—hEHRERERA D ¢ 2010 F 1§



>
=)
5
c
=3
el
)
]
)
g
~+
N
S
2
o
L]
wu
3
)
o
Q
>
a
9]
Q
wv
T
=
=
=)
@
a
[
3
ES
@
a

Corporate Governance Report
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The Group and its principal subsidiaries have established a variety
of more effective and stringent regulations and management
system for corporate internal controls. As such, subject to the
requirements of the Group, all principal subsidiaries of the Group
have completed the preparation of corporate internal control
system in respect of control environment and control procedure
with reference to their respective operational and managerial
characteristics.

The internal control system of the Group covers all material
control requirements, including financial controls, operational
controls, compliance controls and risk management functions.
The Board of the Company has ongoing comprehensive review
on the Group’s internal control systems and risk management
which with execution in good condition and no significant control
failures or weaknesses have been noted. The board considered
that these systems of internal controls were effective and
sufficient to guarantee the Group in achieving its operation and
governance objectives.

The Group will constantly improve and strengthen its corporate
control with reference to changes in the operating environment
in order to enhance its corporate governance and safeguard the
interests of its shareholders. The Board will continue to carry out
regular review on the internal control system. The assessment
shall cover all material controls and the management will regularly
present particular report to the Audit Committee and report to the
Board in a timely manner. All these aim at ensuring the efficient
utilization of and adding value to the Group’s assets, reducing
corporate management risk and providing a better protection to
shareholders’ interests.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee assists the Board in discharging its
responsibilities for corporate governance, financial reporting
and corporate control. The Committee comprises three INEDs,
namely Dr. Di Lingjun, Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter and Dr.
Wong Lung Tak Patrick, and is chaired by Dr. Wong Lung Tak
Patrick. None of the Audit Committee members are members of
the former or existing auditors of the Company. The Committee
meets at least twice a year. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to review the completeness, accuracy and
fairness of the Company’s financial statements, evaluating the
Company’s auditing scope and procedures as well as its internal
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control systems and to review the interim and final financial
statements before their submission to the Board and the annual
general meeting for approval. The Audit Committee is provided
with sufficient resources, including independent access to and
advice from external auditors. The terms of reference which
describes the authorities and duties of the Audit Committee
has been adopted with reference to “A Guide for Effective Audit
Committees” published by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and in accordance with Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee
is made available to the public on request and by including the
information on the Company’s website to ensure full compliance
with the code provision C.3.4 of the Code.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

BDO Limited were appointed as external auditor of the Company
by shareholders at the 2010 Annual General Meeting until the
conclusion of the next annual general meeting.

During the year, the fees paid or payable to the external
auditor of the Company, BDO Limited were approximately
HK$1,180,000 and HK$520,000 for audit services and non-audit
service rendered (excluding disbursement fees) to the Group,
respectively.

The reporting responsibilities of BDO Limited, the auditor, are
stated in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on page 39 of the
Annual Report.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognizes the importance of good communication
with shareholders as well as investors. Information in relation
to the Group is disseminated to shareholders and investors in
a timely manner through a number of formal channels include
interim and annual reports, announcements and circulars.
This information is always accessible through the Company’s
website. Annual general meetings and special general meetings
also provide a useful forum for shareholders to share views
with the Board. Members of the Board (including member(s) of
the Audit and Remuneration Committees) attend shareholders’
meetings and make themselves available to answer shareholders’

questions.
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Report of the Directors

EEEREE

The directors submit their annual report together with the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010, which
are set out on pages 42 to 156.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Group is principally engaged in operation of (i) exploitation and
sale of crude oil and natural gas and (i) exploration, development
and production of coalbed methane in China. The Group ceased
its business of oil and gas fields in the United States in December
2010.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

Pursuant to a special resolution passed by the shareholders of
the Company on 8 July 2010 and approval by the Registrars of
Companies in Bermuda and Hong Kong respectively, the name
of the Company was changed from “Genesis Energy Holdings
Limited” to “Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited” and the new
Chinese name “FEUHFERIZERBRAF" was adopted as the
secondary name of the Company to replace the Chinese name of
“BlIFTREIRIEAL A R A A7 with effect from 8 July 2010.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 23
to the financial statements.

DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 17 to the financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 36 to the financial statements.

SHARES ISSUED UNDER GENERAL

MANDATE

On 23 April 2010, the Company issued an aggregate of
874,000,000 ordinary shares with an aggregate nominal value of
HK$8,740,000 at an issue price of HK$0.198 per share to not
less than six independent third parties respectively who were
independent of the Company and the connected persons. The
net price was about HK$0.1977 per share. The market closing
price on 26 March 2010, being the date on which the relevant
subscription agreements were signed, was HK$0.244 per share.

BEECENEEMNFEREANENRFEI2E
FEE156E 2 B E2010F12A31R LEE 2
KEZTERE -
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ARARZEEEBHRIRELRR mASEEE
TR B ()R RS RH &R AR i)
B -HAEREEKESR - R2010F124 -
REBEKIEXFEMBREER -

B AT EHE
BIER2010F7 ASHEAR R AR R BB 2 F
AABRUREREREBNAFGZMESN
#FE - R ARIKEZEE B [ Genesis Energy
Holdings Limited ] 224 [Sino Oil and Gas
Holdings Limited] K& 7 32 & 18 [ AR B d |
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REPXEBIAIFERZEBRBRAR] - A
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On 2 November 2010, the Company issued an aggregate of
432,220,000 ordinary shares with an aggregate nominal value of
HK$4,322,200 to investment funds managed by Och-Ziff Capital
Management Group LLC (a leading global institutional asset
management firm) at an issue price of HK$0.45 per share. The
net price was about HK$0.4495 per share. The market closing
price on 22 October 2010, being the date on which the relevant
subscription agreement was signed, was HK$0.51 per share.

On 17 December 2010, the Company placed 437,000,000
ordinary shares with an aggregate nominal value of HK$4,370,000
to Ping An Life Insurance Company of China Limited at an issue
price of HK$0.45 per share. The net price was about HK$0.445
per share. The market closing price on 17 December 2010, being
the date on which the relevant placing agreement was signed,
was HK$0.49 per share.

The Directors considered that the aforesaid issues of shares
represented opportunities to raise capital for the Company while
broadening the base of shareholders and capital of the Company.
The net proceeds from the aforesaid issues of shares are for
general working capital of the Group and as funds for future
investment of the Group when investment opportunities arise.

Further details of the aforesaid issues of shares are set out in
the announcements of the Company dated 26 March 2010,
22 October 2010 and 17 December 2010 and note 36 to the
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 36 to the financial
statements and the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
respectively.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on pages 4 and 5.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate sales to the Group’s five largest customers took
up 100% of the turnover for the year and the largest customer
accounted for approximately 80% of the Group’s turnover for the
year from continuing and discontinued operations. The aggregate
purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for 17% and the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 8% of the Group’s total purchases for the year.

P2010F 11 A2H AR AN EBTEESR
0.4578 JT 3 17 $£432,220,000% & f% (= &
42 %8 54,322,200/ JT) FOch-Ziff Capital
Management Group LLC (— 4B 5 #)3% Bl i
BEEETERR)) IBEENKREES  FE1T
B 49 5§ 1R0.4495% T - 120109 10H22H
(NEHEREHZEEZLEA)NEMERETR
0.5187T °

R2010F12817H » ARRIUESEEN0.45
78 7T B & $£437,000,000% B (A EAE A
4,370,000 L) THEFZ ASRERERMDE
RAd FREELHNAEETR0.4458 T R
2010F12A17TH (AR EHEEZEEH)
BT (B BB R%0.4978 7T -

EERARLRBRDETHARAEERETH
R# - YA EAARR A MR RER KB ARE
o BB BEITMESHNRBFEMRERN
SEN-—REEESRELRRERSRE
RAEENARKEKREES -

EHELARHFEITHE-—PFBHNRAEAQF
H 51 A2010%3F26H  2010F10A22H &
2010F 12 A17TE M 2 » LA R BT i R R B 5T
36 °

i
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HERE
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At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or
any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the
directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
had any interest in these major customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Kong Siu Tim (Chairman)

Dr. Dai Xiaobing (appointed on 1 May 2010)

Mr. Wang Ziming (appointed on 16 August 2010)
Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence

Mr. Jiang Rizhong (resigned on 1 May 2010)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Ni Zhenwei (redesignated on 16 August 2010)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter

Dr. Di Lingjun (appointed on 16 August 2010)

Dr. Wong Lung Tak Patrick (appointed on 16 August 2010)
Mr. Yip Ching Shan (resigned on 16 August 2010)

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-law 87(1), Mr. Kong Siu Tim,
Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence and Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter will
retire by rotation and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election. All other remaining directors continue in office.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive directors are
independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2010, the interests and short positions of the
directors (the “Directors”) and chief executive of the Company in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of the
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) as
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model
Code”) were as follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of

EENIRG RAEMKRG P2 ER

M2010F12A31H ARRIEE([EE]) &
BEETBRABRAR RS ETMEEEE (A
EEFRBEEN ([FHEEEKG L $EXV
AT T 2 RE) 2R RGO RESFT
BEBMARRRIEES KBS EF 53520
GEZETMAESSBRIE LT AR ESHET
BERGZIZESTR (2SR MAEMNS
AR KBRS AR IT

REABRGRERARGPHEBTZEZA

the Company

Name of Director

Interests in shares/
underlying shares

Number of shares/

Nature of interest

underlying shares held

PR R PRkt~
EENE HHRA R B PR EntE tHEA R & E
Kong Siu Tim shares Beneficial owner 40,500,000
L EE % 17 EmEAA
share options Beneficial owner 22,000,000
i I v Emma A
Dai Xiaobing shares Beneficial owner 480,000,000
EIRIN=S gh) E=mfAA
Wang Ziming shares Beneficial owner 100,000,000
FEH % 17 EmAA
shares Interest of controlled corporation 5,000,000
f& 19 SR AR R (1)
Wan Tze Fan Terence shares Beneficial owner 30,660,000
T B % 17 EmEAA
share options Beneficial owner 13,000,000
BB EnlEAA
Ni Zhenwei share options Beneficial owner 8,000,000
e ¥ (& i EmEAA
Wong Kwok Chuen Peter share options Beneficial owner 8,000,000
=2 i M E=HEAA
Notes: Kiat -

1. 5,000,000 shares of the Company are owned by Harmonie 1.
Developments Limited which is wholly and beneficially owned by

Mr. Wang Ziming.

2. Particulars of directors’ interests in the share options of the 2.
Company are set out in the section “Share Option Schemes”.

RS & -

5,000,000 8RB EFEREELERE LR
AlHarmonie Developmemts Limited# A °

EFRARABRENEDFERNBEK

W o EmmEBERAT e 2010 £ 8§



>
=)
5
c
=3
el
)
]
)
g
~+
N
S
2
I
L]
wu
3
)
]
Q
>
a
[a]
Q
wv
T
=3
=
=)
@
a
[
3
ES
@
a

Report of the Directors

EEEREE

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2010, none of the
Directors nor any of their associates had any interests in the
securities of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

At the Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 28 May
2010, the shareholders of the Company approved the adoption of
a new share option scheme (the “New Option Scheme”) and the
termination of the old share option scheme adopted on 6 March
2002 (the “Old Option Scheme”, together with the New Option
Scheme, collectively the “Schemes”). No further options may
be granted under the Old Option Scheme upon its termination
and options granted and unexercised prior to such termination
shall continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the
provisions of the Old Option Scheme.

The Schemes are in full compliance with the relevant requirements
of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The purpose of the Schemes
is to enable the Company to recognise the contributions of the
participants to the Group and to motivate the participants to
continuously work to the benefit of the Group by offering to the
participants an opportunity to have personal interest in the share
capital of the Company.

The eligible participants includes any full-time and part-time
employee (including Directors) of the Company or its subsidiaries,
any suppliers, consultants, agents and advisers. The Old Option
Scheme and the New Option Scheme became effective on 6
March 2002 and 28 May 2010 respectively and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from the
date of coming into effect.

Pursuant to the Schemes, the maximum number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted under the Schemes
shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the Company
in issue as at the date of approval of the limit and such limit
may be refreshed by shareholders in general meeting. However,
the total maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Schemes and any other share option
schemes must not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time
to time.

Br EXXFTIE & SN 0 R20109F12A318 @ 1R
BEHME GG EB2EFE 2 B LM
HOMEEEARSTIHBEBATREAQAK
HiA E®E (AE &S KA E & H SEXVEL AT
FTZRR)ZBFTPHREE (R HEEA
IRIRIZXE ST RN G AR A ) R B 22 it 2 (T hE S o

HE R tE ST 2l

ANABHR2010F5 A28 BT RBF AL
SRR RAE RPN B [T AR
T8l )RR IEF200243 A6 8 3 16 HY B8 % i
FHEI TERERERT S - ERMERETE
ZIEIETE]) ERRESEAKRIERTTH
BB ARAE - MEE B A R AT A B AR A
MABR - WalBIEEFEITIRRITE

AEEENALETMRREITEZBEMRE -
FElZEMAERARZAEREES AT
BAgmzs e SEEHAKEZER
WHBHEEESEE ZMEmTE-

ECAEERHAERIEARAIXENB A
AlzAME2BRBES (BEESE) REM
HrEm - FAA - REREBRN - EERERTS
Ko B B #E 5T &l 9 51 7A20024F 3 H6 A 2010
FHHBHEM - MBEIESITHHAIER - &
BIFT I B AR EH BREE10FAB K

RBFTEIATRER 2 BRI k2 IRih 8B
RZTHEENSHERFBHRZERTAR
AR Z210% LR AT BR K& & B # %
R&I - R0 FHITEREFERTAEME
BREAESIROOAERRITEREFTEZ
BhEMAELETZESRNBBEBLBEEAT
BB NEDEITRDZ30% -
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Under the Schemes, the maximum entitlement for any eligible
person (other than a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or any of their respective
associates) is that the total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted
in any 12-month period up to and including the date of the
latest grant does not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at the relevant time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in
general meeting. Share options to be granted to a director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or
any of their respective associates are subject to approval by
the independent non-executive directors of the Company. In
addition, any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the Company or any
of their respective associates, when aggregated with all share
options (whether exercised, cancelled or outstanding) already
granted to any of them during the 12-month period up to the date
of grant, in excess of 0.1 percent of the shares of the Company
in issue and with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000
(based on the closing price of the shares at the date of each
grant of the options), is subject to shareholders’ approval in
general meeting of the Company.

The period within which an option may be exercised under
the Schemes will be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion, Under the Old Option Scheme, no option may be
exercised later than 10 years from 6 March 2002. Under the
New Option Scheme, an option may not be exercised after the
expiration of 10 years from the date of grant of the option.

Pursuant to the Schemes, the exercise price in relation to each
option shall be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion,
but in any event shall not be less than the highest of: (i) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheet on the date of grant of such option; (i)
the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of such option; and (iii)
the nominal value of a share on the date of grant of such option.

Some further disclosures relating to the Schemes are set out in
note 35 to the financial statements.

BREFE  FREERALT (TREARAZ
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BYIERITESHE S FAEE - A 0
ROARAEERRLBIIENTERNHE
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HERHBEHN T AL HHERNFAAR
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As at 31 December 2010, the directors and employees of the M2010F12A31H  AEEEEREERNIR
Group had the following personal interests in options to subscribe BEBEREFIUNEE LORERE A ZE
for shares of the Company granted at nominal consideration AATIMRMD 2B ERERS AT 2 EARER -
under the Old Option Scheme. Each option gives the holder the HMERER FIEE AREIIREGD ZER -
right to subscribe for one share. Details of share options held AREBZEENRESNEZ2010F12A831H 1k
by the Directors and employees of the Group and movements in FEMEERELRZSEREZEHFEE
such holdings during the year ended 31 December 2010 are as RTX:

follows:
Number of options
BREHE
Outstanding Granted Exercised Outstanding at Exercise price
at 1 January during during 31 December Date of grant Exercise period per share
2010 the year the year 2010 (D.M.Y) (D.M.Y) HK$
R2010% 120104 skikh
118 12R318 RHiAH AR 21Tk
it K AT REMRH REMTTE e AT 1 (B.A.%) (B.A.%) BT
Directors:
s
Kong Siu Tim 5,000,000 - 5,000,000 - 02.11.2005 03.11.2005-02.11.2010 0.035
IO 25,000,000 - 25,000,000 - 02.11.2006 02.11.2006-01.11.2011 0.053
17,000,000 - - 17,000,000 22.08.2007 22.08.2007-05.03.2012 0.375
9,000,000 - 9,000,000 - 21.08.2008 21.08.2008-05.03.2012 0.180
5,000,000 - 5,000,000 - 07.11.2008 07.11.2008-05.03.2012 0.060
- 5,000,000 - 5,000,000 22.04.2010 22.04.2010-05.03.2012 0.390
Wan Tze Fan Terence 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 - 02.11.2005 03.11.2005-02.11.2010 0.035
BTE 20,000,000 - 20,000,000 - 02.11.2006 02.11.2006-01.11.2011 0.053
10,000,000 - - 10,000,000 22.08.2007 22.08.2007-05.03.2012 0.375
5,000,000 - 2,000,000 3,000,000 21.08.2008 21.08.2008-05.03.2012 0.180
2,000,000 - 2,000,000 - 07.11.2008 07.11.2008-05.03.2012 0.060
Ni Zhenwei 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000 22.08.2007 22.08.2007-05.03.2012 0.375
i 2,000,000 - - 2,000000  21.08.2008 21,08.2008-05.03.2012 0.180
)g> - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 22.04.2010 22.04.2010-05.03.2012 0.390
c
% Wong Kwok Chuen Peter 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000 22.08.2007 22.08.2007-05.03.2012 0.375
3 BE2 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 21.08.2008 21.08.2008-05.03.2012 0.180
2 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 - 07.11.2008 07.11.2008-05.08.2012 0.060
g - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 22.04.2010 22.04.2010-05.03.2012 0.390
g Employees 19,000,000 - 19,000,000 - 02.11.2005 03.11.2005-02.11.2010 0.035
oo &8 55,000,000 - 55,000,000 - 02.11.2006 02.11.2006-01.11.2011 0.053
. 288,250,000 - 191,000,000 97,250,000 26.01.2007 26.02.2007-25.02.2012 0.189
2 364,500,000 - 16,310,000 348,190,000 22.08.2007 22.08.2007-05.03.2012 0.375
g 34,900,000 - 28,900,000 6,000,000 21.08.2008 21.08.2008-05.03.2012 0.180
z 91,300,000 - 91,300,000 - 07.11.2008 07.11.2008-05.03.2012 0.060
a - 211,000,000 1,600,000 209,400,000 22.04.2010 22.04.2010-05.03.2012 0.390
=)
«Q
g Note: During the year, the weighted average closing price of the K : FRN ANAFIROREETEHEHTE
g Company’s shares immediately before the dates on which the BB AR 2 hiRE U T (B A& AR0.4736/8TT ©
| options were exercised was HK$0.4736 per share.
34
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the sections “Directors’ Interests
in Shares and Underlying Shares” and “Share Option Schemes”,
at no time during the year was the Company or any of its
associated corporations a party to any arrangement to enable
the directors of the Company or any of their spouses or children
under eighteen years of age to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
As at 31 December 2010, the following persons, not being a
Director or chief executive of the Company, had an interest
or short position in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO:

Long position in the shares and underlying shares of

the Company

EEREROSES ZER

BRRIERRBO KRR DT 2| M8
Pt &l |ImEn R TR EEE SN - RARHEAT
fa] AR Bt X B AL B N F RIS R AT SR &
B BUE AR R E W F EER B L1185
AT FREBARRAREMEMABHE
2B RES T -

FTERFTZE S

2010F 128318 » U FAL (WIEARFE
FRERTBRAR) RIREHES RAEEAE
336ITFE 2 ERMATENR A AR Z kM &IA
ARMDPEEERIAR

REAABRGRERARGPHERZEZFA

Total number Percentage of

Number of of shares shares and

Number of underlying and underlying underlying shares

Name of shareholder Nature of interest shares held shares held shares held  to issued shares

B3 &AM R G

Fifs R ARRGE  HEERTRE

i L1 3434371 FiiskB8E k88 HERG 9% ZBUERL

Smart Force Group Limited (Note 7) Beneficial owner 306,428,571 306,428,572 612,857,143 6.70%

BREBARDA (Hit1) EREAA

Ocean Glory Limited (Note 7) Interest of controlled corporation 306,428,571 306,428,572 612,857,143 6.70%
BREERLRR (1) REGRRMER

QOrion Energy Holding, Inc. Interest of controlled corporation 306,428,571 306,428,572 612,857,143 6.70%
(Note 1) (Hiit1) RER R AR

Major Port Limited Interest of controlled corporation 306,428,571 306,428,572 612,857,143 6.70%
(Note 1) (Hiit1) REGRRMER

Yang Luwu (Note 7) Interest of controlled corporation 306,428,571 306,428,572 612,857,143 6.70%
BER (H#1) RER R A0S

0Z Management, L.P. Interest of controlled corporation 398,880,000 216,110,000 614,990,000 6.73%
(Note 2) (H1722) REGRRAMER

Och-Ziff Holding Corporation Interest of controlled corporation 398,880,000 216,110,000 614,990,000 6.73%
(Note 2) (Hiit2) RER R AR R

Och-Ziff Capital Management Interest of controlled corporation 398,880,000 216,110,000 614,990,000 6.73%

Group LLC (Note 2) (fiz22)

REHNRANER

S hEEEERERAE e 2010 F 8
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Total number Percentage of

Number of of shares shares and
Number of underlying and underlying  underlying shares
Name of shareholder Nature of interest shares held shares held shares held  to issued shares
f 5 R AR A A 1
Fir 546 ARRHE  HEERTRG
RE&H Baty FisRB8E k&8 HERG A% ZBEERL
Daniel Saul Och (Note 2) (f1i£2) Interest of controlled corporation 398,880,000 216,110,000 614,990,000 6.73%
REGI R AMER
Wai Tech Limited (Note 3) Beneficial owner 1,170,000,000 1,170,000,000 12.80%
REERAR (H##3) ERABA
Petromic Corporation (Note 3) Interest of controlled corporation 1,170,000,000 1,170,000,000 12.80%
FMRRERAR (HH3) REFI R AR
King Hap Lee (Note 3) Interest of controlled corporation 1,170,000,000 1,170,000,000 12.80%
S (H#3) REGATMER
Notes: HaE -
1. Smart Force Group Limited owned 306,428,571 shares of the 1. TR EBE AR A AEAR AR F306,428,571

Company and convertible notes (the “Convertible Note”) in the
principal amount of HK$153,214,286 due in 2013 not carrying any
interest with right to convert the Convertible Note into shares of the
Company at a conversion price of HK$0.50 per share. Based on
the conversion price of HK$0.50 per share, a maximum number of
306,428,572 shares may be allotted and issued upon exercise of
the conversion rights attached to the Convertible Note in full. The
Convertible Note gave rise to an interest in 306,428,572 underlying
shares of the Company of Smart Force Group Limited.

Smart Force Group Limited was wholly and beneficially owned by
Ocean Glory Limited of which Orion Energy Holding, Inc. owned
60%. Dr. Yang Luwu wholly and beneficially owned Major Port
Limited which in turn owned 75% of Orion Energy Holding, Inc.
Accordingly, each of Ocean Glory Limited, Orion Energy Holding,
Inc., Major Port Limited and Dr. Yang Luwu was deemed to be
interested in the shares and the underlying shares of the Company
held by Smart Force Group Limited.

398,880,000 shares of the Company and 216,110,000 unlisted
warrants (the “Warrants”) were held by OZ Management, L.P.
through its controlled corporations including OZ Master Fund, Ltd.,
OZ Asia Master Fund, Ltd., OZ ELS Master Fund, Ltd., OZ Select
Master Fund, Ltd., Gordel Holdings Ltd. and OZ Global Special
Investment Masters Fund, LP (the Warrants will be due in 2014 and
each Warrant has the right to subscribe one share of the Company
at a subscription price of HK$0.53). The Warrants gave rise to an
interest in 216,110,000 underlying shares of the Company of OZ
Management, L.P.

B% % 19 K2 7N & %8153,214,2867%8 Jt 1 A& A A
BT E  R2013F 218 - U R BN
REFROSOE LA RRBRESEBRAEER
ARpzABRRES ((ATRRES] 1B
BIRIRE T R0.50/8 T - RBEEITE TR
EFEAMZ A REEETREELRETRS
306,428,572/ &7 - R EE G R QAR E
A 2 % (& 25 B K A R)306,428,5724% 18 B8 ik
D o

EREBERAFBAERERANEZERE
A 0 & % B B\ Orion Energy Holding,
Inc. Bz E60%ER - GERIEL2ERE
# W BMajor Port Limited ' M EBEZHEA
Orion Energy Holding, Inc. 75%1£ %5 ° 5 1it -
BB AE R A F ~ Orion Energy Holding, Inc.
Major Port Limited % 15 FE 5 1§ + & 8 #1851
HEHEREEARABMBANAARK
1 R ERAR D i o

0OZ Management, L.P. & BEZZEH AR (&
$£0Z Master Fund, Ltd. OZ Asia Master
Fund, Ltd. ~ OZ ELS Master Fund, Ltd. - OZ
Select Master Fund, Ltd.* Gordel Holdings
Ltd. ~ }OZ Global Special Investment
Masters Fund, LP) # %A 7~ 2 71398,880,000
AR B 17 216,110,000 IF £ 4 & ([
B (EFR2014FF 8- 5HhEZTIN
REBOSIETRBIRARAKNG) °
0Z Management, L.P.iR ¥ E ¥ A A 2 A
216,110,000 HH B AR 1 =
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OZ Management, L.P. was wholly owned by Och-Ziff Holding
Corporation which was wholly owned by Och-Ziff Capital
Management Group LLC. Mr. Daniel Saul Och owned 77.4% of
Och-Ziff Capital Management Group LLC. Accordingly, each of
Och-Ziff Holding Corporation, Och-Ziff Capital Management Group
LLC and Mr. Daniel Saul Och was deemed to be interested in
the shares and the underlying shares of the Company held by OZ
Management, L.P..

3. Wai Tech Limited beneficially owned Convertible Note in the
principal amount of HK$585,000,000. Based on the conversion
price of HK$0.50 per share, a maximum number of 1,170,000,000
shares may be allotted and issued upon exercise of the conversion
rights attached to the Convertible Note in full. The Convertible Note
gave rise to an interest in 1,170,000,000 underlying shares of the
Company of Wai Tech Limited.

Wai Tech Limited was wholly and beneficially owned by Petromic
Corporation which in turn was wholly and beficially owned by Mr.
King Hap Lee. Accordingly, each of Petromic Corporation and Mr.
King Hap Lee was deemed to be interested in the underlying shares
of the Company held by Wai Tech Limited.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of retirement schemes operated by local authorities in
the PRC. The Group also operates a defined contribution scheme
covering full time employees in Hong Kong. Details of employee
retirement benefits are set out in note 34 to the financial
statements.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS
Particulars of the directors’ remuneration and highest paid
individuals’ emoluments are set out in note 10 and note 11 to the
financial statements respectively.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed in note 46 to the financial statements, no
contracts of significance subsisted at any time during the year to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a director of the Company had material interest, whether
directly or indirectly.

OZ Management, L.P.Jy FBOch-Ziff Holding
Corporation® & # A * il & & HOch-Ziff
Capital Management Group LLCZ&#i A °
Daniel Saul Och?t 4 # B Och-Ziff Capital
Management Group LLCZ77.4% ° #& It -
Och-Ziff Holding Corporation * Och-Ziff
Capital Management Group LLC Kz Daniel Saul
Och%t & & B #H R 1E# B BOZ Management,
L.P. AR 8978 2 RIAR AR 19 R AE AR (0 & he 2 ©

3. HEARAGEZRHAE A £ 3585,000,000

BT Z AR ES - BIF %R ESR0.508
T REBEHITE A RBRERFAM 2 Stk
# ¥ B 2% & #1785 %1,170,000,0008% f% {5 -
BEBRARBETHRRBRESES A RQ A
1,170,000,000% A8 B8 A% 17 &9 #E 5 o

BREERATBEHMOBARATEZERE
wlE MERENBSBRANEE2ERER
WA B XM OMBRATERBAHE
EEEREFEERREERABMBEAN
RRABER R MR A o

BIRETE

7R W B 2 B A R B R b
BAM 2B R B2 RE - REE TN —
BEAGHRAE REQEEEZ2MES -
1 BB R4 S5 805 A BT A SRR I 4

EERREHFALIZME

FHREFELEaHFALZHMEZHBE DA
N BRI EIORPFELT -

EERESHPZzER

BB REN A RBEEN AARAEF
198 4 1 AR 2 ) oKL A (T I 2 R 4F PO 448
BTS2 BARMAERZANTEER
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Report of the Directors
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its directors, as of the date of this
report, there is sufficient public float of the shares with not less
than 25% of the total issued shares of the Company as required
under the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the laws in Bermuda which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

AUDITOR
The financial statements for the year have been audited by BDO
Limited who retires and, being eligible, offers for re-appointment.

By order of the Board
Kong Siu Tim
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2011

ARFRE
BEAARATRENENREFESHM R
AFERS ARALBEARAMEGEE
TR T 1025% « & EHRAMME -

BE BEOfHELTES

FA-ARAXEEAHBERRMERE
BRHEHERRFEM ETES °

BERERE

5 NS PENCE AR S-SR &
5 BE S MBI 2 M DA BR 2 R B IR
He Ol R R IR 2 B AR -

& B
AEEHHRECEBILERERHDEY
FERARER ZRBAREEHE @
MERRET -

AHEEGMm
TE
L EH

EF8 - 2011F3A25H



Independent Auditor’s Report
BIABBERES

Tel : +852 2541 5041

Fax: +852 2815 2239

www.bdo.com.hk
e

EEE  +852 2541 5041
{8HE : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SINO OIL AND GAS
HOLDINGS LIMITED

(FORMERLY KNOWN AS GENESIS ENERGY HOLDINGS
LIMITED)

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 42 to 156,
which comprise the consolidated and company statements of
financial position as at 31 December 2010, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

EATHER1158
KR HI>251E

BPEHRERARAT
(AR RERERARAE)
(REREAMHA L FRLA)

AZEE (A TEBIATDEERFREBER
ERERAFR(ERA]) REHMBAR (5
[E5E]) JEHNFE425 1568 2 R4 T 53R
= iAW E P ER2010F12/831H
ZEHAERRAMBERAREREZZALFE
EHAETEHRER HKEERZHERES
ReRER UREIBZEFBRBMEREAM
BRI

ESNGEMBRRAREZR
fE
BEAREFAAERBEBEEHDERIE
ZEBUHRE R RE BTG 2 RE
HERBEAMBERE  USRLHERE
EHEEAFZRREABEFRARUR
AMBRRFVEZABEE - UERS
BRETEEARRFRERMEHZEX
S8R -
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BRERRHUER - BBEERE-AN—FA
A 0N - AR EER R BBRERE M
FEMMR - AT TERAREZNE - ¥
EMHMBATEESRBEA -

S— hEERERERDE ¢ 2010 F 8



>
=)
5
c
=3
el
)
]
)
g
~+
N
S
2
o
L]
wu
3
)
o
Q
>
a
9]
Q
wv
T
=3
=
=)
@
a
[
3
ES
@
a

Independent Auditor’s Report
BIABBERES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (Continued)

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2010 and of the Group’s profit and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

ZEET 2 B ()

AADRBEERHDAREGZEBEY
EAETER TN - RS EAREARTET
BEAW LRBRBEIEREIE AL E
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EBBEEBEZERBIEZRF -EEZRE
FRFZEE 2 HEmE SREFGEREHT
BREARSFHEANMFHERMER B
REGRBR R - PR FRBRE - &2
TEEZERRESAMBRRMEM AL
BH NSHAVBRRIFLEERFZR
MR WIRBARTEEZEZRERF - BIAF
EEHRERZIANZEFIRARTER - &
RNBRAGEAERAZEFRRETEE
EEFHZGAEAREAE  UNFELR
BMBHRR ZERIIR -
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EMPHASIS OF MATTER

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to note 3(b) to
the consolidated financial statements which indicates that the
Group had operating cash outflows of HK$109,333,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2010 and, as at that date, the Group’s
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by HK$207,122,000.
These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Shiu Hong NG
Practising Certificate Number P0O3752

Hong Kong, 25 March 2011

SMAEIE

KOTETERBERZBAT #3 BT
TR AV EREME30)MET S£EE
F2010F12A31B EFE 2K ER R A
109,333,000/ 7L - B BE&EEBERER 2R
BEBHEREEE207,122,0008 7T ° %5
BRABER EEEFEEATHBARSE @
oY BEERFBELEZEENENERERM -

BRI GEREREIMEEMARAT
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HIKEE
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

FEEEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2010 & E2010F12A31 B L&

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (JA7 oat &)

2010 2009
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
(i FHET T
Continuing operations REGEEER
Turnover R 58&16 29,224 15,155
Direct costs BEKA (26,021) (20,241)
Gross profit/(loss) E5,/(£8) 3,203 (5,086)
Other revenue Hi U A 6 5,558 2,283
Other gains and (losses), net Hilza & (B1R) 38 7 73,066 1,049
Administrative expenses THER (69,522) (23,897)
Profit/(loss) from operations mEEF/ (B1B) 12,305 (25,651)
Finance costs BERA 8(a) (1,453) (1,767)
Share of loss of a jointly 1l — K 2[Rl 2 1
controlled entity SENAEE 22 (2,658) (5,522)
Profit/(loss) before income tax PR PTG B 2 Al
expenses aA,/ (ER) 8,194 (32,940)
Income tax expenses 38X h (3,510) =
Profit/(loss) for the year from BELKEEBLATE
continuing operations wFl/ (ER) 4,684 (32,940)
Discontinued operations BRILEEER
Profit for the year from BRIEEEER
discontinued operations LREE R 12 - 14,015
Profit/(loss) for the year AEERF/ (F8B) 4,684 (18,925)
1
=
5 Other comprehensive income, Hin2EWas - REE
5’ after tax
% Exchange differences on MEEIEBZERZR
§ translating foreign operation 7,407 364
% Less: Reclassification of exchange " HEBINHEAA
i reserve to profit or loss ZIEH HEEA
> upon disposal of foreign Bak B
2 subsidiaries S8 37 (335) (16,456)
T
o Other comprehensive income AEREMEE RS
@ for the year 7,072 (16,092)
5
g8 Total comprehensive income AEEZENBRRE
I for the year 11,756 (35,017)
42




Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

ZEE2EWMER

For the year ended 31 December 2010 & £2010F12A31H It F &
(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (JA7 ot &)

2010 2009
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
(i FET T
Profit/(loss) attributable to: WTATEEER, (BE) :
Owners of the Company EAN/NEIEZ=DN 13 6,108 (18,784)
Non-controlling interests ek (1,424) (141)
4,684 (18,925)
Total comprehensive income A TATEEZEY B
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ARAHER A 13,180 (34,876)
Non-controlling interests R ER (1,424) (141)
11,756 (35,017)
Earnings/(loss) per share — Basic SREMN,/ (BB) —EX 15
- From continuing and - RERBELE
discontinued operations RERIEREER 0.101 HK cents #1ll (0.431) HK cents /51l
- From continuing operations -~ RERBECEER 0.101 HK cents #fll (0.752) HK cents &/l
- From discontinued operations ~REERIEGEER N/A RERA  0.321 HK cents &1l
Earnings/(loss) per share - Diluted BREAN,/ (BB -85 15
— From continuing and —RARELE
discontinued operations REKL FREEK 0.098 HK cents #fll (0.431) HK cents /1l
- From continuing operations —RERBBEEER 0.098 HK cents #fll (0.752) HK cents &1Ll
- From discontinued operations -~ KREBRIEEEER N/A 7R  0.321 HK cents /&1Ll

B—hEHRERARAD ¢ 2010 & K
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mEMBIRRR

At 31 December 2010 201012 431 H

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (A& oAt &)

2010 2009
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
B o Fi#&xT TATT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
Non-current assets FERENEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE NERE 17 89,199 115,805
Gas exploration and evaluation RNARBIR N HEE
assets 19 2,598,644 -
Intangible assets EEE 20 49,219 95,434
Goodwill EES 21 4,230 4,230
Interest in a jointly controlled entity MR—REFEEEE QG 2ER 22 6,948 9,606
Pledged deposits BT R 24 - 1,130
Deposits paid BEffiEe 2,355 2,276
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 2,750,595 228,481
Current assets HENEE
Inventories FE 25 - 446
Trade and other receivables, FEURBR 3R~ E b e Wz E -
deposits and prepayments %o RIENRIE 26 72,738 6,740
Notes receivable e 27 135,000 =
Other assets B E 28 222,458 =
Cash and cash equivalents BekBEEEEY 29 242,529 10,535
Total current assets MBEEBE 672,725 17,721
Total assets BEE 3,423,320 246,202
Current liabilities REBBEE
Other payables and accruals HEmpEMNZELERER 30 (878,952) (21,767)
Provision B 31 - (338)
Taxation I8 (895) -
Total current liabilities mEN B EESE (879,847) (22,105)
Net current liabilities HRENEEFE (207,122) (4,384)
Total assets less current BEERRBER
liabilities 2,543,473 224,097
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At 31 December 2010 201012 A31H »
. SRR 4
(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (A 7oat &) 4
2010 2009
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
B = FHERT TAT
Non-current liabilities ERHER
Convertible note AR R T 32 - (16,824)
Deferred tax liabilities RERRIEEE €8 (15,098) (12,461)
Amount due to a controlling JE {5 422 A% AR 2R FRIE
owner 46(d) - (46,521)
Total non-current liabilities ERBAEEEE (15,098) (75,806)
NET ASSETS HEFE 2,528,375 148,291
Capital and reserves attributable AXF#HHAEEEE
to owners of the Company R
Share capital &N 36(a) 91,414 43,861
Reserves & 2,436,961 104,289
Equity attributable to owners KARHE AEGREZR
of the Company 2,528,375 148,150
Non-controlling interests FEEER R - 141
TOTAL EQUITY gL 2,528,375 148,291

On behalf of the Board

REESE
Kong Siu Tim Dai Xiaobing
L HMNE
Director Director
EE EZE

D rEMRBERAERA T ¢ 2010 F &



Statement of Financial Position

,—\%% B 7 Bk R

At 31 December 2010 201012 431 H

Q«(\‘ (Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (A& oAt &)
%A
2010 2009
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
B 7 F#ET FH T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets EREEE
Interests in subsidiaries NN 3 23 2,871,252 92,983
Notes receivable JiE Uk 2= 5 27 9,000 =
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 2,880,252 92,983
Current assets RENEE
Other receivables, deposits HM a1 s
and prepayments NSELN B 26 1,738 562
Other assets Hih&E 28 60,000 =
Cash and cash equivalents e kReEED 29 28,087 55
Total current assets MEBEEBE 89,825 617
Total assets HEE 2,970,077 93,600
Current liabilities mEAE
Other payables and accruals EmpEFIERTERE A 30 (502,832) (2,185)
Net current liabilities HRENB AT (413,007) (1,568)
Total assets less current BEERREBER
liabilities 2,467,245 91,415
Non-current liabilities ERHERE
Convertible note Al R R IR 32 - (16,824)
NET ASSETS BEFE 2,467,245 74,591
Capital and reserves attributable AXFHFAEEEE
to owners of the Company EiEE
Share capital fi& A 36(a) 91,414 43,861
Reserves L] 36(b) 2,375,831 30,730
TOTAL EQUITY e 2,467,245 74,591

On behalf of the Board

REESE
Kong Siu Tim Dai Xiaobing
Lt BNE
Director Director
o EZE

& — PauwI sBuIp|oH sen pue (10 ouls « 0107 Moday [enuuy



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GEEDZEER

For the year ended 31 December 2010 & £2010F12A31H It F &
(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (JA7 ot &)

Attributable to owners of the Company

KATREAEL
(note 36(c))
(H336(0)
Share Convertible Non-
Share Share Contributed option ~ Warrant noteequity  Exchange  Capital Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium  surplus  reserve  resenve  reserve  reserve  reserve losses Total interests equity

RhE 2REE TRRRE
B RBER RAER 0 BE 0 BRE ReER ERER AfER RMGR W HERER 460
HKPO00  HKSOD  HKBO0  HKSOO0  HKSOOD  HKSODD  HKGODD  HKEOD  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSODD  HKS'00
TEL TR TEn  TER TRz TEL TR TR TR TET TR TER

At 1 January 2009 1200918 18 42069 364780 81,043 2433 - - 5817 - (doa03%) 182307 122 13249
Loss for the year KERER - - - - - - - - (1878 (18784 (141)  (18929)
Other comprehensive income Ef2ENE - - - - - - (1609) - - (1609 - (1609
Total comprehensive income FEERENGEE
for the yer . . . : - - (608) STy s (4] s
Issue of convertble note (note 32) HmaREE (Hi) - - - - - 9489 - - - 9,489 - 9489
Shares issued for acaisttions IRERR
fote 35)1) (Hzk36) ) w8 - - - - - - - g - i
Share ssued under share option RERETIETIRE
scheme (note 36(a(v) (HiE36(a) ) 866 711 - (180 - - - - - 6,678 - 6,678
Capital contribution by a non- ~FHBAAERRER
controling interest of @ subsidiary LBETE - - - - - - - - - - 160 160
Contrbuton fom controlingowner ~—~~ BRRENE2EFHA
inthe form of nterest free loans fEiz g - - - - - - - 174 - 174 - 774
At 31 December 2009 and 1A2009%12R31B R
at 1 January 2010 21051A18 BE W S8 241 S W T RS9 1160 o
Profi/oss) for he year KEREH/ (BR) - - - - - - - - 6,108 6108 (44 468
Other comprehensive income E2EdE - - - - - - 7012 - - 7072 - 7012
Tota comprehensive income TEERENREE
for the year - - - - - - 7072 - 6,108 13,180 (1,424) 11,756
' TS b
Issue o share options (note 35) BiiERiE (o) - - - 1920 - - - - - 1920 - 1920 W
Share issued under share option REREHETIRA g
N
scheme (note 36(2)v) (Hi3E36(a) ) 4760 65489 - (1.96) - - - - -G - s .
&
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GREEEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2010 & £2010F 12831 B L E
(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (JA7 oAt &)

Attributable to owners of the Company

KATREAEL
(note 36(c))
(H336(0)
Share Convertible Non-
Share Share Contributed option ~ Warrant noteequity  Exchange  Capital Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium  surplus  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve losses Total interests equity

RhE REE TRRRE
B RBER RAER 0 BE 0 BR ReER ERER AfEE RMGR W HERER 460
HKPO0D  HKSOD  HKBO0  HKSO00  HKSOO0  HKSODD  HKGODD  HKEOD  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSODD  HKS'00
TEL TR TR TER TRz TREL TR TR TEr  TET TR TER

Redemption of convertile note BETEREE (HE2)

(note 32) = = = = = (6,313 = = = (6,318 = (6,313
Release of convertile note TARERERRRRD

equty reserve (note 32) (Hita) - - - - - B - - 3,176 - - -
Shares Issued for acquistions SR aRA

fote ) (36 ) 1560 733200 - - - - - - - A - T80
Issue of convertile note for HUERATARZE

acquision te 3 (iE#) - - - - . - - o800 - 78000
Shares issued on placing HEERTRG

(ote 3 (236 ) UG 689061 - - - - - - I I
Issue of warrants (note36(a)f) {rimis (R3E36() () - - - - 7,250 - - - - 7250 - 7,250
Share Issued on exercise of i ARERmE T RR

wannts [1oe 366 (Wz£36) ) 260 470 - - - - - - wm - e
Reversal for contribution from BERENESETTA

controling owner n the fEtzTEER

form of interest freg loans - - - - - - - [1,m4) - (1.74) - [1,14)
Acquistion of addftonal equity KE-ZHERR

interest in a subsidiary LBINhE - - - - - - - - (148) (149) (141) (289)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37(a) HEMBRAF (k) - - - - - - - - - - 1424 1424
At 31 December 2010 0128318 MA 196M8 GO R 40 TN 16797 - (368 2583T - 253
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
SZEHERER

V2

e

For the year ended 31 December 2010 & £2010F12A31H It F & /’
(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (JAZ 7Tat &) v/
2010 2009
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHET FHET
Operating activities MEER
Profit/(loss) before income tax expenses BRETSHE S ARSI, (E8)
From continuing operations REFELEETR 8,194 (32,940
From discontinued operations REBERIEEEER - 14,666
8,194 (18,274)
Adjustments for: FHEIFEE :
Depreciation of property, plant and Y% WERKETE
equipment 10,351 9,365
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments ME B IBE# E - 155
Amortisation of intangible assets R EEHH 323 122
Imputed interest on convertible note AR R 2 FEET I & 1,452 1,555
Imputed interest income on notes FEUW R 2 FERT
receivable AU A (1,444) -
Interest income AMEMKA (103) (198)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries & B A Bl e (72,798) (11,593)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BERLZEEHE
plant and equipment 3 -
Impairment loss on goodwill EESVERIEY R - 4,000
Loss on fair value adjustment EWERAFEREEE
on note receivable - 1,000
Gain on disposal of available-for-sales HERHEERE N
investments - (1,056)
Equity-settled share-based payment PR A & LA 5 4 2 2
expenses 19,200 -
Share of loss of a jointly controlled FE(E — R HE R TR
entity BB NAEE 2,658 5,522
Excess of Group’s share of net fair SEBEARSMEZAFEFE
value of the interests acquired over SREAKA 2 F5E
the cost of acquisition - (4,585)
Other receivables written off H A, 8 W 35K T8 L 8 465 =
Loss on redemption of convertible note B AR R IR E 1B 703 -
Operating loss before changes in BESSEHREEEE
working capital (30,996) (13,987)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FER LD, m) 446 (485)
Increase in other assets Hfh & E= 380 (116,656) -
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other FEUTAR SR~ E 8 Y RIE -
receivables, deposits and ®Be RFENRIEA ﬁ
prepayments (3gm) mD (50,324) 1,518 °
Increase/(decrease) in other payables Hih N FIB RBIRER ?
and accruals #hn, O ) 89,636 (2,391) w
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ERSE s ZE (1,439) (171) S|
Cash used in operations BEEBFRAZERS (109,333) (15,516) g
Tax paid O @ w18 ié
Income tax paid — B @& B 5 i IE- &
the Peoples’ Republic of China REE AR A E
(the “PRC”) (T E ) - (963) |
Net cash used in operating activities CELEBAZEEFE (109,333) (16,479) =




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

)%% EAEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2010 & £2010F 12831 B L E

N (Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (JA7 ot &)
4
2010 2009
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
B 5 FET FH T
Investing activities B’EEE
Payment for purchase of property, BAYE  BE
plant and equipment NETENEN (4,339) (3,723)
Payment for purchases of other assets EAEAMEERNK (105,802) -
Payment for purchases of intangible assets & A £ 2 & & i 3 (910) -
Payment for purchase of gas exploration B A XA R EIIE
and evaluation assets KEHEEEM R (22,906) —
Decrease in pledged deposits 2 #1717 ZOR - 1,186
Disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash HEKB AR - 0k
disposed of Frh &R & 37 (236) (15,760)
Acquisitions of subsidiaries, net of cash WHEEKWB AR - bk
acquired of it IR & 38 (275,318) (72,651)
Interest received B U B 103 37
Interest paid B E (534) -
Proceeds from sale of HEAHEERE
available-for-sale investments FT1S 3K 18 - 2,487
Net cash used in investing activities BEFHRAZREFE (409,942) (88,424)
Financing activities A& EE
Proceeds from convertible note issued BT RIRZB TS
IR 32 - 25,000
Redemption of convertible note HB [0 A] R e =4 32 (25,000) -
Proceeds from issuance BTRIRETE 1T
of warrants RIE 36(a)(ii) 7,250 —
Proceeds from exercising warrants 1T RAXNERE P15
HIA 36(a)(iii) 49,720 -
Proceeds from shares issued under R 2T
share option scheme f& 15 BT 1S 3R I8 36(a)(iv) 62,284 6,678
Issuance of shares BT D 36(a)(vi) 713,993 -
Payment for acquisition of additional W iE — KB A Al
equity interest in a subsidiary FEIMRAE R (289) -
§ Contribution from non-controlling interest 2R B FFIRAEEZS 2T & - 160
g (Repayment to)/advance from a PERRAR R 2
@ controlling owner GER) /#3& (52,818) 63,642
§ Advance from a non-controlling interest — R B AR IEE R
N of a subsidiary fe 2 B = 378
o
M Net cash generated from financing RIEEEEL
3 activities ZHREFE 755,140 95,858
o T e T T
® Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReERFEE&EFEY
§ cash equivalents (R iFE 235,865 (9,045)
% Cash and cash equivalents MW1A1BZHRER
o at 1 January REEEY 10,535 19,622
Q
= Effect of foreign exchange rate HeRBR&EEY
= changes on cash and cash Exgas e
g equivalents (3,871) (42)
5|0 Cash and cash equivalents ®12A318 ' BNIR&
at 31 December, representing REIBITTHBZERER
cash and bank balances HEZEY 29 242,529 10,535
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Notes to the Financial Statements ?
A 55 R R B &
(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA oAt &) }
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GENERAL

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability
in Bermuda on 2 November 1999 under the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda and its shares were listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 9
February 2000. The registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are located at Clarendon House,
2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and Suite 3707 -
3708, West Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught
Road Central, Hong Kong, respectively.

The Company acts as an investment holding company.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note
23(a).

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2010

—RE&EHE

REhRERBR AR ([RRAAF]) R
BEFEE NN\ —FRAIERI19994F
MMA2BEBREFMKLARBRE
R A&l HER ) MR2000F2A9R R &
BHERXGAERABER LT - AR
AlzaMPEERFEEEME D RIU
M Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, BermudaX &/ T & &
#1168-2005% 1= 7= & 0 78 A3707-3708

= o

ARBB—FRREZRAF  EMBLR
Al 2 E R R I E23() °

RMEEMBRERER(F

BB EREEL )
(a) RENHT EETEEMER
&£ %8| -2010FE1A1BAER

HKFRSs (Amendments)

BB M B EER (BRI AR)
Amendments to HKAS 39
BB ERAF395E (BFTA)
Amendments to HKFRS 2

BRI BREERIFE25 (BEFTR)

HKAS 27 (Revised)

BB G EAFE27H (KIEET)

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

7 B B 5 YR R B35 (BR1ERT)

HK(IFRIC) — Interpretation 17

5B (BERVMBEREREEZES)
—REETH

HK Interpretation 5

BB EESR

The adoption of the above new/revised HKFRSs had no
material effect on the reported results or financial position of
the Group for the current or prior reporting periods, except

for the following:

Improvements to HKFRSs
ERT B HmEER 2 U
Eligible Hedged Items
BEREHIER

Share-based Payment — Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment

Transactions
ABRMDEfM e RBE-SKBENURReEEZRONTRRXS
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
SRSV T e
Business Combinations
X0
Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

RMBEAADKIFRESEE

Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by Borrower of

a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
MBBRIERERANGEERERZEHER 2R

T&IRERIN

Ry LR REERMBREE
AMAEERKYBERETHEHC 2H
ZERBERYBRALBEBERTE - KL

— HEHREZERERDF 2010 F ]|

Ul
—
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2010 (Continued)

HKAS 27(Revised) - Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements

The revised standard applies prospectively for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009, requires the
effects of all transactions with non-controlling interests
(previously minority interests) to be recognised within equity
if there is no loss in control and these transactions will no
longer result in goodwill or gains and losses. The standard
also specifies the accounting when control is lost. Any
remaining interest in the entity is re-measured to fair value,
and a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. As the
Group had already adopted such approach in the past, the
revised standard has had no impact on the Group’s financial
statements for the current year.

HKFRS 3 (revised) - Business Combinations

The revised standard introduces significant changes in the
accounting for business combinations occurring after 1
July 2009. Changes affect the valuation of non-controlling
interests, the accounting for transaction costs, the initial
recognition and subsequent measurement of a contingent
consideration and business combination achieved in stages.
These changes impact the amount of goodwill recognised,
the reported results in the period that at an acquisition
occurs and future results. The Group applied HKFRS 3
(revised) prospectively to the business combinations from 1
January 2010 and the adoption of the revised standard has
had no impact to the financial statement as there has been
no business combination transaction during the year.

HKAS 17 (Amendment) — Leases

The amendment to HKAS 17 made under “Improvements
to HKFRSs 2009”, mandatory for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2010, removes the specific
guidance which stated that land held under a lease should
be classified as an operating lease unless title to the
land is expected to pass at the end of the lease term. It
provides new guidance which indicates that entity should
use judgment to decide whether the lease transfers the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the land
in accordance with the criteria set out in HKAS 17. The
Group has reassessed the classification of land elements of
unexpired leases at the date it adopts the amendments on
the basis of information existing at the inception of the lease
and concluded that the classification of such land leases as
operating leases continues to be appropriate.

RMEEMBREER (&)

(a) IREPHET EIETEEUBR
&£ %8| -2010FE1A1 B AR

(48)
FE G ERE275% (FE3]) - &
ERBIMBRER

Z ST ZE Rl 1E 12 FE A 20094F7 A1 H
N2 EFAIRZFEEE AR E M &K
ERFERR G TBEEEENEER -
Bl Fr A B2 IF 70 A% 4 25 (A 7R A SRR 3R 4R
W) BETZRITEBEREZANER -
ZERI AT BR Ok B fll iR 2 & 5 R o
REBAZEMNFESRERZAFLEEN
AR OMABNRBRERNER - AR
AREBBECHEBUL AL A EIERT
HEAUABHAEEARAFE 2 M B RRILES
&2 o

EHEM R EER 355 (FE:T) -
e

S FT 2 B 7200947 A1 B & 3 &
CEBAHZSHREEEREAES -
REBHTEFTERESZHE RF
RAZEEE BRERD ZER
BERZEBAHZNTERRE R
= ZEEHTECHRADESE  #
TREPHZEESREERRRES -
AREEB2010F1 1B B H XK S e
BEBY SRS LR L35 (KB
MARAFETEETEREHRS
MRS RT 2E RIS B A R R WA 2 2L o

FEEERE17R (85]4) -HE

R I% [ 20094 & 7 B 7% 3R 5 45 Bl 2 B |
HEE ST EAFE179R 2 & 5] 12010
F1A1HRZ B AR 2 2T B8 & A
o Bk THREREAEREE 2 i
BORAKERE (MfF 788 L i a
R R EERIN) 2G|
ERETE ~NFiES|  FIBEEAER
HETLURERERS S RIEEE T ER
FATHRE c EEEEIHIERE R
AXDEBEER - NEEERERE
RIEREFEZER  BEFFERER
BB ERRMAERZ LHHBEE 25
B THEESZSTHHEE I BARE
HAEMBBE -
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)
(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued

but are not yet effective

g

>
V
»

RMEEMBREER ()

(b) EHEMEMKERZHT @

ETEEMBREER

B

=)
V2

The following new or revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant to
the Group’s financial statements, have been issued but are
not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the

Group.

HKFRSs (Amendments)
ERVBREER (BFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 32
BB G ERFEI25E (BRI A)
Amendments to HK(IFRIC)
— Interpretation 14
ER (BRMKHREREZESR)
—R2EE145 (BRI A)
HK(IFRIC) — Interpretation 19
EE(ARVBHREREZER)
—REFE19%
HKAS 24 (Revised)
BB G ERF245 (BT
Amendments to HKFRS 7
BBV B HmEENETR BTA)
Amendments to HKAS 12
BB ERF1258 (BFTA)
HKFRS 9
EREUBIMEERIFER

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 1

7

Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 2%
2010F &% U 15 i &5 X Bl 2 BugEe™
Classification of Rights Issues'

ik 2 o !

Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement®

REE S ERKZ B FIES

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments?

AR T B H 75 & (B2

Related Party Disclosures®

BB A TR ERS

Disclosure — Transfers of Financial Assets*
BRE-—EENBEE

Deferred Tax — Recovery of Underlying Assets®
iR ST A T8 — Yo [0 4 A & S

Financial Instruments®

Bp 75 T HS

RS B3 AR AT ER 4% T 51 2 28 4 B R
M A BT BB B RE LR -
1878 [BA 2 I 7] A B2 AN 6% [ 2 Bt 755 i 5k A

R2010F2A1E ARk 2 & 2 FEH

2010 fE 3

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010 2 R2010F7A1HHAA 28 2 FEH
A £

9 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 3 R2011F1 1B RGBSk 2B 2 FEH
2011 il & &K

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011 4 K201 FE7A1BAAs 2 & 2 FEH
AR

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 5 R2012F1 A1H A 2B 2 FEH
2012 fE A3

® Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 6 R2013F1 1Bk 2B 2 FEH
2013 il & &K

-

D— s EARRERAERA T » 2010 £ §
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

HKAS 24 (Revised) clarifies and simplifies the definition of

related parties. It also provides for a partial exemption of

related party disclosure to government-related entities for

transactions with the same government or entities that are

controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by the

same government.

The disclosure exemptions introduced in HKAS 24
(Revised) do not affect the Group because the Group is
not a government-related entity. However, disclosures
regarding related party transactions and balances in these
consolidated financial statements may be affected when
the revised version of the standard is applied in future
accounting periods because some counterparties that did
not previously meet the definition of a related party may
come within the scope of the standard.

Under HKFRS 9, financial assets are classified into
financial assets measured at fair value or at amortised cost
depending on the entity’s business model for managing the
financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics
of the financial assets. Fair value gains or losses will be
recognised in profit or loss except for those non-trade
equity investments, which the entity will have a choice to
recognise the gains and losses in other comprehensive
income. HKFRS 9 carries forward the recognition and
measurement requirements for financial liabilities from HKAS
39, except for financial liabilities that are designated at fair
value through profit or loss, where the amount of change
in fair value attributable to change in credit risk of that
liability is recognised in other comprehensive income unless
that would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch. In
addition, HKFRS 9 retains the requirements in HKAS 39 for
derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities

RMEEMBREER (&)

(b) ESRME R KEHRZHETE
ETEEMBREE (&)
TR G ERIF245 (BER]) BB R
EREM AL 2 E X - ZERITRAT A A
HFHAERER —BRAXE R —BA
PRiE®l - KAZEGRREAFECERE
IR5 » QIR R D FA R REME A LR -

HRASETFRFHEER  HE
B ERTERIE245 (BIER]) oI AZE
BHRAURTZERNEE - AT H%E
A2 BEFTRAR KRG HAEER -
AESRAVBRRTBABARALR
GREHRZBEAREXITE  RE
ERBAOURENTERBALER Y
FTHREEERAZEAZHE -

REBFBVHERE LR ESE  MHEE
ERRAFEXBHEAATE BTE
BEEMBEEZFGRARMBEE
ZAMBASREFENE - A FERER
BEERRERRAER HEHEEFEER
AEBERI BERADEENEME2E K
MR B o BB MK WS &R ER
AR TEABGHEAEIFHYBAR
ZHERANGERTE  ERENBRKR
AFEFEZHHBEAERIN EERAE
ZEERREYMELZAFEEDS
BMIOREmEmEaiER  RIFLES
SIMHBEAEFAER - I BEWHK
WEERFRRE BB G LR F39
FRRULERMGEERYFAEB AR

FE °
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. RAIFEMBHREED (8)
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)
(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued (b) EHEMEREKREZRZHT &
but are not yet effective (Continued) B EHMEREEEL (F)
The directors anticipate that HKFRS 9 that will be adopted EETE BV B REERFOHRB
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the EAREBER2013F1 S1BEFE 2 FEH
annual period beginning 1 January 2013 and that the M2 4R 6 M ISR ER AN - SRR A4 B Al
application of the new standard may have a significant EEHAEENGEERVBERZLE
impact on amounts reported in respect of the Group’s HeFEERBEAZE - R ERKEE
financial assets and financial liabilities. However, it is not Mt 2 A1 TRlEMZ T BRI A
practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of that effect fHat e
until a detailed review has been completed.
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the ANEBEIFFHEMHI REESEH
potential impact of other new and revised HKFRSs and the IR ELER 7 BEZE  MESZS
directors so far concluded that the application of the other 2B N EMEE] RE(ES]EH S
new and revised HKFRSs will have no material impact on MELEA TS HAER 2 2B KT BN
the results and the financial position of the Group. MK ERNTE o
BASIS OF PREPARATION 3. MHEHX

a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “HKFRSs”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited.

b) Basis of measurement and going concern
assumption

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared

under the historical cost convention as modified by the

inclusion of certain financial instruments at fair value.

The Group had operating cash outflows of HK$109,333,000
for the year ended 31 December 2010. As at that date,
the Group’s current liabilities exceeded current assets by
HK$207,122,000. These conditions indicate the existence
of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The
Group’s ability to do so will depend on management’s
continuing efforts to improve the Group’s profitability and
operating cash flows and extending the payment period of
payable.

a) BHEBEH
TIRAMBRRDIZBESMBERA 2
BEEMBHREER BESHENTE
BEFER]) RRE(ATHABEIHEAH
B EED]) REB QKA 2 3 FE R
EmE o i KEREUBHRERNFTE
ERBBERZHEBRAAFES EmRA
ZEABEBERTE

b) HEEERFHEESRR

ARAHBRRDRAEETRATE
5B 2 B 75 T B4 B 1 2 F 52 B AN 18 4
R -

REBHE2010F12A31H IEFEZ &
218 4 At A109,333,0008 7L - R E
H AEBEzRBERBREERDEE
207,122,000 T - ZZE B ABRAEE
GHEERTHARZ  gHAEER
BREZRRNBREARNRER - ANEEZ
BEKEENHIRANEEEEGEE
BNRARNEE ZENE DT RELE
RERE » URERENRIBZ(IHE -

N— HEEFRERERAE e 2010 F #
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
b) Basis of measurement and going concern
assumption (Continued)
Subsequent to the end of reporting period, the Group has
successfully obtained confirmation of the vendor of Power
Great Limited as set out in the note 38(a) that the Group
can defer the settlement of the remaining consideration of
HK$300,000,000 included in "other payables and accruals"
as set out in note 30(i) due to them to early 2012. In
addition, Orion Energy International Inc. ("OEl"), a subsidiary
of the Group, has obtained a letter of financial support from
a contractor company of OEl, a shareholder of which is also
a non-controlling shareholder of the Company, confirming
that it will not request for payment of the exploration costs
payable of approximately HK$256,000,000 included in
"other payables and accruals" as set out in note 30(ii), until
OEl has the necessary working capital to do so. Three
major shareholders of the Company have provided letters
of financial support respectively to the Group undertaking
to provide continuous financial support to the Group in the
next twelve months.

As a result of the financial support the Group has obtained
and after taking into account the Group's cash flow
projection for the coming year, the directors are confident
that the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet
its liabilities as they fall due in the next twelve months from
the end of the reporting period. Accordingly, the directors
are of the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare these
consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis. These consolidated financial statements do not
include any adjustments relating to the carrying amount
and reclassification of assets and liabilities that might be
necessary should the Group be unable to continue as a
going concern.

c) Functional and presentational currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HKD"), which is also the functional currency
of the Company.

WREER)
b) HEZERBACEER (R

NGRS B R A 1R 0 IR 5E38(a)FT
BHOASBEEXNERBRERRA A
ZERZER  AKEELER MG
ATEMERRERERERIEGE
7 2 % T X {8300,000,0007% JT 40 Bff &
S0()FTE ENE 5 2 &7 .2 iR £2012
FHoih NEBZHBARRIER
ERERBRAR ([Rif%]) B ERim
ZZ—RAEABRA (EREMALRA A
ZIEERBRR) BRI B R - BR
FRIERZRAGEUEZEEESHRZ
Al ZABRAATEERZ AN AR
30(iFreEk [ b FERTRIERTER B A4
256,000,000/ 7T 2 E T IR A AR © AR
RIZREERRINE D BIAAEE
WIS K AFHEERR T @B AR
HERMASERET B o

%0 A S E (S BT T S 45 RAE S AR
BYRERSREZENT  EFAE
DAREBAERNEEASEAER
& B A BRI+ — B A 2 BB 1A -
R EERA RBRECEZLERE
UAGAMBRENBEY - AEAH
B8R 2T 015 A B AR
BoEMESEENREENAESER
SE 2 EMBERE -

c) VDHREREH
AEERERBCWBRRAZER - 5
RAZEBREXTMEZEERHER
BZERHE AREMBHRRIINAE
pEE (BT (FAARRZHER
)2 -
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a) Business combination and basis of
consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group"). Inter-company transactions and balances
between group companies together with unrealised profits
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of impairment on the asset
transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income from the effective dates of
acquisition or up to the effective dates of disposal, as
appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with those used by other members of the
Group.

Business combination from 1 January 2010

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for
using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is
measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value
of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and equity interests
issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed are principally measured
at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured at
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains or losses
are recognised in profit or loss. The Group may elect, on
a transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure the non-
controlling interest either at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-
related costs incurred are expensed.

4. FEEBR

a) EBEHREGEEE

REMBHRREBARARENE R T
(IREE]) 2HBHmE - FEAREHE
2R 5 R AERE R R B 3R ) A 19 R fm B
REMBHRREZHEE KRERER
TTAEHE BRIEFRARZBREEE
BEMBERE HIHBERT  BERE
=R TER ©

REREBREEZHMBAR ZXE4E
TRKBERBEHERKBELELERA
HiE(MEZ)IAFaEZHKER &
2 MEBRRZHMBERERAGTHEN
FHEHRREREEELMK B QR T
ERE—H-

B2010F 112 EBA

W B B B A R Sk TSR A U AR ABR o
WHEKATDRMEREE FELAE
RAEE (EAWIE ) BT 2 RERIK
BERB AT ERBETE - FTE H
AMEERFEAEBGAZZREEER
ZRAFEE - AEB LA UE
HZBEAREBERAFEHTE M
FTEE & 2 Wax sk B 18 AU B 2 BR M HERR o
AEEARERRZEEUAFESK
WHER 2Rl EEFEEBGLOGE
FEVE R M ZS o FTEE 4 2 W B AR RA K A7)
ER X o

V— hEARERERAE » 2010 £ §
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

a) Business combination and basis of
consolidation (Continued)

Business combination from 1 January 2010 (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the

acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair value.

Subsequent adjustments to consideration are recognised

against goodwill only to the extent that they arise from

new information obtained within the measurement period

(@ maximum of 12 months from the acquisition date) about

the fair value at the acquisition date. All other subsequent

adjustments to contingent consideration classified as an

asset or a liability are recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest
and the non-controlling interest are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and
(i) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are
accounted for in the same manner as would be required if
the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-
controlling interest is the amount of those interests at initial
recognition plus the non-controlling interest’s share of
subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income
is attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results in
the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (JA ot &)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

a) Business combination and basis of
consolidation (Continued)

Business combination prior to 1 January 2010

On acquisition, the assets and liabilities of the relevant

subsidiaries are measured at their fair values at the date of

acquisition. The interest of minority shareholders is stated at

the minority’s proportion of the fair values of the assets and

liabilities recognised.

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the
issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group incurred in
connected with business combinations were capitalised as
part of the cost of the acquisition.

Where losses applicable to the minority exceed the
minority’s interest in the equity of a subsidiary, the excess,
and any further losses applicable to the minority, are
charged against the Group’s interest except to the extent
that the minority has a binding obligation to, and is able
to, make additional investment to cover the losses. If
the subsidiary subsequently reports profits, the Group’s
interest is allocated all such profits until the minority’s
share of losses previously absorbed by the Group has been
recovered.

The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with
minority interests as transactions with parties external to
the Group. Disposals to minority interests result in gains
and losses for the Group are recognised profit or loss.
Purchases from minority interests result in goodwill, being
the difference between any consideration paid and the
relevant share acquired of the carrying amount of net assets
of the subsidiary.

b) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity over which the Company is able to
exercise control. Control is achieved where the Company,
directly or indirectly, has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits
from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting
rights that presently are exercisable are taken into account.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

FEEFBR (&)

a) EBEHRESEEE)

20101 H1H B2 ZEE G

IR - HEANBARIZEERBER
WERBZ ATEE - PEREER
Al BB R EEREERBEAT
B2 BI5 R ©

AEBEXHEHPTELEZXHRA (R
BITEFAMAZ S A @ 2 AN
BEEMMEAWIBRA 2 —& D -

WA BBRREGEBEBLEMGHEB L
Al Z AR A EZE R D BARE
s 2B — T BRI B AN R EE
s EMDBRRBEAERORS
ZEE - YBENEHEBEIREBHE
BZBRANERSN o ff fY BB A B E 1R 8215
wmA AIASEESEEDEMERT
wA O EEREAREERRAEZ DH
BREHERABL -

AEBEZBRABBEIBBERETZIXN
DEBERNEEAIIATETZIRS -
AEERIBBRRAEHERELERE
TR BmAER RALBEREEELE
B2 - B AT AE ] (KB B {5 P8 A
BB AREERMFECRNESE -

b) MEBAT

BB A s A D Tl AL B 1T R R
B MNARAR EERME AR —
RERUBRELHE YEHRE
SEBHEEHMES - BIAA R B AR -
FER BRI ERE - D ZEBRBATEZ

BERERE -

EARRB M BARRERF  RHERQ T
ZREZEBRAMBRRERBRE (ME) 5
fR-MBARZEEREREERERS
HARAAR -

DS— HEERERERDE ¢ 2010 F #



\
4

\

l---'} Notes to the Financial Statements

)

%

¥ 28

R

S — parwi sbuipjoH seD pue 10 ouls « 0107 Moday [enuuy

A% %5 8k 3R Mt 5

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (JA ot &)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

c) Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being the excess of
the aggregate of consideration transferred and the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests over the fair value
of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
acquired.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities exceed the fair value of consideration
paid, the excess is recognised in profit or loss on the
acquisition date, after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from
an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating unit to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, and whenever there is an indication that the unit
may be impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that financial year.
When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment
loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the other
assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying
amount to each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for
goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

d) Joint Venture

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the
Group and other parties undertake an economic activity
which is subject to joint control and none of the participating
parties has unilateral control over the economic activity.

Jointly controlled entities

Jointly controlled entities are accounted for using equity
method whereby they are initially recognised at cost and
thereafter, their carrying amounts are adjusted for the
Group’s share of the post-acquisition change in the jointly
controlled entities’ net assets except that losses in excess
of the Group’s interest in the jointly controlled entities are
not recognised unless there is an obligation to make good
those losses.

FEEFBR (&)

c) B/E

BV EKATER  BMEERER
BB R 2 IEE RS S 588 AT
BrAhpEE  BERNIEEEATE
ZEHE o

HAHRHEE BERIBEABEZIAYF
EBHENREBZRFE  RIEHAD
REBENEBEANEEERAER -

B AR DR BB R ET & o 3R
EARMS AREBMELZEED R
= AR TR HI X 0 W P 7 2R 15 (R Ak a8
ZERBECELBU -BOoKBEZES
ELENBFREBERPRBRENA
BE IR BERETTRERIF

PRE - BRFRETREELE ZAHE
mME BoERBLREELBEMEN
A RFEE RS AETRER R - i
ReELBMZ RO SBERZEM
ZERmEE AIXAKEELEDERER
BLORD DR TR EM 2 EMHE K
HE BREZBEMNZBEEZRE
BREGIOPEEZEMN I EMEE - &
BZEMREBERBSEAER B
TEEHRBMELD -

d HEAT
ARNFEAEEREMEHTELR
THITHETRBEED 2 ANRH &%
BHTRETHEE S LD EBE
@Jo

HAEEEE R A]
KRZEESERABEBEDEIER 1)
FIAATER  WREREERAEE
BEXFAZEREEARWNERZEEF
EEPELRAE  HEBEAREMAERL
REEEENRRE CBET TER -
BRIEBREMEZFERABRI



Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 55 3R R B 5E

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (JA ot &)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

d) Joint Venture (Continued)

Jointly controlled entities (Continued)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its jointly controlled entities are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the jointly
controlled entities, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which
case they are immediately recognised in profit or loss.

The Company’s interests in jointly controlled entities are
stated at cost less impairment losses, if any. Results of
jointly controlled entities are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

Accounting for production sharing contracts

Production sharing contracts constitute jointly controlled
operations. The Group’s interests in production sharing
contracts are accounted for in the financial statements on
the following bases:

(i)  the assets that the Group controls and the liabilities
that the Group incurs; and

(i)  the expenses that the Group shares and the Group’s
share of the income from production according to the
terms of the contracts.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

e) Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

- buildings held for own use which are situated on
leasehold land, where the fair value of the buildings
could be measured separately from the fair value of
the leasehold land at the inception of the lease; and

— other items of plant and equipment.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are recognised as an expense in
profit or loss during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

Expenditure on the construction, installation or completion
of infrastructure facilities such as platforms, pipelines and
the drilling of development wells is capitalised as oil and gas
properties under property, plant and equipment.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or
loss on the date of retirement or disposal.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

e) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at each
reporting date, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

= Buildings held for own used situated on leasehold land
are depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired term
of the lease and their estimated useful lives of not
more than 50 years after the date of completion.

— Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the
shorter of their estimated useful lives or the lease term.

= Refilling stations 10 years
- QOil and gas properties 10 — 14 years
- Furniture, fixtures and office

equipment 5 -7 years
- Motor vehicles 5 - 8 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and
its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

f) Intangible assets
Oil exploitation rights and operation rights

Oil exploitation rights and operation rights are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment
losses and are amortised on the units of production method
utilising only proven and probable oil reserves in the
depletion base.

Intangible assets of the oil exploitation rights and operation
rights are tested for impairment when there is an indication
that an asset may be impaired (see the accounting policies
in respect of impairment of other assets set out in note

4(p))-

Motor vehicle registration license

Motor vehicle registration licenses with indefinite useful
lives acquired are carried at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

f) Intangible assets (Continued)

Motor vehicle registration license (Continued)

The Group tested impairment for the indefinite useful lives
motor vehicle licenses annually by comparing its carrying
amounts with its recoverable amounts, irrespective of
whether there is any indication that it may be impaired.
If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised as an expense immediately, but when
an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount to the extent that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years.

g) Gas exploration and evaluation assets
Exploration and evaluation costs are initially capitalised.
Such exploration and evaluation costs may include costs
of licenses acquisition, technical services and studies,
seismic acquisition, exploration drilling and testing, but do
not include costs incurred prior to having obtained the legal
rights to explore an area, which are expensed directly to
profit or loss as they are incurred.

Tangible assets acquired for use in exploration and
evaluation activities are classified as property, plant and
equipment. However, to the extent that such tangible assets
are consumed in developing an intangible exploration and
evaluation assets, the amount reflecting the consumption is
recorded as part of the cost of the intangible assets.

Intangible exploration and evaluation assets related to
each exploration license/prospect are not depreciated and
are carried forward until the existence (or otherwise) of
commercial reserves has been determined. The Group’s
definition of commercial reserves for this purpose is proven
and probable reserves on an entitlement basis including
obtaining approval from the relevant PRC authorities in
respect of the “overall development program” related to
each license/prospect.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
g) Gas exploration and evaluation assets
(Continued)
If commercial reserves have been discovered, the related
exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for
impairment as set out below and any impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss. The carrying value, after any
impairment loss, of the relevant exploration and evaluation
assets is then reclassified as development and production
assets within property, plant and equipment.

Intangible exploration and evaluation assets that relate to
exploration and evaluation activities that have resulted in
the discovery of commercial reserves remain capitalised
as intangible exploration and evaluation assets at cost less
accumulated amortisation, subject to meeting impairment
test. Such exploration and evaluation assets are amortised
on a unit of production basis. Exploration and evaluation
assets are assessed for impairment when facts and
circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may
exceed its recoverable amount. Such indicators include
the point at which a determination is made as to whether
or not commercial reserves exist. Where the exploration
and evaluation assets concerned fall within the scope of an
established full cost, the exploration and evaluation assets
are tested for impairment together with all development
and production assets associated with that cost, as a
single cash generating unit. The aggregate carrying value
is compared against the expected recoverable amount,
generally by reference to the present value of the future
net cash flows expected to be derived from production of
commercial reserves. Where the exploration and evaluation
assets to be tested fall outside the scope of any established
cost, there will generally be no commercial reserves and the
exploration and evaluation assets concerned will generally
be written off in full.

Any impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss as
additional depreciation and separately disclosed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

h) Leases

(i) Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by Group under leases which transfer
to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are classified as being held under finance leases.
Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the Group are classified as
operating leases.

(i) Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases are
charged to profit or loss in equal installments over the
accounting periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more representative of the
pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset.
Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease
is amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease term.

i) Financial instruments

(i) Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets at initial recognition,
depending on the purpose for which the asset was
acquired. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are initially measured at fair value and all other financial
assets are initially measured at fair value plus transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial assets. Regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. A regular way purchase or sale is a purchase or sale
of a financial asset under a contract whose terms require
delivery of the asset within the time frame established
generally by regulation or convention in the marketplace
concerned.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

i)  Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

These assets are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. They arise principally through the provision
of goods and services to customers (trade debtors), and
also incorporate other types of contractual monetary
asset. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
identified impairment losses.

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group assesses, at the end of each reporting period,
whether there is any objective evidence that financial asset
is impaired. Financial asset is impaired if there is objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events
that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset
and that event has an impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include:

o significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments;

° granting concession to a debtor because of debtor’s
financial difficulty;

° it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

For loans and receivables

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when
there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. The
carrying amount of financial asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account. When any part of financial
asset is determined as uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account for the relevant financial asset.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

i) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

For loans and receivables (Continued)

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods
when an increase in the asset’s recoverable amount can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, subject to a restriction that the carrying
amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been
had the impairment not been recognised.

(iii)  Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on
the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred. Financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially
measured at fair value and financial liabilities at amortised
costs are initially measured at fair value, net of directly
attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade and
other payables, borrowings, the debt element of convertible
debt issued by the Group are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The
related interest expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.

(iv) Convertible note containing liability and equity
components

Convertible note issued by the Group that contain both the
liability and conversion option components are classified
separately into their respective items on initial recognition.
Conversion option that will be settled by the exchange
of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a
fixed number of the Company’s own equity instruments is
classified as an equity instrument.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, FTESFBR (&)
(Continued)
i)  Financial instruments (Continued) i) HEAIR(E)
(iv) Convertible note containing liability and equity (iv) BEEERERSTZAERERER
components (Continued) (%)

NP ERE > BEHD 2 A FEZRR
FABRBRERZRITMSANEREE - %
TARBERZAEFRAEREAREH
PZAFEZERAFKEABRRR LR
RS HRHE) St AR 2 A B
SitEmEeE -

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component
is determined using the prevailing market interest of similar
non-convertible debts. The difference between the proceeds
of the issue of the convertible loan notes and the fair
value assigned to the liability component, representing the
conversion option for the holder to convert the loan notes
into equity, is included in equity (convertible note equity
reserve).

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the REZHEE ATBRREE BB D E
convertible note is carried at amortised cost using AERF R SRR ANSBR o ez B0
S (ANBEEEIMS AR BARRREBER
ZEERB)RBNIMRREBRESFEE
BEEMWEERETRERL  ERATHR
REBRSHEEHEZ EARABEEERNGE
B mERERIBBMARITE  AIF
BREBERRFE I AREERERE
BF B8 - BEREL R R
NE R M EE -

the effective interest method. The equity component,
represented by the option to convert the liability component
into ordinary shares of the Company, will remain in
convertible note equity reserve until the embedded option is
exercised (in which case the balance stated in convertible
note equity reserve will be transferred to share premium).
Where the option remains unexercised at the expiry dates,
the balance stated in convertible note equity reserve will be
released to retained earnings/accumulated losses. No gain
or loss is recognised upon conversion or expiration of the

option.

(v)  Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income or interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or
payments through the expected life of the financial asset or

liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

vi)  Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at

the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

i)  Financial instruments (Continued)

(vi)  Equity instruments (Continued)

Warrants issued by the Company that will be settled by a
fixed amount of cash for fixed number of the Company’s
own equity instruments are equity (warrant reserve). The
warrant reserve will be transferred to the share capital and
share premium accounts upon the exercise of the warrants.
When the warrants are still not yet exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in warrant reserve
will be transferred to retain earnings/accumulated losses.

(vii)  Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to
the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for
derecognition in accordance with HKAS 39.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires.

j)  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
deposits held at call with banks, and other short-term highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.

k) Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and subsequently
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. Cost of the crude oil and natural gas is
calculated using the weighted average cost method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

) Provisions and contingent liabilities

(i) Provisions

General

Provision are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated
to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount
of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (JA7 7ot &)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
) Provisions and contingent liabilities
(Continued)
(i) Provisions (Continued)
Decommissioning liability
Decommissioning liability is recognised when the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events, and it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a
reliable estimate of the amount of obligation can be made.
A corresponding amount equivalent to the provision is also
recognised as part of the cost of the related property, plant
and equipment. The amount recognised is the estimated
cost of decommissioning, discounted to its present value.
Changes in the estimated timing of decommissioning or
decommissioning cost estimates are dealt with prospectively
by recording an adjustment to the provision, and a
corresponding adjustment to property, plant and equipment.
The unwinding of the discount on the decommissioning
provision is included as a finance cost.

(i) Contingent liability

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the
Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past
events that is not recognised because it is not probable
that outflow of economic resources will be required or the
amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the
financial statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that the outflow is probable, it will then
be recognised as a provision.

m) Income tax
Income tax expense represents current tax and deferred
tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

m) Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except for
goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred tax liabilities
are recognised for all temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is
measured at the tax rates expected to apply in the period
when the liability is settled or the asset is realised based on
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates
and jointly controlled entities, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items directly recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are also
directly recognised in other comprehensive income.

n) Foreign currencies

Transactions entered into by group entities in currencies
other than the currency of the primary economic
environment in which it operates (the "functional currency")
are recorded at the rates ruling when the transactions
occur. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities
are translated at the rates ruling at the end of reporting
period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms

of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (JA7 7ot &)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

n) Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation
of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included
in profit or loss for the period except for differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in
respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly
in other comprehensive income, in which case, the
exchange differences are also recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the average
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the rates
approximating to those ruling when the transactions took
place are used. All assets and liabilities of foreign operations
are translated at the rate ruling at the end of reporting
period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
as foreign exchange reserve (attributed to minority interests
as appropriate). Exchange differences recognised in profit
or loss of group entities' separate financial statements on
the translation of long-term monetary items forming part
of the Group’s net investment in the foreign operation
concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative exchange
differences recognised in the exchange reserve relating to
that operation up to the date of disposal are reclassified to
profit or loss as part of the profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation
on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and
liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the
rate of exchange prevailing at the end of reporting period.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in the exchange
reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

o) Employees’ benefits

i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions

to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of

non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the

associated services are rendered by employees. Where

payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be

material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

i) Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-
settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest. At
the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to
vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss over the remaining
vesting period, with a corresponding adjustment to the
share option reserve.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with
other parties are measured at the fair value of the goods
or services received, except where the fair value cannot be
estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the
fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at
the date the Group obtains the goods or the counterparty
renders the service.

For cash-settled share-based payments, a liability equal to
the portion of the goods or services received is recognised
at the current fair value determined at the end of each
reporting period.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, EEHFBUR(8)
(Continued)
o) Employees’ benefits (Continued) o) EE®wHF(E)
i) Retirement benefits scheme i) RKEFEE)
The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory AREEREBERSIEATESETEIED - B
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “Scheme”) HEBMBREER Y TREMETBREMEA
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance BeBRKRBERMTE ([ZaTE11) o HERTy
for all of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are NEEZEARFHFS BN LIEL - WRE
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic ZEt 2l 2R AR EMEERRE AR -
salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become ZEE 2 BEITFRRN—EBIERE 2
payable in accordance with the rules of the Scheme. The EeN HEAEEZ2EESHSE - &
assets of the Scheme are held separately from those of the AREBRMZ:T2HAE  EEFETS
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s ZEHEREEHERK-

contributions as employer vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the Scheme.

The Group has joined a mandatory central pension AREBEAETEEZNEHTERFE
scheme organised by the PRC government for certain of BrzaflErRRERSETE - FEEE
its employees, the assets of which are held separately HAREBEESHASE HARDUEE
from those of the Group. Contributions made are based BEEZHSEDHEL - WIREFE
on a percentage of the eligible employees’ salaries and ZHBINEMNBEEBREANR - EX
are charged to profit or loss as they became payable, in HENELERENE2HEEREE -

accordance with the rules of the scheme. The employer’s
contributions vest fully once they are made.

p) Impairment of other assets p) HtEEZRE
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews REERES PERERE AEEEFT
the carrying amounts of the following assets to determine JEEZEEE  HEZE A TMH
whether there is any indication that those assets have SBERNZEEERIRREEIE - skl
suffered an impairment loss or an impairment loss previously BRZBEBED TNMETFEKE B TR
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased: A
> o property, plant and equipment under cost model; o AR TN ZWE - BE RRE
=
c
:,—i e oil exploitation rights and operation rights . AR AR ER
[0}
el
o
2 ° interests in leasehold land held for own use under ° REEHRETHIEERZHAE i
3 operating lease; and 2w &
i ° investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entity ° RHBARIRERERSEE AR Z
= wE
2
§ If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair value WEEzKE R (AFERES
3 less costs to sell and value in use) of an asset is estimated Az ZBXFERAEBEEZRSE) BT
§" to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount BEREEEE IEEZEBRESHAK
- of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An ZEEAKESE - BERBENFEREA
?,- impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately, B MM EBEEERES —EBE B
g unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount B EERAEHEEYE  BEES
7|6 under another HKFRS, in which case the impairment loss is BREZERBMEREERRIEER

treated as a revaluation decrease under that HKFRS. BERLER -
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
p) Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at
a revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which case the
reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation

increase under that other HKFRS.

q) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
require a substantial period of time to be ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets, until such time as the assets, are substantially

ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in

the period in which they are incurred.

r) Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s
business, the operations and cash flows of which can be
clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which
represents a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is part of a single co-ordinated plan to
dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively

with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon
disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be
classified as held for sale, if earlier. It also occurs when the

operation is abandoned.

FEEFBR (&)

p) HMEEZEEGE)

Rk EEEERER  AIEEZKRAE
EMEELEF 2EEARE S5 -
gz REENTBaMEERBR
FREVERRBEBEMNREET 2K
EE - RMEEEEENEERSWA -
HWBEBEERES —BRESHBRE
ERIASEH YR - AR ESIERD
RIRZIBEH M BB B WmE ERRIES
EHEEMNEE -

q fBERE
FEMRERBHES A UARAREREX
HEZAREREEEBA  BRULE
BREPEESIBZEERE HERE
AERREEEZMOMAE  BEEZT
BEABEAERRERGNKIHE

FEEMEERAGRELHBRER
BRATER

r) EBRIEGEER

EREREEBRASEEBL —& 5
HEERBSnE AEEREEA
MEBRD BERIELCEEBFREX—IB
REBRIKEHRE D 2 BT EEER -
SERNE —HEREBILEHEE 5
CEBNEEER B —HETE
DB A KA A mUEE B

NI

HEBRHEXNTEIN BFIELERE
ZENAREERE)  RAIDBRER
IR - BB EBKR - BEEB T
ENHERORIERERT -
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

r) Discontinued operations (Continued)

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single
amount is presented on the face of the statement of
comprehensive income, which comprises:

- the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued
operation; and

- the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the
measurement to fair value less costs to sell, or on the
disposal, of the assets or disposal group(s) constituting
the discontinued operation.

s) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances and
excluded value added tax or other sales related taxes.

(i) Sale of crude oil

Revenue is recognised when crude oil is delivered at the
customers’ premises which is taken to be the point in time
when the customer has accepted the crude oil delivered
and the related risks and rewards of ownership.

(i) Sale of natural gas

Revenue from sale of natural gas from the continuing
operation is recognised when the natural gas is siphoned
to the customers’ tankers which is taken to be the point
in time when the customer has accepted the natural gas
delivered and the related risks and rewards of ownership.

Revenue from sale of liquefied petroleum gas (“LPG”)
and natural gas in refilling stations from the discontinued
operation is recognised upon completion of the gas filling
transactions.

(iii)  Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time-apportioned basis by
reference to the principal outstanding using the effective
interest method.

FEEFBR (&)

r) ERIEESERE)
HWEBHPBERERLELS  Al2E K
KLY E—HHE ETES:

- EBRUEREXRBZBRBREREBZ R

- BERERLRERBZEEXN
EHRAFERTERHEER ARG
HHERAFEZE  ERZER
Bife W sk g8 -

s) Mo EERE
WATIAB WK ERREZ A FERE -
WACHBEHATFPRE EHNEREME
PURBEE 3R N BB ERE
it 55 & Bt

() HERH
BWAERMEEEFPYWER (IRAR
FPglexERnhEEBEAER A
% J B 3R ) TR o

(i) HEXAR
KEFBREXRB I RARBEERALE
AARBAERP ZHMEE (IR AR
FrERBEXRERARLEREERBL
[\ B Bz 1o ¥R s ) BERR o

KEDRIERERD 2 iR Am
R(HRIEABER]) RRARBEERAT)
RR S 5 AR FERR

(i) FLEHA
FMEBRARAEELASEFEAETRF X
SRIR B L5 B R 5T o
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TURNOVER

The principal activities of the Group are operation of (i)
exploitation and sale of crude oil and natural gas and
(i) exploration, development and production of coalbed
methane. Since the operation of exploration, development
and production of coalbed methane is in the exploration
stage, no turnover was generated during the year 2010.
The activities relating to the operation of refiling stations
supplying natural gas and LPG for vehicles use and sale of
LPG in cylinders were discontinued during the year 2009 as
a result of the disposal of Excellent Century Limited and its
subsidiaries (note 12).

The amount of each significant category of revenue
recognised in turnover during the year was as follows:

—f £
REBCETEERAEENFARREE
RHERRAADZRGE BEREER
ER BRHE RARREERERZ
75 W TE BN RS B - Bt FR2010F AT
EAMEXETELE BN EHERBH L
BERARKEMBAR  GRKLEHE
FEARARRREEHERZHHE R
SHE B R A B R 2 X2 R20094F
BRI & (fEE12) o

FRELEFRERAZEEETZRAET
BRI

2010 2009
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FH T
Continuing operations FEAN ST
Sale of crude oil 85 & [R M 23,899 15,155
Sale of natural gas HEXAR 5,325 =
29,224 15,155
Discontinued operations (note 12) B A & 25 (HiE12)
Sale of natural gas and TG UMEE RARR
LPG at refilling stations B AR - 19,279
29,224 34,434

S— FEHRERAERAT ¢ 2010 F K
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6. OTHER REVENUE 6. HubUgA

2010 2009
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TER FHT
Continuing operations FFEA ST

Interest income on bank deposits HRITE KA E WA 103 193

Imputed interest income on notes FEWE 1 < FEE FI B A
receivable 1,444 _
Rental income He WA 115 583
Compensation (note) EE (GE) 2,962 1,481
Others Hity 934 26
5,558 2,283

Discontinued operations (note 12) BRI AR &2 (K iE12)
Interest income on bank deposits HRITFE KA E WA - 5
5,558 2,288
Note: During the year 2009, the Group received compensation of . PA20004F HI RS - 7 &= B Y A E EE R e

HK$4,443,000 from an operating consultant for causing a 1S E5 84,443,000 T R AAEE
Mz 8 490 7% WS e PR A 2 L [ e AE BE S Al

AREHEHRETR FHERRAB

technical fault in the production of crude oil which resulted

in less crude oil being produced from the Liuluoyu Oil Field

since it was acquired by the Group. The fault was only R R2010FNEETRE KD E
temporary and production had resumed to most the normal BEEEKFE AEBYEEHEEE

level by the beginning of year 2010. The Group originally S 236H A NBRE Bk R EmE
expected it would take up to 36 months to make up the loss SR ZIEL  WHRTER200942 A #£
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in production caused by the fault and decided to recognise
the compensation received as other income over a period of
three years from February 2009. During the year 2010, the
Group continued to make progress and the rate of crude oll
production in the Liuluoyu Oil Field exceeded expectation of
management. Accordingly, management considered it would
be appropriate to recognise the balance of compensation of
HK$2,962,000 in year 2010.

=R RE Rz BEERREAM
WA » 020106 E A+ 7K 5 B £ 48 B
BHER - MW H A Z RfEEX
B EEE 2 - At EEER
/3$2,962,0007% 7T & (8 84 5 & & 122010
FEMR -
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7. OTHER GAINS AND (LOSSES), NET 7. Hiblwis R (E5iE) %8
2010 2009
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHET T
Continuing operations EAN ST
Impairment loss on goodwill (note 21) PE%ZAWEJEETE (FfF=E21) - (4,000)
Other receivables written off L th [ UK TE i SH (465) =
Fair value loss on notes receivable EWEE 2 AT EEE - (1,000)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - WERRE
plant and equipment ZEE (3) =
Exchange gains, net ME 5 Uk &5 % 5E 1,439 408
Excess of the Group's share of the S B A B E M HESFTE
fair value of net assets of the ZFEEATERREA
Yanjiawan Oil Field acquired over B A (BT 5E38(b)(ii))
the cost of acquisition (note 38(b)(ii)) - 4,585
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale & A] it H &£ 3% & 7 U 25
investments - 1,056
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERB AR 2 WS
(note 37(a)) (Mt 5E37(a)) 72,798 -
Loss on redemption of convertible BRIATMERERZEE
note (note 32) (F$E32) (703) —
73,066 1,049

R hEmmEERERA S e 2010 F #
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- A) (Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA oAt &)
8. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX 8.
EXPENSES

Profit/(loss) before income tax expenses is arrived at after

BRET B anids - (B518)

BRETS B HATE A, (B18) Bk,

charging/(crediting): (FFA) :
2010 2009
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FHET
a) Finance costs a) RIERAE
Continuing operations FEA ST
Imputed interest on convertible AR ERZIESTE
note (note 32) (M$5E32) 1,452 1,555
Interest on borrowing repayable HAR—FARNEEZEERNE
within one year - 212
Interest on loan from third HAR—FNEECE=F
parties repayable within BRA B
one year 196 -
Less: interest capitalised to gas W BERMERARE R
exploration and A EEZHE
evaluation assets (FF£E19)
(note 19) (196) -
Others EH A 1 =
1,453 1,767
b) Staff costs (including b) EIMA (BEKE102
directors’ remuneration )
in note 10)
. Continuing operations FEA ST
z Salaries, wages and other FHe TEREMBER
5 benefits 13,995 10,612
3 Equity-settled share-based AR EE AR 2 2
2 payment expenses (note 35) i (H95E35) 19,200 =
: Contributions to defined TR FURIRET & 2 it 3K
5‘:" contribution retirement plan 613 169
o
5 33,808 10,781
Q.
&
% Discontinued operations EARIFARE R (HiE12)
o
é. (note 12)
3 Salaries, wages and other e TEREMEF
T‘ benefits - 599
82
33,808 11,380
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8. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX 8. MFEBiXZHAiRRN (&BHE)
EXPENSES (Continued) (&)
2010 2009
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FERT FHET
c) Otheritems c) HmIEH
Continuing operations FEAN ST
Cost of inventories FEERA 446 -
Auditor’s remuneration ZER B & 1,243 913
Depreciation of property, M BERKEITE
plant and equipment (note 17) (B$sE17) 10,351 7,741
Amortisation of intangible BB E 2 i ([ aE20)
assets * (note 20) 323 122
Operating lease charges LEEERT REEENRA
minimum lease payments
— property rentals —MFEHEE 2,788 2,527
Discontinued operations BEARIFARE R (HiE12)
(note 12)
Cost of inventories FERA - 9,717
Auditor's remuneration 1% E 6N & - 62
Depreciation of property, Y BEREEITE
plant and equipment (note 17) (F5E17) - 1,624
Amortisation of prepaid THETET SRIEE 8 (F5E18)
lease payments (note 18) - 155

# Included in “direct costs”

as disclosed in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as
the group companies comprising the continuing operations
did not have any estimated assessable profits subject to
Hong Kong profits tax during the years ended 31 December
2010 and 2009. During the year 2010, the subsidiaries in
the PRC are subject to statutory tax rate of 25%. The PRC
subsidiaries did not have any assessable income subject
to PRC income tax during the year ended 31 December
2009. The former subsidiaries in the United States ("US"),
which are subject to a tax rate of 34%, incurred losses for
tax purpose during the years ended 31 December 2010 and
20089.

#  EABRSEERERAREZIE
BRA] -

FRiS8iZ

H £20104F K%2009F12A31H It F &
N AR SERECEER ZEE AT
WEBHMNBEBFNESH 2 M EBRE
wmAl MM IRBE AN EHEE - R
2010F E A U B 2 Y B A Al %
VA TE B 25 %M AN T IE © A Bk 220094
12A31BIEFERN EETFREZHEAR
A AR BT B EERFUA -
7 R E R 2 BT B A RlIR B R34% 5 A
Ti1E - MZEH B AR REZ2010F &
200912 A31 B IEFENEAETIARE o

R_mEEEERERD T ¢ 2010 8
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(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (JA 7ot &)

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

()  The amount of income tax expenses charged to the

9. FAIR#ixt (i|)

RiFEE2EMBERMBFZABERX

consolidated statement of comprehensive income HEE RN -
represents:
2010 2009
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TERT FHTT
Current income tax BVEA T 15 %t
— PRC enterprises income tax ~ — B EFTEF 873 =
Deferred tax expenses for the 4 A IE AL 7 1B 52 H (Fff 5£33)
year (note 33) 2,637 -
Income tax expenses T8t H 3,510 -

(i)  The income tax expenses for the year can be
reconciled to the Group's profit/(loss) before income

AEEZAEHX B EESZ2EK
BRZAKEBRAEHRX AR

tax expenses per the consolidated statement of M (F53E) HERM T :
comprehensive income as follows:
2010 2009
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHET FHT
Profit/(loss) before income BATEH AR A, (EE)
tax expenses 8,194 (32,940)
Tax on profit/(loss) before ST R AR R (EE)
income tax expenses, 5% AT E 2 B I8
calculated at 25% (2009: 25%) (20094 : 25%) 2,049 (8,235)
Effect of different tax rates of ~ REMEEEEZEEZWE LD
subsidiaries operating in TRME 2 & (1,557) (35)
other jurisdictions
Tax effect of non-deductible TR B L 2 BB &
expenses 11,639 6,526
Tax effect of non-taxable income 78 =R Ft Ug A 2 i 75 52 2 (16,057) (3,962)
Utilisation of tax losses B A S AT R R BIIAE 1B
previously not recognised (45) (54)
Tax effect of tax losses RERZMIEEBEB 2 HBR
not recognised 4,844 5,760
Tax effect of temporary BEARBERIEREZRE L
differences not M e 2,637 =
recognised previously
Income tax expenses FrS %2 3,510 s
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 10. EEM 2
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 BERBSATIKIEI6IERECES
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows: B
For the year ended 31 December 2010 are as follows: HE2010F12A31BLEEHMT :
Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement Share-based
Directors’ benefits scheme payments
fees in kind contributions Sub-total (note 35) Total
VAR 3 3% f
Fie o BB B ZRE
Exne REWNEG HELEEN NGt (HiE35) @t
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TER TERT TER TER TER TET
Executive directors HITES
Dai Xiaobing ! R\ - 900 1 901 - 901
Wang Ziming 2 Fai - 474 - 474 - 474
Jiang Rizhong * ZHB - 210 - 210 - 210
Kong Siu Tim LA - 1,290 12 1,302 436 1,738
Wan Tze Fan Terence BT E - 1,169 12 1,181 - 1,181
- 4,043 25 4,068 436 4,504
Independent non-executive B FEHITE E
directors
Di Lingjun 2 0 ¥ =2 75 - - 75 - 75
Wong Lung Tak Patrick 2 & g {22 75 - - 75 - 75
Yip Ching Shan 5 EEIWS 20 - - 20 175 265
Ni Zhenwei ® R & 920 - - 20 175 265
Wong Kwok Chuen Peter EE2 165 - - 165 175 340
495 - - 495 525 1,020
Non-executive director ~ IFH{TES
Ni Zhenwei ° {7z 75 - - 75 - 75
570 4,043 25 4,638 961 5,599

R—hEHRERERA D « 2010 F 1§
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(Expressed i

10. DIR

n Hong Kong Dollars) (JA7# 7Lt &)

ECTORS’ REMUNERATION

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2009 are as follows:

10. EEMNE (&)

HZE2009F12A31HIEFEMT :

Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement Share-based
Directors’ benefits scheme payments
fees in kind  contributions Sub-total (note 35) Total
AR A3 3 f5f
E = 3 RIK Z A
ESHe REVNH T &I et (P 5E35) @5t
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THET TET TET THET TET THET
Executive directors HIES
Xing Xiao Jing © TR B e = 345 3 348 - 348
Ma Ji ® S - 42 - 42 - 42
Kong Siu Tim LA - 1,118 12 1,130 - 1,130
Jiang Rizhong ZAR - 511 - 511 - 511
Wan Tze Fan Terence BTE - 812 10 822 - 822
- 2,828 25 2,853 - 2,853
Independent BUFHTEE
non-executive directors
Yip Ching Shan LI 144 - - 144 = 144
Ni Zhenwei g 144 - - 144 - 144
Wong Kwok Chuen Peter =B % 144 - - 144 - 144
432 - - 432 - 432
432 2,828 25 3,285 - 3,285
Notes: B 5
1. Appointed in May 2010 1. HR2010F5 KT
Appointed in August 2010 2.  MR201058AEXLT
3.  Redesignated from independent non-executive director to 3. MR2010F8ABBIUIIRNTESAEAR
non-executive director in August 2010 EHMITES
Resigned in May 2010 4. 20105 B E
Resigned in August 2010 201048 A B
Resigned in March 2009 2009438 A B £
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

11.

(Continued)

During the year, no emoluments (2009: HK$ Nil) were paid
by the Group to any of the directors as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as a compensation for loss
of office. None of the directors waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration for the years ended 31 December 2010
and 2009.

Note: These represented the estimated fair value of share options
granted to the directors under the Company’s share option
scheme. The value of these share options was measured
according to the Group’s accounting policy for share-based

payment transactions as set out in note 4(0)(ii).

Details of the Company’s share option scheme, including the
principal terms and number of options granted, are disclosed

in the directors’ report and note 35.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in
the Group, three (2009: three) were directors of the
Company whose emoluments are disclosed in note 10. The
emoluments of the remaining two (2009: two) individuals are
as follows:

»

V
o7
o

10. EEME (&)

11.

FAN AEETERNENESI N
(2009% : &) EREZEMA LR IIAR
SERRESIEABBR o EE -#HE
2010%F K2009F12A31H L F & - &
EERNEXRERECAMNS -

Bt e - AR 3 2 SRIBIEAR B AN A B B R
EETER TESE 2 ERE Z(AEHEE -
It 25 B AR W 2 (B (8 T AR B8 BT 524 (0)(i) BT
BUBRNEIH 2R 2AEB 5K
AT E ©

A EERAER B Z 715 (BIEAER T
BREZIEGRIREB)ENESS
i K P G35 EE

mREHAL

AEBERAUZEHALTH - =4 (2009
F:=U) RARAIZEE  EfieE
fE MY SE10%: 58 - H R iz (20094 :
) &EmHFALTZHMESWT -

2010 2009

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

FHET TETT

Salaries and other emoluments e hEMmie 1,985 1,492
Share-based payments VARR 9 4% 2 5/ 38 52 =
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEI 3R 24 =
2,061 1,492

4_‘ &
>

R—EmEERERD T ¢ 2010 F 8
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11. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 1. REHAL (E)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
The emoluments of the two (2009: two) non-director &= 3 2 WAL (20094 : M) IEEF A
individuals with the highest emoluments are within the T2BE N FTHoEE :
following bands:
2010 2009
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A& AE
Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000/8 7T A T 1 2
HK$1,000,000 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,000/ 7t £1,500,000/% 7T 1 -
2 2
During the year, no emoluments (2009: Nil) were paid by 7N 2 B A & AL 4B S SR B & (2009
the Group to any of the five highest paid individuals as F:8) FENAMNESHFALT  EE
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as a WEMASNINAKREER 2 8Bk (E
compensation for loss of office. RRBER 2 IE o
12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 12. ERILEEEF

On 11 May 2009, the Group entered into an agreement to
dispose of Excellent Century Limited and its subsidiaries
(“Excellent Group”), which engages in sale of natural gas
and LPG at refilling stations, to an independent third party
for a consideration of HK$21,000,000. The disposal was
effected to streamline the non-core business. The disposal
was completed on 8 July 2009, when the control of

Excellent Group was passed to the acquirer.

The profit of the discontinued operations was as follows:

REBH2009F5 A11 Bl — D1
421,000,000 TR ELHEREHLE
RARIREWBAR (BESE]) F—
EBIFE =% RBREESERENFHI
HWERXARRKBRIELABR - ZBLEER
W AB R FEIZ O TS o 3% TH & 120094
7HA8HSER c BB EE 2 EHlEE R
FUEHRZBE -

ERLEEEXRB @AM

HK$’ 000

FE T

Gain on disposal of Excellent Group (note 37(b)) i & 12 iE £ B ~ W 5 (M 7£37(b)) 11,593
Profit for the period (note a) 58 90 A (B 5Ea) 2,422
14,015
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12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
(Continued)

a)  The results from discontinued operations for the period
from 1 January 2009 to date of disposal were as

12. ERIEEE X (E)

a) BRIELEFEBR2009F1H1H
MBENERHIEHEZEENT

follows:

Notes HK$’ 000

B 5 TAETT
Turnover EHEE 5816 19,279
Cost of sales and services HE &R A (11,462)
Gross profit EAH 7,817
Other revenue E AUz A 6 5
Selling expenses HESH (3,693)
Administrative expenses THER (1,056)
Profit before income tax expenses Bk P13 % 5% 1 Al % Fl 3,073
Income tax expenses Fr{S i 2 i (651)
Profit for the period B 9 04 ) 2,422

b) The cash flows from discontinued operations for the
period from 1 January 2009 to date of disposal were
as follows:

b) B #&IE&EEKN2009F1H1R
EEHEAHIFHEB RS REN
-

HK$’ 000
TAET

Net cash inflow from operating activities
Net cash outflow from investing activities
Net cash outflow from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 8 & 3R & (B Y18 10 )% 58

The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities
of Excellent Group as at the date of disposal are
disclosed in note 37(b).

The disposal resulted in a gain of HK$11,593,000,
being disposal proceeds less the carrying amount of
the net assets of Excellent Group. No tax charge or
tax credit arose from the disposal.

KB 7SR A FERE
KEEH 2R R F58 (310)
BMEFHZES AL FE

17,246
(13,230)

3,706

RESENLERH EERERE
ZRREER M E37 (o)1 5 -

28 W& B B E A A 11,598,000
Yo - B & TS RRIE R R IS & B
BEFEEAE ZELEWE
EEEABHBXHARBEEL -

B—hBHRERERAT » 2010 F K



>
=)
5
c
0
el
)
o
)
g
-+
N
S
2
o
L]
@
3
)
]
Q
>
a
[q]
Q
wv
T
=3
=
=)
@
a
C
3
el
@
a

Notes to the Financial Statements

A% %5 8k 3R Mt 5
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13.

14.

15.

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY

The loss attributable to owners of the Company includes a
loss of HK$29,949,000 (2009: HK$7,882,000) which has
been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company.

DIVIDEND

The directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009: Nil).

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

a) Basic earnings/(loss) per share

The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share is based
on the profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company
of HK$6,108,000 (2009: loss of HK$18,784,000) and the
weighted average number of 6,064,116,000 ordinary shares
(2009: 4,360,388,000 ordinary shares) in issue during the
year.

(i) Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company

13. RAEHA AEILEIE

14.

15.

AREHEEARGEBEERBEEHNAR
A 75 3R K 2 E51829,949,0007% 7T (2009

% : 7,882,000/ 7T) °

iz 2
EFTEZHKEEZE2010F12A318 1t

FEEMAIBE (20095 : ) -

BRE (H8)
SREFRT (BH)

a)

BREARRBHN (BB HBREARR A
wABE AEERT, (E8) 6,108,000
7L (20094 : [£51818,784,000/8 JT) °
ARFABBITEBRZ NETHE
6,064,116,000% I @ & (20094 :
4,360,388,0000% L 3@A%) 5 & -

=

ERFIEFA BT (E5R)

2010 2009
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FERT FH T
Continuing operations FREICE TS 6,108 (32,799)
Discontinued operations BRI R - 14,015
6,108 (18,784)
(i) Number of ordinary shares (i)  BHEKEH
2010 2009
’000 "000
T iz T B
Weighted average number FABEBTERRK
of ordinary shares InkE g
in issue during the year 6,064,116 4,360,388
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(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (JA ot &)

15. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 15. BRREH  (E518) (&)
(Continued)
b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share b) EREERMN (FHHE)
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share is calculated based on the SR E SRR (Ei8) B8 AR A 7l
profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company and the BARERF(EiB) NFERNB TR
weighted average number of shares in issue during the year MZMEFHHE (REELBRERE
after adjusting for the number of dilutive potential ordinary RERRERE T k2B TS L BRE
shares on share options granted and warrant subscribed. BIEHARR)TE
(i) Number of ordinary shares (i)  BHEKEH
2010 2009
’000 "000
T iz T i
Weighted average number of FAE BT E B RN 1T 2
ordinary shares in issue
during the year 6,064,116 4,360,388
Effect of dilutive potential HEEETRR I TE
ordinary shares:
— Share options — B 109,077 -
— Unlisted warrants — 3k E TRk B 77,044 -
Weighted average number of BREERF (BB 2
ordinary shares for purposes of I 58 A% N #E 35 £
diluted earnings/(loss) per share 6,250,237 4,360,388
Diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 December ARA AT RE E22009%F12 A31
2009 is the same as the basic earnings/(loss) per share as HItEEMATE Z2EBRE R
the Company’s outstanding share options and convertible BERE (WER) YZEE 25K
note, where applicable, had an anti-dilutive effect on the HAEEBKNREBEETE  WZE
basic loss per share in that year. BBl EEEEEERELRR

M, (E1E) EE -

O hmmEERAERAE « 2010 F #
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (JA ot &)

16. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker that
are used to make strategic decisions.

The Group has two (2009: two) reportable segments.
The segments are managed separately as each business
offers different products and services and requires different
business strategies. The following summary describes the
operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

Continuing operations

Oil and gas exploitation:  Exploitation and sale of crude oll
and natural gas

Coalbed methane: Exploration, development and

production of coalbed methane

Discontinued operations

Natural gas and LPG: Operation of gas refilling stations
supplying natural gas and LPG
for vehicle use and sale of LPG
in cylinders

There are no sales or trading transactions between the
business segments. Corporate revenue and expenses are
not allocated to the operating segments as they are not
included in the measurement of the segments’ results used
by the chief operating decision-maker in the assessment of
segment performance.

16. PR &H

AEBERTIBLERAREEMLAAE
HEREEMER R e EBEELEDE -

RNE B R M E (20094 : M fE) ° &
DE e HREBEBRETRE®R KR
BIAFTENRAXHRE RO BEBL
EE -LTAXREEESAREN ML E
ZHBE

AMRRARFAR: RREEERHS

KER WHE FAEkE

ERIEEEER

ARARLBICAMR : KER-ERER
RARR K BAL R
R AR
HEBRERILA
H 5

EBOoBEALELEREERS - ¥
WAERRXAIAEESEEEDE - RAE
EREIZRERRENGIBRAZND
MEAFESEBEFEBAAERAE
A o
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16. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 16. T EBERE (&)
a) Business segments a) ¥BoE

Segment information about these businesses is set out as

follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2010

BRAZEXH 2 BEREIIMT

HE2010F12831B ILFEE

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations

REGERE BALEZER
Oil and gas Coalbed Natural gas
exploitation methane  Unallocated Total and LPG Consolidated
Bk XRER
XARHR KER KHE @ RILEHR #a
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TERL
Results 25
Revenue from external customers ~ REHREE ZMA 29,224 - - 29,224 = 29,204
Segment results ! PBEE (2,794) (626) (57,073) (60,493) - (60,493)
Finance costs BERR - - (1,453) (1,453) - (1,453)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries LERBR RS 72,798 - - 72,798 - 72,798
Share of loss of a jointly El-BEREESE
controlled entity NI} (2,658) - - (2,658) - (2,658)
Profit/{loss)before income tax BREBH LR/
expenses (B#&) 67,346 (626) (58,526) 8,194 - 8,194
Income tax expenses ki (3,510) - - (3,510) - (3,510)
Profit/loss) for the year AEERT/ (B8) 63,836 (626) (58,526) 4,684 - 4,684
Assets and liabilities BERER
Reportable segment assets 2 ARENHEE 377,772 2,646,885 308,663 3,423,320 - 3423320
Reportable segment liabilities EE SR 53,156 837,034 4,755 894,045 - 894,945
Other segment information Ep s
Depreciation and amortisation P = 10,116 27 531 10,674 - 10,674
Capital expenditure incurred ERELZEAT
during the year 108,474 2,595,157 2,577 2,706,208 - 2,706,208

S—mEmEERERD T ¢ 2010 F 8
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16. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 16. &R & (&)
a) Business segments (Continued) a) EBSE(E)
Segment information about these businesses is set out as BERAZEER 2D EREFMT -
follows:
For the year ended 31 December 2009 HZE2009%F12 A31H IEFE
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
REREXHK BRIEEEEH
Oil and gas Coalbed Natural gas
exploitation methane  Unallocated Total and LPG  Consolidated
Rk AARR
AARFR KER APE @i RhRE Ta

H$'000  HK§'000  HK§'000  HK§'000  HKE'O00  HK$'000
TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL TR

Results Ed
Revenue from external customers KB NREP ZKA 15,155 - - 15,155 19,279 34,434
Segment results ! PBEE (18,319) - (12,332) (25,651) 3,073 (22,578)
Finance costs BEKA - - (1,767) (1,767) - (1,767)
Galn on disposal of subsidiaries HERBAANE - - - - 11,593 11,593
Share of loss of a jointly Elh-RAREERE
controlled entity NRAER (5,522) - - (5,522) - (5,522)
(Loss)/profit before income tax BREEHZ LA (BE)/
expenses et (18,841) - (14,099) (32,940) 14,666 (18,274)
Income tax expenses FEH % - - - - (651) (651)
(Loss)/profit for the year AERE (BB) /&l (18,841) - (14,099) (32,940) 14,015 (18,925)
Asset and liabilities BERER
Reportable segment assets? ARENHEE 226,302 - 19,900 246,202 - 246,202
]:> — — — — — —
5 Reportable segment liabilities EE R R 54,362 - 43549 97,911 - 97,911
g 4 4 4 4 4 ]
el
< Other segment information Eh s
8 Depreciation and amortisation HERES 7377 - 486 7,863 1,779 9,642
=) — — — — — —
g' Capital expenditure incurred ENEL 7 BRYH
o) during the year 134,553 = 182 134,685 = 134,685
5 _— — — —
o
o Notes: Bk
a5
2 1. Unallocated segment results mainly include expenses for 1. %ﬁ@ﬂﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁig’@%%\%%@
2 Hong Kong head office and equity-settled share-based W BE 32 R AR AR AE AR 4B
= payment expenses. 232
g . 2. APEHMEETBEERER
o 2. Unallocated segment assets mainly include cash and cash e
Re%EE W R -
9'4 equivalents and notes receivable. A A
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16. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 16. HERERE (F)
b) HMEZHRTEEE

b) Geographical information and major
customers

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s

revenue from external customers and non-current assets

other than financial instruments, deferred tax assets and

post-employment benefit assets (“specified non-current

assets”).

TERURAKEREIAETRL ZBARE
MBTHE ERERBEEERMBERETN
BEUIINZHERDEE ([EEFRBDE

EETON -

Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
KEIIREEZIA EEkREEE
2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
T#ET BT TERT THT
Hong Kong (place of domicile) & (FrE ) - = 3,126 1,122
The PRC EP 28,490 33,345 2,738,166 133,807
The US = 734 1,089 - 80,540
29,224 34,434 2,738,166 214,347
29,224 34,434

During the year, revenues from the Group’s largest and
second largest customers were HK$23,253,000 (2009:
HK$14,066,000) and HK$5,237,000 (2009: Nil), being
80% (2009: 93%) and 18% (2009: 0%) of the Group’s
total revenue from the oil and gas exploitation segment,
respectively.

For 2009, the revenues from the Group’s largest customer
of the natural gas and LPG segment amounted to less than
10% of the Group’s total revenue.

2,741,292 215,469

FRN REAXAEBZAREFE-_AEP
Z WA 5 Bl &23,253,0007% T (2009
% : 14,066,000 Jt) K&5,237,0007% T
(20094 : &) » D AEAEE AKX
NSRFAER 70 YA 4258 2 80% (20094F :
93%) % 18% (2009%F : 0%) °

R2009%F - RERXRARKBIEAHRD
MZAREBZRRKEPRAMEASERA

BEEDR10% o

S—hEMRERERA D ¢ 2010 F 1§
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. W% - BERRE
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The Group b, -
Furniture,
Refilling fixtures
Buidings held  Leasshold stations  QOilandgas  and office Motor
for own use  improvements (note) properties  equipment vehicles Total
i
HE fitath HE&ER
RHEGRET  WREE (W) hREE BLAERR e &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
T TR TR TR TR T TR
Costs: %
At 1 January 2009 200951718 2,190 23 34,220 37,825 1,082 2,068 78,008
Additions hE - 16 300 3,291 116 - 3,728
Acquired through business BAEBAMN UG
combinations (note 38(0)) (Fr3¥38(0) - - - 84,233 - - 84,233
Disposals e - - - - (295) - (295)
Disposals of subsidaries (note 37(b)) HERBAR (F3E370)) (2,194) - (34,599) - (212) (272) (37,271)
Exchange adjustments B A% 4 - 73 197 1 1 276
At 31 December 2009 #2009512A31A - 39 - 125,546 692 2,397 128,674
Acquired through acquisition (note 38(a)  FUEE E& A (F1738(a)) - - - - - 1,665 1,665
Additions HE = = - 1,994 84 2,261 4339
Disposals ih& - - - - (19) - (19)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37(a)) HEMBAR (Hz376) = = = (39.908) = - (39,908)
Exchange adjustments B AR - 1 - 6,098 10 51 6,160
At 31 December 2010 120105124318 - 40 - 98,730 3 6,374 100,917
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

L

o7
o

L

17. %1% - BB RRE (&)

(Continued)
The Group (Continued) AEE (&)
Furiture,
Refilling fixtures
Buildings held ~ Leasehold stations  Oilandgas  and office Motor
for own use improvements (note) ~ properties  equipment vehicles Total
fiih
HE etk EEZER
HEERET  WEEE ()  HREE WAZRE Bk izt
HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000
T TR iR AL TR T AL
Accumulated depreciation Bitine
and impairment; RiAE:
At 1 January 2009 200951 A1 754 9 29,318 4,134 792 701 35,708
Charge for the year (note 8(c)) i (Hs() 49 12 1,540 7117 140 507 9,365
WWritten back on disposal HEREE - - - - (295) - (295)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37(b)) EMBAA (F3E370) (805) = (30,905) - (208) (46) (31,964)
Exchange adjustments EXBE 2 - 47 5 1 - 55
At 31 December 2009 120095128310 - 2 - 11,256 430 1,162 12,869
Charge for the year (note 8(c)) s (HriEs(c) - 5 - 9,658 115 573 10,351
Written back on disposal HERED - - - - (10) - (10)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37(a)) HERBAR (K3H87(a) - - = (11,805) = = (11,808)
Exchange adjustments iR - 1 - 301 6 5 313
At 31 December 2010 R2010£12A31H - 27 - 9,410 541 1,740 11,718
Carrying amount: REE:
At 31 December 2010 R2010E12A31H = 13 - 84,320 232 4,634 89,199
At 31 December 2009 R2009%128318 - 18 S 1290 262 1285 115805
Note: PR EE -

The refilling stations were disposed of in July 2009.

4 uh B R20095F7 A HE »

O—mEmEERERD T » 2010 F 8
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18. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 18. HEHEMNRIA

The Group AEE
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
TER FHET
Carrying amount at 1 January M1ATE ZEREE - 1,420
Amortisation for the year (note 8(c)) AN 2 & 55 (Ff7£8(c)) - (159)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37(b)) &k B2 7 (K 5E37(b)) - (1,273)
Exchange adjustments bE 5 3R & - 8

19.

Carrying amount at 31 December M12A31B ZREE

The leasehold land was held under a medium-term lease
and situated in the PRC. The leasehold land was held by
the Excellent Group which was disposed of during 2009 as
set out in note 37(b).

FE L TR HAER AW AP o
HMELTHhABEEEFE - HE37D)
Fra - RIELEEE R20094 H & -

GAS EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION 19. XARBIERGEHEE
ASSETS
The Group AEH
HK$’ 000
T
Cost BN
At 1 January 2009 and 2010 720094 20101 H1H =
Additions through acquisition (note 38(a)) MBS 2 ANE (MT5E38(a)) 2,570,586
Additions NE 22,906
Interest capitalised (note 8(a)) & AR F B (M sE8(a)) 196
Exchange adjustments bE 38 & 4,956
At 31 December 2010 R2010F12H31H 2,598,644

Gas exploration and evaluation assets arose from the
acquisition of Power Great Limited and its subsidiary
(“Power Great Group”) set out in note 38(a). The operations
of Power Great Group are governed by and based on a
production sharing contract (“PSC”). Details of this PSC are
set out in note 39.

No amortisation is provided for during the year, as the
project is in its exploration stage.

As at 31 December 2010, the major components of gas
exploration and evaluation assets were exploratory drilling
and trenching costs. The directors have assessed the
gas exploration and evaluation assets for impairment
in accordance with the criteria under HKFRS 6 and by
reference to the progress in the implementation of the PSC
during the year, and the valuation report prepared by the
American Appraisal China Limited. The directors concluded
that there are no facts or circumstances which may indicate
that the carrying amount of gas exploration and evaluation
assets has exceeded the recoverable amount as at the end
of reporting period.

AU fEREER AR REKE AR ([B
EREED MBS RARYELRFEEE
M EE38(e) c BEKB 2 EE IR E
ENdRAEREEMALRER - BHAL
ED KA RZFIEENMHES9

MRZEBNERBRER - Bt FR
W AR S o

R2010F12A831H @ KA R EFE & E1E
BEEFTEARHEREF RERK AL -
EEEREBEEBUBEREERFHE 2
EEWLREZFRNEESKERZAITE
EREBRTEER QAR (EER
EoFERARMELTEEEEE A H
BRE ZEFHET RRSHERBET
FHEEEXIBERBRKRAREYE MG
EEZFEEECBAET KL S -
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

20. ML & E

The Group AEE
Motor vehicle Oil
registration exploitation Operation
license rights rights Total
2 yap:
FEER PR BB BT
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$,000
THET FHAT TET FAT
Cost: R
At 1 January 2009 720091 A1H - 48,911 - 48,911
Acquired through business BBEBE 2 WE
combinations (note 38 (b)) (B 3E38(b)) - - 46,729 46,729
Exchange differences FEHZEZR - g 151 154
At 31 December 2009 2009F12H31H - 48,914 46,880 95,794
Additions NE 910 - - 910
Disposal of subsidiaries &K B A A
(note 37(a)) (K 7E37(a)) - (49,174) = (49,174)
Exchange differences ERER - 260 1,606 1,866
At 31 December 2010 201012 H31H 910 - 48,486 49,396
Accumulated amortisation: 5
At 1 January 2009 720091 A1H - 238 - 238
Amortisation for the year (note 8(c))  ZN4F fZ # & (Fff 5£8(c)) - 122 - 122
At 31 December 2009 2009F12H31H = 360 - 360
Amortisation for the year (note 8(c)) N4 & # 5 (KT 7E8(c)) - 146 177 323
Disposal of subsidiaries i E T8 A A
(note 37(a)) (B5E37(a)) - (507) - (507)
Exchange differences bE N ER - 1 - 1
At 31 December 2010 201012 H31H - - 177 177
Carrying amount: ARTE(E :
At 31 December 2010 7201012 A31H 910 - 48,309 49,219
At 31 December 2009 46,880 95,434

2009412 A31H = 48,554

S—hEHAERERAT « 2010 F K



-

>
=)
5
c
0
el
)
o
)
g
-+
N
S
2
o
L]
@
3
)
]
Q
>
a
[q]
Q
wv
T
=3
=
=)
@
a
C
3
el
@
a

0

Notes to the Financial Statements

A% %5 8k 3R Mt 5

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (JA ot &)

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

i)  Oil exploitation rights
Details of the Group’s oil exploitation rights are as follows:

20. EREE (&)

i) GHAERE
AEE AMBEEREBENT

Qil fields Location Expiry date
JHH i 2h ZEAE
1 Grassy Trails Oil Field Carbon County and Emery County, Utah, US Note
B HmH 5% B0 fth M = AR BB R SR A EB Bt 5
2 Squaw Canyon QOil Field San Juan County, Utah, US Note
2 AR Ak 2 B0 485 fth N A 48 22 AR Bt &%

Note: The exploitation rights of the oil fields in the US do not have
a termination date and are valid as long as oil and/or natural
gas are produced from the reserves. On 30 December 2010,
the exploitation rights for both the Grassy Trails Oil Field and
Squaw Canyon Qil Field held by the Ally Bond Limited and its
subsidiary, Genesis Petroleum US, Inc. (“Ally Bond Group”)
and King Giant Investments Limited and its subsidiaries, G
Energy US Holdings Inc. and Nathan Oil LLC (“King Giant
Group”) respectively were disposed of. Details are set out in
note 37(a).

ii) Operation rights

The Group’s operation rights represent the rights under two
development contracts which give the Group the rights to
participate in the production of crude oil in the Liuluoyu Oil
Field and Yanjawan Oil Field, located at Shaanxi Province,
the PRC for a period up to 2023.

The exploitation rights and operation rights are initially
recognised at their fair value on the date of acquisition by
reference to a professional valuation prepared by Assets
Appraisal Limited, an independent firm of professional
valuers, which have the relevant professional qualification
and experience. Subsequent to the reporting period, the
exploitation rights and operation rights are measured using
the cost model.

Amortisation is provided to write off the cost of the
exploitation rights and operation rights using the units
of production method based on the amount of proven
and probable oil and gas reserves. Amortisation was
charged to “direct costs” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

1= A vy N St s s Bl ey v A T =)
H AZFENeiEaBAER /XX
ARAEEF - W2010F12H830H -
B HE R Q7 & EHE 2 7Genesis
Petroleum US,Inc. (B FH & B 1) R F 5%
KEBRARRENE R BG Energy
US Holdings Inc. &Nathan Oil LLC ([ &
BEEDFEZELME R LBHRA
B R B S o e B R M R
37(a) °

i) ZiERE
REBEERTIMHAZERAZE
P EBAEEEELEMNFEKES
ZMBRBEBEEREREaA 2 RBEE
Z2023%F o

AREREEENSRUBE B2 AT
BESEZAEFEENARAR (—H
WY EREEAT  AARREEER
RAGH) BT 2 BEEERER - R
=801 - BIRAE R B IR A A I
SEHE -

MEFAREREERANADIZEE R
BOMRFEENEEEMRETHIE - &
HEFREEERSERZ[EEXANIAN
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21. GOODWILL 21. W&
Group AEEH
HK$’ 000
FHET
At 1 January 2009 #2009%1 A1 H -
Acquired through business combinations B ETR S O 2 W
(note 38(b)) (Bt 5E38(b)) 8,230
Impairment (note 7) BB (EET) (4,000)
Carrying amount as at R20094F 2010612 A31H Z BREE
31 December 2009 and 2010 4,230
IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL B iR E A R
For the purpose of impairment test, goodwill is allocated to EEANRANS  BELSEZRAMBEE

the cash generating units (“CGU”) of oil exploitation.

The recoverable amounts of the CGU have been determined
from the value in use calculations based on formally
approved cash flow projections for five years and budgets.

The following key assumptions have been made for the
purpose of the analysis:

ZHReELBEM([REELEM]) -
iﬁ%FEET‘IZTH&@%EEJﬂETFE%
BEET  mEREEINRELAEL
/EZEEEE%WE%E ANBETE -

RETON - SERTHEERR

1 Discount rate 16% 1 X 16%
2 Operating margin 34% 2 AR =X 34%
3 Growth rate within a five year period 5% 3 h E RNz ER 5%
4 Wage inflation 3% 4 TEBIE 3%
5 Crude oil price increase 5% 5 BRABE®EET 5%

The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects the specific
risks of the oil and gas exploitation segment. The operating
margin and growth rate within the five-year period are based
on past experience. Wage inflation is based on the expected
long term inflation rate set by the PRC Government. Crude
oil price is based on the expected market price.

The impairment of goodwill in 2009 is included in the oil and
gas exploitation segment.

ﬁfrE'EﬁH IR R RERHRFARD 882
FERRZBRAFTER - EEFBERE
ﬂEE@WZiE$E$ETFLE,W%AﬁE o
TEBRIDBREBETEBRFZAMEHAE
FRERME o FRomERIVARYTZER
RLE o

2009%F 2 7 B R {E B 15 72 i R 53 % 20 &P
7 o

22. INTEREST IN A JOINTLY CONTROLLED 22 R—REFBESEATIZE
ENTITY 25 i
The Group has a 50% interest in a jointly controlled entity RS FETE  REER —FKERIERZ ki'
which is accounted for by the equity method. ABRNBEB0%EZ © S
Particulars of the Group’s jointly controlled entity are as RNREB 7 HEAEESE AT FBOT "2
follows: B

Place of Percentage of ordinary g

Name of company Form of business structure incorporation shares indirectly held Principal activity &
AEER EnREp i it Bl ST 30 26 RERFLERE I TEEH o
=

Smart Win International Limited Limited company The British Virgin Islands 50% Investment holding H

(IIBV'II) |
HEABERAT BRAT AERAES RERR 101
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22. INTEREST IN A JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITY (Continued)

The following amounts have been recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position and
consolidated statement of comprehensive income relating to

this jointly controlled entity.

R-—REREESEATZHE

i (48)
RERZBAERTZ TS HE N
AMBRAE RS2 E KSR R -

2010 2009
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
F#ET FABTT
Unlisted shares, at cost EETRR S - RAKAS
As at 1 January M1A1H 9,606 15,128
Less: share of loss for the year B NEFEED(HEE (2,658) (5,522)
As at 31 December M12A31H 6,948 9,606
Non-current assets ERBEE 4,728 9,920
Current assets mENE E 9,169 9,373
Current liabilities mENAE - (80)
Net assets BEFE 13,897 19,213
Group’s share of net assets AREBDIREEFE 6,948 9,606
Turnover BER - =
Expenses S H (5,316) (11,044)
Loss for the year AREEEE (5,316) (11,044)
Group’s share of loss for the year AEEARNEEDHEE (2,658) (5,522)
23. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 23. PHBATI 2L
The Company EAT
2010 2009
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHET FABTT
Unlisted equity investments, at cost  JE ETRAIRE - LKA 2,405,361 81,148
Less: impairment loss (note 23(b)) B OREEE (M 5E23(b)) (81,143) (81,143)
2,324,218 5
Amounts due from subsidiaries & UL B B A Bl 5K I8
(note 23c)) (P 7£23(c)) 547,034 92,978
2,871,252 92,983
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23. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 23. REBA S ZHEZ (48)

The Company (Continued) AAT (4])

a) Details of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December a) M2010F12HA31H X ZW B A 7
2010 are listed below. The class of shares held is BT - BRIBAEHBEEI BT
ordinary unless stated otherwise. RO ER AT B -

Proportion of ownership interest

BEREMM
Place of Group’s
incorporation/ Particulars of issued effective Heldbythe Heldbya
Name of the Company Notes  operation and paid up capital holding  Company subsidiary  Principal activities
i/ £y 1] Bx BE-XK
AR&R i R BETRYRRAHE ERnRkE LFRF BATRE  IERE
Chuang Xin Management Hong Kong 2 shares of HK$1.00 each 100% 100% - Provision of management
Senvices Limited services to group companies
e RREERAA & REREET 0BT EBR REERAREERRE
Elite Ascend Holdings Limited the BV 690 ordinary shares of US$1.00 each 100% 100% - Investment holding
REERERAT AERTEE 600REHRA AT 0% EBR RERER
Genesis Energy (Hong Kong) Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each 100% - 100%  Provision of administrative
Limited serices to group companies
&R (B8 BRAT & 2RERAEI 0BT, EBR mEBARRRAHRE
Glory Boom International Limited the BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$1.00 each 100% 100% - Investment holding
REERARAT AERLHE 100k RAE! 0%, SRk REER
Key Well Development Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
HEERARAA B 100REREET 0BT SRR RAER
Qrion Energy International Inc. 2 the Cayman Islands 100,000,000 ordinary shares 100% - 100%  Exploration, development and
of US80.001 each production of coalbed methane
BRENRERERAT 2 HEEs 100,000000% 8 RE(E0.001% T RERBR RAREE
LERR
Power Great Limited 2 the Cayman Islands 1 orclinary share of US$1.00 100% 100% - Investment holding
REERARA 2 REEE REEL0ET L EAR RARR
Toppace Limited the BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$1.00 each 100% 100% - Investment holding
ERARAT AERTEE 100REREE100ET 2 S8R RERR E
o
Xian Hong Chang Co., Limited 1 the PRC Registered capital RMB43,500,000 100% - 100%  Participation in oil and gas projects §
ExRERnREREERAR 1 fE SRR AR 43,500,000 SEBREE .
[
<
Bi Tuo Yuan Technology 1 the PRC Registered capital RMB500,000 100% - 100%  Participation in ofl and gas projects =
(Shenzhen) Co,, Ltd. g
FRRRE (R ERAA 1 FE SR AR A% 500,000 SEBRAE &
®
Notes: P E - §
1 : registered under the laws of the PRC as a wholly-owned 1 REFBEVEEELRINEBERE &
foreign enterprise l
gnenen 103

2 : newly incorporated/acquired in 2010 2 R2010F FEMR L Wi
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23. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
The Company (Continued)
b) Impairment on investments in subsidiaries
The movements in the provision for impairment loss during
the year were as follows:

3. RMB AT 2 (&)

AAE (&)
b) RMIBASZRERE
AEEREBBBEZEBNT

The Company

AT
2010 2009
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHERT TFHET
At 1 January B1A1H 81,143 81,143
Impairment loss recognised BRI EEE - -
At 31 December M®12H31H 81,143 81,143

Provision for impairment loss is made based on the
directors’ annual assessment by reference to the net assets
of the subsidiaries.

BEBBRREDH2EMNBLRAGZE
EFERBESEF ZHMEMESL -
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23. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

c) Amounts due from subsidiaries
An analysis of the amounts due from subsidiaries is listed

g

>
V
»

23. RMBAS z#x ()
c) MREWMEASRIE
A B R OB 2 AT

below:
The Company
AAT
2010 2009
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TER TAT
Due from subsidiaries NG e 815,904 405,441
Less: impairment loss B OREEE (268,870) (312,463)
547,034 92,978

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-
free and in substance represent the Company’s investments
in the subsidiaries in the form of quasi-equity loans.

The movements in the provision for impairment loss during
the year were as follows:

ERMBARFEREER 28 8
BEEARABAEREEE SR AIE
hZiRE -

FRAREBERBIZHMT :

The Company

EAT
2010 2009
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHERT TAT
At 1 January ®1A1H 312,463 226,665
Additional provision KHONE A 40,849 100,712
Reversal of provision T 5 o] £ (84,442) (14,914)
At 31 December M12A31H 268,870 312,463

The impairment loss and reversal of impairment on amounts
due from subsidiaries are made by the directors by
reference to the net assets of the subsidiaries.

24. PLEDGED DEPOSITS
The amount as at 31 December 2009 represented fixed
deposits pledged to cover the estimated future assets
retirement costs for the exploitation of crude oil in the US as
required under the laws and regulations of the US (note 31).
The US operations were disposed of during the year (note
37(a)).

R U5 Y BB 2 B SRR BB RS 1R N R (B B
BNHEE2ENB AR ZEEFEN
fEH -

24. EHIHER
200912 431 A & B IA 5 R 15 X B
FEOIRERZEERAZHERERR
HASAREEZEERNELHERZE
HER(ME31) - EREBERAFE
W& (F5E37(0)) °

-

O— HMEHMRERERDAE » 2010 F ]|

Ul
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25. INVENTORIES 25 £E&
The Group
AEE
2010 2009
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FERT FE T
Crude oll [ER 8 - 446
26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 26. FEUWCHER =X - HibFEWRRIE » #%
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS S RFERRIE
The Group The Company
AEE EAT
2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$' 000  HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FET T T FHET FAT
Trade receivables JE Ui BR 3R 6,945 3,117 - =
Bills receivable W E & 5,317 1,707 - -
Other receivables (note i) Hh pE W8 (BT 16,718 937 1,074 480
Amount due from U — KM 8 A A
a non-controlling interest FE 128 i 2 SR IE
of a subsidiary (note 46(d)) (Bt 5E46(d)) 166 160 - =
29,146 5,921 1,074 480
Utility and other deposits KEREAMIZS 1,034 599 504 -
Prepayments (note ii) T8 45 338 (B &) 42,558 220 160 82
43,592 819 664 82
72,738 6,740 1,738 562
Notes: B2k

(i)

(i

The balance includes considerations receivable of
HK$15,000,000 on the disposal of Ally Bond Group and King
Giant Group as set out in note 37(a), which was subsequently

received in early January 2011.

Prepayments include prepaid exploration costs of
HK$42,231,000 on the Group’s gas evaluation and
exploration assets. The amounts are expected to be

recognised as assets within one year.

()  BREEIEE A EES7 () 8 H & %
B &% E SR B 2 fE 815,000,000
T BRERE R 201141 A FIIER -

iy BEAFBEEREHASERATDHER
S h & E 2 T T 8 R A 4842,231,0007%8
JC o AT E BN —FRNERBEE -
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26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,

DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(Continued)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice
date at the end of reporting period is as follows:

»

g
/3

26. FEMGHRR « H it FEMGRRIE - 3%
ERFEMFRIE (8)

RAE Az BRERFN RS HES
B Z BRER DA -

The Group The Company
AEE EAT
2010 2009 2010 2009

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHET TAET FHERT THET

< 30 days D HB0K
30 — 60 days 30E 60X
61 — 90 days 61£290XK

3,210 2,606 - =
3,569 511 - -
166 - - S

The average credit period granted to customers is 0-30
days from the invoice date.

All trade receivables are less than 90 days past due,
not impaired and related to one customer which has a
good track record with the Company. Based on the past
experience, management estimated that the carrying
amount will be fully recovered.

The Group recognised impairment loss on individual
assessment based on the accounting policy stated in note

4(i)(ii).

6,945 3,117 - —

SRS TRFZ2FHEEHAHAERR
F0E30XK °

P & KRR X35 78 B BA1R90R A B B 0
E—FF ARAEREFPBARHFZA
X MUEFLRE RELNERL
B BEEEMGAEREESZ2E%KD -

2N 5= B AR 4R P 524 () (i) P8t 2 & 5T IBUK
i 18 {8 Bl & R R E B 18 -

B

-

Y e

O— HmEHMRERERD A » 2010 F ]|
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27. NOTES RECEIVABLE 27. B EHE
The Group The Company
A EHE AAT
2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FHT FHET T
Notes receivable JE U 2= 45 135,000 = 9,000 =

Notes receivable represents the considerations receivable
on disposal of Ally Bond Group and King Giant Group as
set out in note 37(a). These notes receivable are interest
free, repayable within one year and secured by the shares
of these companies.

EURERELERAREREREE (H
R aE37()) 2 BRHK(E - BIKRER
RECAR-FREERAZFARZ
B tn (EE A -

. OTHER ASSETS 28. Hih & E
The Group The Company
AEE EAT

2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TER FHT THERT T
Refundable deposits Al 3R B35 & 60,000 = 60,000 =
Advance payments TE FRIB 56,656 — - -
Oil and gas properties HREE 105,802 - - =
222,458 - 60,000 -

The other assets arose from the Group’s interest in the
Jinzhuang Oil Field in the PRC as described below and
include (i) a refundable deposit of HK$60,000,000; (ii)
advance payments of HK$56,656,000 for future funding of
the development and operation of Jinzhuang Qil Field; and
(i) amounts of HK$105,802,000 on oil and gas properties
the Group has developed in the Jinzhuang Oil Field.

HmEERAEERMURTEMNSE
MEmMEER (R TIER) - 81E(>)
A 3R [B] # 460,000,000/ 7T : (i) 5 B
BRREESEHENRRES 2B
756,656,000/ 7T ¢ A K (i) B & 3%
BEeEHBHENRBREEZSE
105,802,0005 7T °



Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 55 3R R B 5

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (JA ot &)

28. OTHER ASSETS (Continued) 28. Hith & E (48)

In May 2010, the Group entered into an operation R2010F5H  AEBHEPH —FZHL
agreement with an independent PRC third party (the “PRC F=A((RABHDTLEESRNAFE
Party”) for the exploration, development and production of N & B #2010F5 818 £201147 A31
crude oil and natural gas that exist in an exploration area BEMRFPBERES 2 EBEETA
located in Shaanxi Province in the PRC (the “Jinzhuang Oil MARARME FRABREE FHEH
Field”) for the period from 1 May 2010 to 31 July 2011. The 2 — B EF L E S LR ARE
PRC Party is a party to a production sharing contract with a LEEAMRARZEENKER (T£
state owned enterprise for the exploration, development and ERkEaR]) -

production of crude oil and natural gas in the Jinzhuang Oil
Field (the “Jinzhuang PSC”).

Jinzhuang Oil Field is in its production phase. Pursuant SERMAREKEEETNEHRKE B
to the operation agreement, the Group is engaged as the LEHE ASEEERSLER  UH
operator to explore, develop and produce crude oil and ® HEREESFEHEANAGHREKRA
natural gas from the oil field. During the period, the Group FMe-NERFEAN KEBREMEXRE
bore all the development and operation costs and shared NEBRARDFB%KAEERBA
95% of the income from sale of crude oil and the entire HEHENKAREHZBEHARXAREE
income from the sale of natural gas extracted from the WA eEMAMNEEIRAEER KH
Jinzhuang Oil Field. The operation of the Jinzhuang Oil Field TR o & E E D HE
is jointly controlled by the Group and the PRC Party. At the FLHEAEBEABEC RN HAREE
expiration of the operation agreement, the PRC Party is BRAEE S SEBEREE -

obligated to purchase the oil and gas properties developed
and paid for by the Group at their carrying amount.

In the meantime, a Hong Kong holding company (the “HK Ht R —BEBSIERAR([BBE
Group”) has acquired the rights and obligations of the BRFAFBEHFRBESES KA R E
Jinzhuang PSC from the PRC Party. The Group has also MEEFE AEEMERBEEER —
signed a memorandum of understanding (“MOU”) with the MEESE XN — 22 B MR 2R
HK Group and paid an interest free and fully refundable B /) #2 £60,000,0008 7t T E B S E -
deposit of HK$60,000,000 to the HK Group such that the MzEeBAEEEERELA  ~&
Group has up to July 2011 to decide whether or not to B A AT AE2011E7H RIRE 2 & W iE
acquire the entire equity interest of HK Group. The deposit BAEE 2 HERE -

is secured by the shares of HK Group.

The Group currently has not decided whether or not to BRIAEBEAATE L KEREER
acquire the HK Group. The Group’s decision will depend on AREB 7 REHBURR & Ef A H R
the oil and gas reserves of the Jinzhuang Oil Field and the BEURAEB Z2AHER - EAEH
internal resources of the Group. Until the Group makes the HEEMAEZA  IBEAEBEEBEE
decision, all the Group’s assets in respect of the Jinzhuang EHAZEES N FEAIN TR EME
Qil Field are shown as “Other assets” as detailed above. =l o

O— HEHMRERERD A 2010 F ]|

—_
(o)
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29. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20. & RINEEEY
The Group The Company
AEHE ¥, /N
2010 2009 2010 2009

HK$000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$ 000
FEXT TAET FET TAET

Cash and bank balances, ITRIE¥EETEZ
denominated in H e RRTTHEE
— HKD and United States -BILKkETT
dollars (“USD”) 234,953 5,324 28,087 56
— Renminbi AR 7,576 5,211 - -
242,529 10,535 28,087 55
Cash and cash equivalents of HK$7,576,000 (equivalent 7,576,000/ 7T (48 & M A R #6,412,000
to RMB6,412,000) (2009: HK$5,211,000; equivalent to T) 2B ekREFEM (2009
RMB4,579,000) were denominated in Renminbi. Renminbi is F:5,211,0008 L HER AR
not a freely convertible currency and the remittance of funds 4,579,0007C) A ARG E - AR
out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions imposed FEBRLBREE RPHEHESES
by the PRC Government. A B BT 2 SINEE PR il BT AR PR ©
30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 30. HithFEMARIER TR E A
The Group The Company
AEE AATF
2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TER FH T FHET FAT
Consideration payable (note ()  FEHE (Bt 5E()) 500,000 = 500,000 -
Other payables and accruals H b fE 5 308 K
(note (ii)) TERR & A (B &%) 378,952 21,330 2,832 2,018
Amount due to a non-controlling F&f — K i B A &
interest of a subsidiary FEH7E A% #E 25 FRIE
(note 46(d)) (Fff 5£46(d)) - 270 - =
Amounts due to directors N EEFKIE
(note 46(d)) (Bt 3546(d)) - 167 - 167

878,952 21,767 502,832 2,185

— — panwi sBUIp|oH seD pue |10 ouls e 0L0Z 1oday [enuuy

=
o
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30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
(Continued)

Notes:

(i) This represents the remaining consideration for the acquisition
of the Power Great Group (note 38(a)) to be settled in cash.
Subsequent to the end of reporting period, an amount of
HK$200,000,000 was settled and the vendor agreed to
extend the repayment date for the remaining balance of
HK$300,000,000 to early 2012.

(if) Other payables and accruals include loans denominate
in USD of HK$78,877,000 (2009: Nil) from certain non-
controlling shareholders of the Group. The loans are
unsecured, bear interest at 3% per annum and repayable
within 1 year. The balance also includes exploration costs
payable of approximately HK$290,205,000 in respect of gas
exploration and evaluation assets and oil and gas properties.
Subsequent to the end of reporting period, OEIl, a subsidiary
of the Group, has obtained a letter of financial support from
a contractor company of OEl, a shareholder of which is also
a non-controlling shareholder of the Company, confirming
that it will not request for payment of the exploration costs
payable of approximately HK$256,000,000, until OEIl has the
necessary working capital to do so.

30. HihFEERIMIBERTERER (&)

B &L -

(i)

(i

W KERERER MG ARSI
2 R (BE&EE (Mi7E38(a)) » REREHIK -
£ 3 £200,000,000/8 7t 2 ;X HE © M &
7 [B Z 1% #2 58300,000,0007% T 2 & &
B E2012F %] oo

HiENREREREBEENET
FTEZAEEE TIHERBRRERER
78,877,000/ Jt (20094 : ) - % %
BRAEER FEINNER—FR
BE - BRENSEEBEHIHIERLT
HEEURBREEZEBAHEEKAE
#9290,205,000/% JT ° 4% 7N 3 2 Hi ) 48
BB O AEBIHBRARRKLEE
B 7 —FKEABRQR (EBREIR AR
ANE)ZIEERRARER) B B A5 K
BRAEREZAAEULEZEEES
NRZH ZEABRAABTEERL N
#9256,000,000/% JT 2 F& (- ) FRAX AN o

31. PROVISIONS 31. #1E
The Group
AKEH
2010 2009
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FTERT FH T
Balance at 1 January M1 A1B 2 & 5% 338 338
Disposal of subsidiaries HENHE QA

(note 37(a)) (KF7%37(a)) (338) =
Balance at 31 December M12A318 2 & 5% - 338

The provision represents directors’ estimated assets
retirement obligations relating to oil and gas properties
located in the US.

ZEBBERURNEXBE MR EESR
LEEHAEERERE -

-

—— HREHRERER DA 2010 F ]|
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32. CONVERTIBLE NOTE

The Group and Company
(i) Convertible note issued on 30 April 2009

The Company issued a convertible note with a principal
amount of HK$25,000,000 and 2% coupon rate on 30
April 2009. The convertible note was denominated in HKD
and would mature in four years from the issue date. The
note was convertible to 54,347,826 ordinary shares of the
Company at the holder’s option at the rate of HK$0.46 per
share.

The fair values of the liability component and equity
conversion component were determined at the date of
issue. The fair value of the liability component, included
as non-current financial liabilities, was calculated using
the market interest rate for an equivalent non-convertible
note. The residual amount, representing the value of the
equity conversion component, was included in equity, net of
deferred income taxes, where applicable.

Imputed interest expense on the liability component of
convertible note was charged at the rate of 14.12% using
the effective interest method.

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the convertible
note, the Company was permitted to redeem the note at
100% of the outstanding principal amount (in whole or in
part) at any time before the maturity date, by serving at least
seven days’ prior written notice on the note holder. This
redemption right constituted as an embedded derivative in
accordance with HKAS 32. In the opinion of an independent
professional valuers, Assets Appraisal Limited, the fair
value of this embedded derivative was nil as at the issue
date and 31 December 2009. This convertible note was
early redeemed in full at a consideration of HK$25,000,000
in July 2010, resulting in a loss on early redemption of
HK$703,000.

32. TR ER

FREREAT
() R2009F4H30H #7722 Aj B RE
5

AR A R2009F4H30R BT A S EAR
25,000,000/ 7t B & B & A2% 2 A #j%
ZE o AR BB TR E BT
BERBNFERES - ZRAIKRERE
AZBIENER046B T ZEREIRA
NN B)54,347,826 1% @A o

BEHH REXBRBH 2 DTFEDHR
HITRHEE - AESEHZATEER
FRBUBEEAR TEARETA
UES PATE RIE SRR EL E
WIS 2 BE - B EEHEH (0
B 3t AR o

AMERERERI ZEEN BT
REBRNE1412%ERERFEEFTE -

RIBAT MR Z R 2GR RES  AQ A
TR EIHA B AT 2 {7 B 4R 4R ) 2
BAEABHELELRZELAE@MBEAN
LA100% 2 R EEA S (2 PHHH)
BRI RIE - RIBE B 5T %8I E325% -
ZEOEEXBZARNITELR - REHE
VEEMGEM-EEFEBRERAQA
ZE R RE1T B H K20094F 12 A31
B ZBARTAET A AFEERE -
ZO B R EBRERFER201067HER
825,000,000 Tt 2= HEE - E B EE
12 5 /& 0] E518703,00078 7T ©
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32. CONVERTIBLE NOTE (Continued)

The Group and Company (Continued)
(i) Convertible note issued on 18 November 2010

The Company issued a convertible note with zero coupon
interest on 18 November 2010 as part of the consideration
on the acquisition of Power Great Group as set out in note
38(a). The convertible note is denominated in HKD and will
mature in the third anniversary of the date of issuance. The
nominal value of the note is HK$780,000,000 and it can be
converted into ordinary shares of the Company at the price
of HK$0.5 per conversion share. A total of 1,560,000,000
shares will be issued upon full conversion. In accordance
with the terms of the convertible note, the Company
shall redeem the convertible note on maturity date at the
redemption amount which is 100% of the principal amount
of the convertible note then outstanding. The Company
has the right to elect to settle the redemption in cash or by
the issue of conversion shares at the conversion price or
a combination of both. In the opinion of the directors, the
convertible note is an equity instrument as the Company
has the option to issue shares at the conversion price on
maturity date. The Company has no obligations to redeem
the convertible note in cash. Accordingly, the nominal
value of the note of HK$780,000,000 was credited to the
convertible note equity reserve on the date of issue of the
note.

32. AR E R (&)

AXEBERAEAT (8)
(i) R2010%11518H #7712 A[# 4%
£

AR R2010F 11 B18 8 Bt KT 5E38(a)FT
BUEREREB T OPREMBETTR
BAMRER - AIRREBRASITEE -
BRTHHBRTE-AFIH - ZEE
{B4780,000,0007 7T + A LA 5 A% #2 A% A%
POSHEBIT 2 EBEREBRAARRNA LB
AR ERW RS ERE  FE LT
1,560,000,0008% % 15 © 1R 1% 7] #2 ix = 4%
ZER AR BB B IR E D K&
(AR EBEER 2 AEERNSRE
2100%) FEEI AT MR FER - N QA B #E
BENEFN  OERRBRRERET
BB GOz H  SirE L mES R
N HERRE -EFRAE JERE
BrRE=RTE BAAARRQEAENE H
AEMBREZETRG -A_rWERE
AR & BB R Al AR 245 o Rt - R8T
ZEE H - m{E780,000,000/8 T2 E#H
ERARMBREEESFEE -

-

—— mEHRERER DA » 2010 F ]|
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32. CONVERTIBLE NOTE (Continued)

The convertible note recognised in the statement of financial

32. kxR ()
S PIES A L S R

position is calculated as follows: e
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Liability Equity

component component

BEH EamE o

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

T T FAT

At 1 January 2009 1200941 A1H - -
Face value of convertible note R2009%F4 H30H #1172

issued on 30 April 2009 AR EREE 15,511 9,489
Imputed interest expense & 55 A B S i (M9 7E8(a))

(note 8(a)) 1,555 -
Interest paid BRHE (242) -
At 31 December 2009 200912 H31H 16,824 9,489
Imputed interest expense fE 5% A B S i

(note 8(a)) (Fff 5E8(a)) 1,452 -
Interest paid B E (292) -
Release of equity component i) - (3,176)
Redemption of convertible note HE [0] AT # iR R4 (18,687) (6,313)
Loss on redemption of LB i g

convertible note (note 7) &5 18 (B sE7) 703 =
Face value of convertible note R2010F11 A18H &7 2

issued on 18 November 2010 AR EEATE

(note 38(a)) (KT 7E38(a)) = 780,000
At 31 December 2010 R2010%F12A31H - 780,000
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(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (JA ot &)

33. DEFERRED TAX

Details of the deferred tax assets and (liabilities) recognised

33. IEXEHIE
ENERABRERBEER (AE) 2

and movements during the year: 15 K &
Accelerated Intangible Tax
tax depreciation assets losses Total
I 3E i I8
g HEEEE BEESE st
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THETT THET FHET T
At 1 January 2009 M2009F1 H1H - - - -
Arising from acquisitions REZWEBEE
during the year (note 38(b)) (Bt 5E38(b)) (779) (11,682) - (12,461)
At 31 December 2009 R2009612/431H (779) (11,682) - (12,461)
(Charged)/credited to profit (k) FrAB =R
or loss (note 9) (B$5E9) (7,386) 35 4,714 (2,637)
At 31 December 2010 M2010F12H31H (8,165) (11,647) 4,714 (15,098)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is EERBEENBERE B EZREH
1T HE I K 35 DA B 3l 3E 54 18 /5 [R) — 750 745 1
BT AEELREE A TRELEH

BARARBIREHREET SR -

a legally enforceable right to set off when the deferred tax
related to same fiscal authority. The following amounts,
determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group
XEE

2010 2009
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FiET THT
Deferred tax liabilities FEFRIBE E (19,812) (12,461)
Deferred tax assets REFIRE = 4,714 -
(15,098) (12,461)

- — REHRERER DA » 2010 F ]|
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(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (JA7 7ot &)

33.

34.

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in
note 4(m), the Group had HK$18,856,000 (2009:
HK$35,510,000) unused tax losses at the end of the
reporting period. No deferred tax asset for the unused tax
losses was recognised for the year ended 31 December
2009 as it was not probable that future taxable profits
against which the losses could be utilised would be available
in the relevant tax jurisdiction and group entity. Tax losses
as at 31 December 2009 were in respect of the subsidiaries
in the US which were disposed of during the year (note
37(a)).

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

a) The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a
defined contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, both
the employer and each employee are required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employee’s
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$20,000 by each party. Contributions to
the plan vest immediately.

b)  Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in
the PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) organised
by the relevant local government authorities, whereby
the Group is required to make contributions to the
Schemes at a rate ranging from 18% to 22% of the
eligible employees’ salaries. The local government
authorities are responsible for the entire pension
obligations payable to the retired employees.
The obligations are calculated based on a certain
percentage of the basic payroll.

33.

34.

IEEBIE (48)

BAR W FE4M)ETE 2 25T SR - A KB
73R 45 HA 8 45 3R 5 5 18,856,0007% JT
(20094 : 35,510,000/ 7T ) Z A &) A %t
BHEE AR EENS R EER RSB
ERTA e EEAEEEERZARE
R At | BRI A B AL 222009 4F 12 H 31
ALEFERRABAREBESE CELTH
TBEE - A2009412 A31 8 2 B E & 12
DHEBERAFELEZEZHKE QA
(Bt sE37(a)) °

EEEAKERN

a AEBEBREBEEBAGELERE
EEG - BREBESERBELZIE
ZEEBRERFEARSE ([&
Borrdll) - REEFEHB
VEFABEREZ EREEFGR NG
- REwERHE  EXREE
ESBBEEEZBEBKRAZS%
ERHE - S HTABBERAL
20,000/ T & EBR o MEFEI1EH <
KA EEEMRE -

b) WREFEMEELSBRAUEER &
SE2EMARE MR KEEE
ZEBEREAKRBHE ([ZF
sHElD - Bt - ARBAKAER
BEHFSN F18%E2%MZF5
SEH R - BT AL E
NEKEEzZ2HMEREELER
B ZFEEIREEAFE X
EE»aE -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (JA ot &)

35. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS

The Company had a share option scheme which was
adopted on 6 March 2002 (“Old Scheme”) for a period
of ten years commencing from 6 March 2002 whereby
the directors of the Company were authorised, at their
discretion, to invite employees of the Group, including
directors of any companies within the Group, to take up
options to subscribe for shares of the Company. The terms
and conditions of the grant were determined by the Board
at the time of grant. The exercisable period of an option
was not to exceed a period of ten years commencing on
6 March 2002. The options gave the holder the right to
subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company. A nominal
consideration of HK$1 was payable by the grantee upon
acceptance of an option. Options were forfeited if the
employee leaves the Group.

The Company adopted a new share option scheme on
28 May 2010 (“New Scheme”). The New Scheme is for a
period of ten years commencing from 28 May 2010. Upon
the adoption of the New Scheme, the Old Scheme was
immediately terminated. The terms and conditions of the
New Scheme are the same as the Old Scheme except for
the effective period of the option scheme. Any share options
granted under the Old Scheme are still valid and follow
terms of Old Scheme. No share options has been issued
under the New Scheme up to 31 December 2010.

35. RABERLUKRGBHRZX 5

A2 A FA200243 A6 H £ 4 — 18 BE A% 1
sTEI([E5H8]]) - B200243A6R it
BHI0F Bt AR EZESEFRER
BRASEEE (BEASEEMKE
RAIZEZ)BREBRE URBAA
AR BRHEHZBGREEGERETFER
RERETE BREZT TITEHTE
B8 B2002F3 H6H & T F o B AR #E
BTPHBEAEFNREARR LB - &
REREZANTREMNERER B
NEBAREBIBLT -WEEBBHALAS
AR R R AR o

NA A 20105 A28 4y — IH ¥ i
A st &l ([#hst&l]) - #Et &8l 820105
5H28H 5 AH104F » IRMNFTHEIE -
ESINERIE -RERESSEZBR
SN - FrEt Bl 2 R RAG B E T &
MR o B IR E G 83 L 2 0] B AR T
BAEM WAEAEBBRETE ZERK B
Z£2010F12A31H » BEE B E AT 2 %
ITREARHE -

-

= — HREHRERER DA 2010 F ]|
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A% %5 8k 3R Mt 5E

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (JA 7ot &)

35. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(4&)
a) The terms and conditions of the share options that a)
existed during the year ended 31 December 2010
under the Old Scheme were as follows and all options

35. RAGERLUKRGBHRZX 5

AT B £2010F12A318 IEF
ERBEEITFE 2 BRI 2 55K
K FTEBRELNEBERR

are settled by physical delivery of shares: s -
Contractual Contractual
Vesting exercise  Number of life of
Date of grant condition Exercise period price options options
R
BB GRRK fTiEfR BNfTEE BREXE SHEH
Options granted to directors:
BTEZ2ERE
- on 22 August 2007 I[mmediately 22 August 2007 to 5 March 2012 HK$0.375 35,000,000 4.5 years
- W2007F8 A22H e 20074822 B E20124°3A5H 0.37578 T 45%
- on 21 August 2008 I[mmediately 21 August 2008 to 5 March 2012 HK$0.180 7,000,000 3.5 years
- #2008%8A21H ks 20088721 HE201263 50 0180787 3.5%
- on 22 April 2010 Immediately 22 April 2010 to 5 March 2012 HK$0.390 9,000,000 2 years
- 1201054 A22H il 201064 220 20123 A5H 0.3907% T 2
Option granted to employees:
RTEBCERE:
- on 26 January 2007 Immediately 26 February 2007 to 25 February 2012 HK$0.189 97,250,000 5 years
- R2007%1A26H il 200752 A26 0 £2012F2 A25H 0.189% T 55
- on 22 August 2007 I[mmediately 22 August 2007 to 5 March 2012 HK$0.375 348,190,000 4.5 years
- R2007F8 A22H e 200748228 E201243A5H 0.37578 T 45%
-on 21 August 2008 I[mmediately 21 August 2008 to 5 March 2012 HK$0.180 6,000,000 2.5 years
- W2008%8A21H ks 20088521 HE20123 450 0180787 2.5%
- on 22 April 2010 Immediately 22 April 2010 to 5 March 2012 HK$0.390 209,400,000 2 years
- 120104228 Bl 201064 A22H E2012F3 A5H 0.3907% 7T 2
Total share options
BEhEay

711,840,000



Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 55 3R R B 5E

e

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise
of the shares options during the year was HK$0.47 (2009:
HK$0.24).

The options outstanding at 31 December 2010 had exercise
prices of HK$0.375, HK$0.189, HK$0.180 and HK$0.390
(2009: HK$0.035, HK$0.053, HK$0.189, HK$0.375,
HK$0.18 and HK$0.06) respectively and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 1.2 years (2009: 2.1 years).

C) Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for share options
granted is measured with reference to the fair value of
share options granted. The estimate of the fair values of the
services received is measured based on the Black-Scholes
option pricing model or Binomial lattice option pricing
model. Lives of the options are incorporated into the model.

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA At &) }
L
35. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 35. RAGHLUKRGARZRE S
TRANSACTIONS (Continued) (&)
b) The number and weighted exercise prices of share by BREZEE MINETEBOT :
options are as follows:
2010 2009
Weighted Weighted
average Number average Number
exercise of share exercise of share
price options price options
InHEFE hniE 5
fTiEE BBIREHRE IEE BREHE
HK$ ’000 HK$ "000
T T 78T T4
Outstanding at beginning REFHRITHE
of the year 0.233 967,950 0.221 1,055,250
Granted during the year FARH 0.390 220,000 - -
Exercised during the year FRNITEE 0.131 (476,110) 0.077 (86,800)
Lapsed during the year FANKRK - - 0.375 (500)
Outstanding at the end RERERITHE
of the year 0.351 711,840 0.233 967,950
Exercisable at the end RERA FITE
of the year 0.351 711,840 0.233 967,950

FRN - EREETES B2 NEFHR
B /50.477% 7T (20094 : 0.2477T) °

MR2010F12A31H » WARITHEEREZ
1T1E B 5 5l £0.375% 7T ~ 0.1897% It »
0.1807% 7T % 0.8390/% T (20094F : 0.035
7 JC ~ 0.0537 7T * 0.189% JT * 0.375/8
JC * 0.18% 7T %0.06/87T) + M in4EF 5
BT EAFH A1.29F (2000F 1 2.16F) »
c) BREZATERREBR

BN EREESRS 2 AFET)
2EMBLEREZ AFEFE - T
BRBEZAFENREEHBERETE
Rk A B g AR i B B AR A 5T o
ZEXNEBEREZFHFAETR -

B

-

-~ ¢
A

—=— mEHRERER DA ° 2010 F ]|
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(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (JA 7ot &)

35. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

C) Fair value of share options and assumptions
(Continued)
Fair value of share options and assumptions

35. REGHURHBMHARZX 5
(48)
o BREZAFERBRE
BRIEZ A TAER B

21 August 22 August 26 January 2 November

2008 2007 2007 2006
20085 2007 20074 20065
8A21H 8A22H 1A26H 11A2H

Date of grant 22 April 7 November
2010 2008
R B 20104 20084
4A22H 11A78
Fair value at measurement date HK$0.087 HK$0.014
Rt ER M ATE 0.087/8 7T 0.0147%8 7T
Share price HK$0.39 HK$0.06
BB 0.3978 7T 0.0678 7T
Exercise price HK$0.39 HK$0.18
176E(E 0.39% T 0.18% T
Expected volatility 72.06% 58.06%
TEH R 13
Expected life 2 years F 1 year F
8 S HY
Expected dividends 0% 0%
FEHR S

Risk-free interest rate (based on the

yields to maturity of Hong Kong

Exchange Fund Note) 0.58% 0.48%
ERRANE(REBIEESRE

B ERGE)

The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility
(by reference to the weighted average remaining life of
the share options), adjusted for any expected changes to
future volatility by reference to publicly available information.
Expected dividends are based on historical dividends.
Changes in the subjective input assumptions could
materially affect the fair value estimate.

The Group recognised total expenses of HK$19,200,000
(2009: Nil) in respect of the equity-settled share-based
payment transactions during the year (note 8(b)).

HK0.032 ~ HK$0.035  HK$0.011 HK$0.013
008287  0035&7T 0011 00138

HK$0.18 HK$0.375 HK$0.189 HK$0.053
0188 7T 0.375%8 7T 0.189/8 7T 0.053% 7T

HK$0.18 HK$0.375 HK$0.189 HK$0.053
0.18% T 0.375%8 7T 0.189% 7T 0.0537% 7T

50.73% 56% 33.7% 85.73%

1year & 0.17vyear & 0.16year & 0.75 year FF

0% 0% 0% 0%

1.63% 4% 3.725% 3.6%

BHERETAESL R EREE (2RE
2 MEFARGFERFE) Lk
AR BER Z AHARKKE Z B 1E
HEAE - FAHRB TIRE LB RIKE
TEBRRIED A YR FEMBABEK
EARE-

RAFE  NREBBABEARAEE L
DSR2 R P 2 #3 H119,200,000/8
JC (20094 : BB T) (M7E8(b)) °
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At the special general meeting on 16 August 2010,
the shareholders approved to increase the authorised
share capital of the Company from HK$100,000,000
divided into 10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each to
HK$250,000,000 divided into 25,000,000,000 shares of
HK$0.01 each.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to
one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary
shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual
assets.

36. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 36 EXRfHE
a) Share capital a) BK&&EX
(i) Authorised and issued share capital () JEEREZFITHRA
The Company
AT
2010 2009
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
BR&EE &8 17 8 B Kk
’000 HK$’000 000 HK$’ 000
T THERT Fh& FHET
Authorised EE
Ordinary shares of FREE0.01B T
HK$0.01 each ZEmk 25,000,000 250,000 10,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid ERTRARE
Ordinary shares of BREE.O1ET
HK$0.01 each 2 AR
At beginning of the year RE 4,386,148 43,861 4,226,884 42,269
Shares issued on exercise 17 150 SR AR 1 3 P
of warrants (iii) BT IR (i) 226,000 2,260 = =
Shares issued under share BB 2
option scheme (iv) BITRRAA(iv) 476,110 4,761 86,800 868
Shares issued for acquisitions (v) B BT AR (2 (v) 1,560,000 15,600 72,464 724
Shares issued on placing (vi) 1R B & 21T R (vi) 2,493,220 24,932 - -
At end of the year RER 9,141,478 91,414 4,386,148 43,861

M20105F8H16E MR FRIAE - IRE
HE & 1% 78 A &% FE AR 28 85100,000,000
7 7L 9 410,000,000,000% & A% ™ &
0.017 7T 2 B& {3 3 11 £250,000,000/% T
7 A25,000,000,0008% & A% ™ {80.017%
TZIRG -

EREFEABRERIASEIR RS
YHEARARBAEG LBRAIE-—RIKERE -
MEEBRBARRZHRTEEZAR

-

N— REHRZERERD A » 2010 F ]|
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36. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

a) Share capital (Continued)
(i) Issue of warrants

The Company entered into a separate agreement on
issuance of warrants on 7 June 2010 and 10 November
2010. Pursuant to the agreements, the Company issued
600,000,000 and 250,000,000 unlisted warrants at the
price of HK$0.01 and HK$0.005 each on those dates
respectively. The contractual exercise prices of the
warrants are HK$0.22 and HK$0.53 per subscription share,
respectively. The proceeds of HK$7,250,000 were credited

to warrant reserve.

(i) Shares issued on exercise of warrants

During 2010, 226,000,000 warrants were exercised to
subscribe for 226,000,000 (2009: Nil) ordinary shares in the
Company at a consideration of HK$49,720,000 (2009: Nil)
of which HK$2,260,000 (2009: Nil) was credited to share
capital and the balance of HK$47,460,000 (2009: Nil) was
credited to the share premium account. HK$2,260,000
(2009: Nil) was transferred from the warrant reserve to the

share premium account accordingly.

(iv)  Shares issued under share option scheme

During 2010, options were exercised to subscribe for
476,110,000 (2009: 86,800,000) ordinary shares in
the Company at a consideration of HK$62,284,000
(2009: HK$6,678,000) of which HK$4,761,000 (2009:
HK$868,000) was credited to share capital and the balance
of HK$57,523,000 (2009: HK$5,810,000) was credited
to the share premium account. HK$7,966,000 (2009:
HK$1,301,000) was transferred from the share option
reserve to the share premium account in accordance with

accounting policy set out in note 4(o)(ii).

36 EXRf#E (&)

a) BEE(E)

(i)  FITRIREZE

ANRAF 20106 A7 H &2010%11 A10
HEBRT LB LGS BEZSHE
KRB RIR L B HIZRS%0.01%8
7T 0.0057% 7T 2 {8 1& % 17600,000,000
7 %250,000,00017 3F £ T R -
REEIZ2ENTEEI N REBRR
B8 B% {30.22%8 JT %0.537% 7T ° AT 15 3 8
7,250,000/ 7T B 5T A RIREFE (# & o

(ii)  TTIERIRIEE R B TIR (7
20104 » 226,000,00017 R B # &
B 1T {F AR B AR A 75226,000,000
B8 (20094 : &) T @R RE A
49,720,000 JT (20094 : ) - H &
2,260,000/ 7T (20094F : %) 5+ AR -
# T 47,460,000/ 7t (20094 : #) &
AR s BB - #& 1tk - 2,260,000/ 7T
(2009%F : B)EERREEHEBERES
&% 15 % B Bk ©

(iv) IR EETRG

20106 - BRECBITEURBEAR
a]476,110,000/% (2009 : 86,800,000
fg) Z@ik - R{E /62,284,000%
7t (20094 : 6,678,000/8 x) * H
4,761,000 jt (20094 : 868,000/8
JL) AT AR A - # 57,523,000 7T
(20094 : 5,810,000/ Jt) 5T A B 17 3%
BER o IRIBHF40)()FTH 2 & 5T BE
7,966,0007% 7T (20094 : 1,301,000/
) EEEREREEBERMDEER -
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36. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued) 36 EXRNGEE ()
a) Share capital (Continued) a) BEE(E)
(v)  Shares issued for acquisitions (v) FHEZETRG
On 17 February 2009, the Company’s issued share capital MR2009F2/17H @ & @ % 17
was increased by HK$724,000 through the issue of 72,463,768M% B 0 LA VE 7% W HE # 0& 1A
72,463,768 shares as part of the consideration to acquire B (F R 5E38(b)) 2 EBHKE * AR A
the Liulouyu Oil Field as set out in note 38(b). The fair Z B E LT AR 724,000 T o KB
value of the consideration shares as determined by the f% 19 2 A F 18 426,811,000/ 7T © Jh 1%
closing market price of HK$0.37 per share on 17 February 2009424178 (Bl5EpK B #3) 2 W (B
2009 (being the date of completion) was HK$26,811,000. FR0I7TELEE - BITH KO Z R E
The premium on the issue of new shares amounted to #$26,087,000/ 7T - EFt ARMNDEERK °
HK$26,087,000 was credited to the share premium
account.
On 15 November 2010, the Company’s issued share MN2010FE 11 A15H & & @ & 17
capital was increased by HK$15,600,000 through the issue 1,560,000,000% i% 17 LA 1 & I i B R &
of 1,560,000,000 shares as part of the consideration to ® (F R 5E38()) 2B KE - XA A
acquire the Power Great Group as set out in note 38(a). The 2 B 17 % A 12 H015,600,000/% JT ° X
fair value of the consideration shares as determined by the B 2 18 A748,800,000/8 7T * T4
closing market price of HK$0.48 per share on 15 November 2010411 8158 (Bl B #) 2 Y
2010 (being date of completion) was HK$748,800,000. BEROASEITLETE - B1THKRMHZ %
The premium on the issue of new shares amounted to & A733,200,000/8 7T * Bt AR EE
HK$733,200,000 was credited to the share premium HR o
account.
(vi)  Shares issued on placing Vi) EHIEZETRG
During 2010, 874,000,000, 750,000,000 and 869,220,000 M20104%F » 874,000,000 &% -
ordinary shares were subscribed at HK$0.198, HK$0.22 and 750,000,0000% X869,220,000/% X 3 i
HK$0.45 per share and the corresponding proceeds were 7 BlI#£0.1987% 7T * 0.227% 7T }0.457% 7T
of HK$173,052,000, HK$165,000,000 and HK$391,149,000 ZEBRERE HEZMAERES IR
respectively. Accordingly, the Company’s issued share 173,052,000/ 7t * 165,000,000/% 7t &
capital was increased by HK$24,932,000 and the balance 391,149,000 7T c EH It - AR A2 B #
of the proceeds of HK$689,061,000, after deducting direct 77 % 7K 12 124,932,000 7T © i FT 15 &
issued costs of HK$15,208,000, was credited to share 15 #£ 88689,061,000/8 7t (B Mk B 5 %
premium. 17 BX 215,208,000 7T ) E & A B 1D &

N— REHRZERERD A o 2010 F ]|
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36. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued) 36. BN GEE (8)

b) The Company b) AATF
Convertible
Share Share  Contributed Share option Warrant  note equity Accumulated
capital  premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total

dREE  TRRER
ks RbwE  G8ER BRERS B REEE  RIGH it
Nofes  HKSO0D  HKS'000  HKBOOD  HKS'000  HKSOD  HKS'0O0D  HKBOOD  HKS000
W&  TEr  TEn  TEn TR TEr  TEn TEn Tin

At 1 January 2009 20091 71A 42,069 364,780 81,043 22,433 - - (385,232) 126,298
Issue of convertible note for  SIMERATEREE

acquisition 32 - - - - - 9,489 - 9,489
Shares issued for acquisifions ~ StHER{TRA 3612l 724 26,087 - - - 26811
Shares issued under share ~ REREHERAKG

option scheme 36(a)(iv) 868 7111 (1,301) - - 6,678
Loss and total comprehensive ~ AEEEER2ENE

income for the year &% - - - - (93,680)  (93,680)
At 31 December 2009 R2009F12A31R 43861 397,978 21,182 9489 (478912) 74,591
Issue of share options ke % - - 19,200 - - 19,200
Shares issued under share ~ REREHERTRA

option scheme 36(a)(v) 4,761 65,489 (7,966) - - 62,284
Redemption of converthle note  BEIATARZE 3 - - - 6,313) - 6:313)
Release of convertiblenote A AKEEERERE

equity reserve id & - - - (3,176) 3176 -
Shares issued for acquisiion ~~ SLRER AR Bl 15600 733200 - - - 748800
lssue of convertible note for  SERERTTRRZE

acquisition 32 - - - - 780,000 - 780,000
Shares issued on placing ERERTRN M) 24932 689,061 - - - T139®
Issue of warrants AR 36(ai) - - - - - 7250
Shares issued on exercise I RERRE

of warrants & 36{a)i 2,060 49,720 - - - 49,720
Proft and total comprehensive AR RH R 2 EME

income for the year et - - - - 17,720 17,720
At 31 December 2010 R2010% 123318 o4t 1935448 32,36 780000 (58016 2467245
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36. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue
of shares at a price in excess of their par value per share.
Share premium is not distributable but may be applied in
paying up unissued shares of the Company to be issued to
shareholders as fully paid bonus shares or to provide the
premiums on repurchase of own shares.

(i) Contributed surplus

Contributed surplus arises when the Company issues shares
in exchange for the shares of subsidiaries being acquired,
and represents the difference between the nominal value of
the Company’s shares issued and the value of net assets
of the subsidiaries acquired under the group reorganisation
in 1999 in preparation for the listing of the Company’s
shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong. Under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, contributed surplus is
available for distribution to shareholders. However, the
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of contributed surplus if:

- it is or would after the payment, be unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or

- the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share
capital and share premium account.

(iii) ~ Share option reserve

The share option reserve represents the fair value of the
actual or estimated number of unexercised share options
granted by the Company and recognised in accordance with
the accounting policy adopted for share-based payments as
set in note 4(0)(ii).

(iv)  Warrant reserve
Warrant reserve represents the net proceed received from
the issue of warrants by the Company.

(v)  Convertible note equity reserve

The reserve represents the equity component (i.e. option to
convert the note into shares) of convertible note issued by
the Company.

36. EXRf#E (&)

c) fEEMERRAE

) Ripal&

B fn it (B 45 A BB H B 0 & AR T (B (B 4% 3%
TR MEE 2 TR DK (E © Bin i
B R BIERUS AR A IERBUT AL M
BRBETZABTEROASERLR S K

DGR E -

(i) HAEE
RRBZHANERR A A RA TR
AR ANB AR ZRG - BER
ARAREBRITROBEEREIO9FEHE
BARBENETEBMARXZM EMM
ETZEBEEREMBANBAREEF
BeRZEZB -REARE-NAN-F
REVE BRBHAHDIK TR - A
m o fHEETHER - ARF A K
FR LR B BRBERIEL DK -

SN E Y NI RE X €A
AEEFHEE K

- ZBHREEZAEREEENAE-
EBITBA R )5 Bk 2 #%8 -

(i) FERERFE
BRERERENARREERLEZE
RYEFHE 2 HMARITTEBREZ AT
8+ I 2 ¥% BRHT 5= 4(0)(i) 3k AR D X+t 2
HIEMRAS T ERRBERAR

(v) BIREER
RIERE R RN B BT RBAE
B 2 FT S SIRFER ©

() ARRE R w1
BERRARARBELHZABRERRE 22
s Ef D (AR RIBE IR R 2B FHE) -
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36. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued) 36. AR RGEHE (&)
c) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued) c) EEMERRBEE)
(vi)  Exchange reserve i) [ELEE
The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange EHHERERBERBUAINER 2B
differences arising from the translation of the financial BMERMEE ZFTABINEZRE - IR
statements of operations outside Hong Kong which are MsE4n)FTEl 2 2T BRRER ©

dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy as set
out in note 4(n).

(vii) Capital reserve i) B fEE

Capital reserve represents capital contribution from the ERBHEEERBERUAREERZ AR
controlling owner in the form of interest-free loans. The ERZRZAEE - 2SR RELUERH
amounts are estimated by discounting the nominal value of TARTMSHERREMAEEIED
their non-interesting bearing loans to the Group at current ZEBEREMBEEITMHE

market interest rate for similar financial instruments.
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37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 37. HEMEBAST
a) Disposal of subsidiaries during the year a) #HZE2010F12H31HILEEER
ended 31 December 2010 HEMBAT
On 30 December 2010, the Group disposed of Ally Bond 2010612 A30R ' AEBEEXER
Group, whose activities are in oil exploitation and sale of HARMEE ZHABEE - HHBEER
crude oil. The net assets of Ally Bond Group as at the BB ZEEFBEDNT
completion date were as follows:

HK$’000
THET
Property, plant and equipment M - BB KRR (FaE17)

(note 17) 28,103
Intangible assets (note 20) A E (M E20) 43,092
Pledged deposits (note 24) BT R (M:E24) 1,130
Cash and cash equivalents e kReEEYD 65
Other payables and accruals HEmEMNIERERER (1,708)
Provision (note 31) B (M5E31) (338)
Net assets disposed of it E&EEFE 70,344
Reclassification from BENGHEENSE

exchange reserve (334)
Non-controlling interest I 12 A% A 2 1,424

71,434
Gain on disposal (note 7) & 2 Wz (FYEET) 68,566
Total consideration mRE 140,000
Satisfied by: AR :
Cash consideration & WR & B (M 5E26())
receivable (note 26(i)) 14,000
Note receivable (note 27) FE M 1% (K sE27) 126,000
140,000
Net cash outflow arising HEMEL ZIH SR FE
on disposal:
Cash and cash equivalents It EReRBESEEYER
balances disposed of (65)

Ally Bond Group contributed HK$ Nil to the Group’s
turnover and a loss of HK$14,248,000 for the period to the

date of disposal.

HAEEHERS HAEEAELAEH
EERMERTBILER R Z2EKEE
14,248,000/ 7T °
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(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (JA ot &)

King Giant Group contributed HK$734,000 to the Group’s
turnover and a profit of HK$266,000 for the period to the

date of disposal.

37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 37. HEKMB AT (&)
(Continued)
a) Disposal of subsidiaries during the year a) #EHZE2010F12A31BILEER
ended 31 December 2010(Continued) HEMBAT ()
On 30 December 2010, the Group disposed of King Giant R2010F12A30H * AEBEEERER
Group, whose activities are in oil exploitation and sale of HAREEEZEBER - EREER
crude oil. The net assets of King Giant Group as at the TEKBEHCEEFENAT
completion date were as follows:
HK$’ 000
FHET
Intangible assets (note 20) | A = (M 5E20) 5,575
Trade and other receivables JE UK BR 3K R EL At 8 s 50 IE 294
Cash and cash equivalents ReELREEEY 171
Other payables and accruals HEaERELERER (271)
Net assets disposed of Tt EEEFE 5,769
Reclassification from
exchange reserve BELFEBEENHE (1)
5,768
Gain on disposal (note 7) &z W (BYEE7) 4,232
Total consideration BHRE 10,000
Satisfied by: XftAR
Cash consideration FE W3R & (B (MY sE26())
receivable (note 26(i)) 1,000
Note receivable (note 27) FE W= 1% (Kt sE27) 9,000
10,000
Net cash outflow arising HEMEE RS MM FE
on disposal:
Cash and cash equivalents FFHERSRREEBYEH
balances disposed of (171)

HANEEHERY BER&EBEALAEE
& X % H B734,000% 7T - I 7 K% A
266,000/ Tt °
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37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

b) Disposal of subsidiaries during the year b) #HZE2009F12A31HIEEER
ended 31 December 2009 HEMBAT

As set out in note 12, on 11 May 2009, the Group disposed M sE12F7 H - R2009F5811H » K

of Excellent Group, whose activities are in the operation EELHERELREHEXRARERILA

of refilling stations supplying natural gas and LPG. The net HRZEBMCREER - BIELEERN

37. HEMBAT (8)

assets of Excellent Group as at the completion date were as SEXBHCEEFENT
follows:
HK$’ 000
F& T
Property, plant and equipment Wz - WEREE(HE17)

(note 17) 5,307
Land lease prepaid (note 18) T A E TR B (M FE18) 1,273
Inventories FE 90
Amount due from a JE U S 2 AR 4 2 IR

non-controlling interest 1,425
Other receivables E fib & W FRIE 148
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEESEEY 16,383
Other payables H i &5 508 (653)
Taxation THIiE (431)
Net assets disposed of FTh&EEEFE 23,542
Reclassification from exchange BELFEBEETE

reserve (16,456)
Direct costs incurred on disposal HEMEECBEEXA 877

7,963
Gain on disposal (note 12) &z s (fYsE12) 11,593
Total consideration BB 19,556
Satisfied by: SHHAR:

Cash consideration received RS RE 1,500
Note receivable FE W = B8 18,056
19,556

Net cash outflow arising HEMEL ZIF SR FE

on disposal:

Cash consideration received BEWReRE 1,500

Cash and cash equivalents FIHEReRESEEYER

balances disposed of (16,383)

Cash paid for direct costs incurred  FLFTELEEK AL 2R E (877)

(15,760)

Excellent Group contributed HK$19,279,000 to the Group’s
turnover and a profit of HK$2,422,000 for the period to the

date of disposal.

HREZHERY REEEALAEE
& 258 ER19,279,000 7T 0 I A 2R
H|2,422,000/% TT

-
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38. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES 38. EEMI B AT
a) Acquisitions of subsidiaries during the year a) #HE2010F12A31HIEEER
ended 31 December 2010 I BE B AT
() Power Great Limited ()  BEARA A

R2010F11 8150 + AEE BB UER
Iz 2R QA B EE R R F100%
T i [ 52 WU B B 22 100% AR 4 RN R
Mk 2 L gEtm s LA HEK —IHE
% Mt IERE R RIEREE A E KK
EEEAR RIZrZENREEERIDE
REREE BEFEAEEB DER
ENERBE ER o PTUN B & B 5 E 2 A FE 5

On 15 November 2010, the Group indirectly acquired a
100% equity interest of OEl by acquiring a 100% equity
interest of Power Great Limited, the holding company of
OEl. The acquisition was accounted for as purchase of
assets and assumption liabilities since the operation of
OEl did not constitute a business for accounting purpose.
OEl solely engages in coalbed methane exploration,
development and production and the project was in the

exploration stage as at year end. Details of the costs of net T
assets acquired are as follows:
HK$’000 HK$°000
FHERT TFHET
Gas exploration and evaluation RKARHENTEHEE 2,570,586
assets (note 19) (ftzE19)
Property, plant and equipment M - BB & (K sE17)
(note 17) 1,665
Cash and cash equivalents HeMBEEED 4,682
Other receivables E 4th e W 3008 1,433
Other payables and accruals HmEIERIERER (269,566)
2,308,800
Satisfied by: AR :
Cash consideration paid BENEERE 280,000
§ Cash consideration payable FE IR & R (E (K1 5E30)
5 (note 30) 500,000
3 Issue of ordinary shares RATEETEBR
3 at fair value (note 36(a)(v)) (Pt ££36(2)(v)) 748,800
2 Issue of convertible note (note 32) ETABmREE (M5E32) 780,000
=
é 2,308,800
]
§ Net cash outflow arising from EUWEEE L 233 & 55
- acquisition:
% Cash consideration paid ENRERE (280,000)
"9; Cash and cash equivalents FriER S RBESEEY
g: acquired 4,682
o
o
1 éo (275,318)
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38. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
a) Acquisitions of subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 December 2010 (Continued)
(i)  Power Great Limited (Continued)
As part of the consideration is to be settled by the
Company’s equity instruments, the acquisition is an equity
settled share-based payment transaction. According to
HKFRS 2, the fair value of the equity instruments should
be recognised based on the fair value of the net assets
acquired. However, the directors of the Company consider
that it would be more prudent and appropriate to measure
the fair value of the net assets acquired by reference to
the fair value of the equity instruments to be issued, as
the valuation of the Group’s participating interest in the
production sharing contract is based on the reserve of
the coalbed methane resources, which cannot be reliably
measured at this moment. The amount by which the
consideration exceeded the net assets acquired as at
completion date is included as cost of gas exploration and
evaluation assets on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

b) Acquisition of subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 December 2009
(i) Toppace Limited
On 17 February 2009, the Company acquired a 100%
of the issued capital of Toppace Limited. On the same
date, a subsidiary of Toppace Limited entered into a
transfer agreement with Shenzhen Yong You Investment
Development Company Limited (“Yong You”), an
independent third party which was established in the
PRC. Pursuant to the transfer agreement, the subsidiary
acquired all the rights and obligations of Yong You has
under a development contract. The transfer agreement
therefore gives the subsidiary the rights and obligations to
participate in an oil exploitation project for the exploitation,
development and production of a number of oil wells
located in Ganguan County, Shaanxi Province, the PRC (the
“Liuluoyu Qil Field”) for a period up to 2023. The subsidiary
also acquired, under the transfer agreement, the business
assets (other than property, plant and equipment) and
assumed the liabilities of Yong You associated with the
operation of the Liuluoyu Oil Field, and the rights to use the
onsite plant, machinery and facilities for the exploration,
evaluation and development of the Liuluoyu Oil Field.

g

L

38. WrkEHMI B2 (&)

a) #HEF20105F12A31HILEEER
WeBEBI B AT (48)
()  HERBRAL G (E)
MR EKREREABAZEFELY
PREBAATNZB/ATAIN - K
BE - ERAGEURENRZRS -
REEBSTBRE LR F25H WAL
B ATFEERERBAESEFEZA
FETAER - AT ARATEERA -
MAAEBRER O RARMBEERS
ZEENREREEREEREMEL
MER RN EHERAREE  FERK
BEEFEZ ATFERBUAE FEITZR
ATEAZAFEELEZERABRERE
EomREBEEXAHMKBEEF
BEZ2HEERNEATERARPEFAX
ARRHERFEEEZRA

b) #HZE2009F12A31HILLEER
WRER B AT
() ZEARABFRAA]
AN R FR2009F2 A17H W E R AR
NAalzEHERTRA BB EZ0A
RAR—KHBARE KNP BRI
CBURE=F—FYMBERREEESR
BRAR ([HR]) T EE W - RIEE
BEa ZHMBRARKERZARAE
RZFTBRANERER - AEEHES
THEBARBEAEU2ERAR RHELE
EVRTBRKAEE RG22 ZEHFZ
AHFARER (THsWHaE]) 2 MK
BEEZE2023%F c x M B R AR EEE
EEEER SR EERACELE
EMWE BEREERIN RAEESRH
ZEENRBEIE - GTE RARBIE
ISk E FTE RS~ B8 I s itE 2 #E R
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38. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

b) Acquisition of subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 December 2009 (Continued)

()  Toppace Limited (Continued)

As supported by a legal opinion issued by a firm of PRC
lawyers, the directors are of the opinion that the Group is
entitled to the rights and obligations of the development
contract and participate in the exploitation and production
of crude oil in the Liuluoyu Qil Field. Since the Group has,
in practice and substance, the power to govern the financial
and operational policies over the operation of the Liuluoyu
oil field, the Group consolidated the results of oil production
of the Liuluoyou Qil Field starting from 17 February 2009.

The fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired,
purchase consideration paid and goodwill arising are as
follows:

. W EEF B A S (8])

b) #HZE200912A31HIEEER
WKEEM B AS (&)

() EABRLE(E)
EHRBEEMESRHAZ ZRERLH
T EEZREAEBBERAELARTZ
R R E AT - 7] 2 BP0 h E R h
FRREE AR ANEBBEEERED
EEENNR I RMAEE 2 R EEECR
B It 72N & B 2 200942 A17 3 2 # 4
RIS A AREEEBEGAAR -

FrER MBI EEFEZAFE BN
BERERAMELZEENT :

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FAT FH T
Fair value of assets acquired and FriEEE R RKERE Y
liabilities assumed NSO
Property, plant and equipment M - BB &R (RE17)
(note 17) 46,441
Intangible assets (note 20) s & EE (Fff7%20) 42,531
Cash and cash equivalents e kReEED 11
Trade and other receivables JiE WAt B 3k K% HL i g U 5RIE 5,661
Trade and other payables F& AT BR 3R % HL A & A< 3018 (16,070)
Deferred tax liabilities (note 33) EETIE B & (MsE33) (10,932)
67,642
Satisfied by: THHAR:
Cash consideration ReRE 36,400
Issue of ordinary shares BAFERITEBR
at fair value (note 36 (a)(v)) (KF5E36(a)(v)) 26,811
Assignment of note receivable REEREEZRERER
at carrying value (notes 40) (K$3E40) 12,661
75,872
Goodwill (note 21) & (M5E21) 8,230
Net cash outflow arising from EIREEEE 23 € m HF 8 ¢
acquisition:
Cash consideration paid BERNESKE (36,400)

Cash and cash equivalents
acquired

PR e RREFEY

11

(36,389)
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38. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

b) Acquisition of subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 December 2009 (Continued)

(i) Toppace Limited (Continued)

The fair value of the shares issued was determined by

reference to the quoted market price of the Company

at the date of acquisition. The fair values of receivables

and payables were the same as the carrying amounts

immediately prior to the acquisition.

The Liuluoyu operation contributed HK$10,206,000 to the
Group’s turnover and a profit of HK$2,261,000 during the
period from 17 February 2009 to 31 December 2009.

Had the Group acquired Toppace Limited and its
subsidiaries on 1 January 2009, turnover of the Group
would have been increased by HK$11,319,000 and loss
for the year ended 31 December 2009 would have been
reduced by HK$2,521,000.

(i) Yanjiawan Oil Field

On 7 September 2009, a subsidiary of the Group entered
into an assignment agreement with Shenzhen Feng Yuan
Information Consultants Limited, an independent third party
which was established in the PRC (the “Assignor”). Under
the assignment agreement, the subsidiary acquired all the
rights and obligations the Assignor has under a development
contract. The assignment agreement therefore gives the
subsidiary the rights and obligations to participate in an oil
exploitation project for the exploitation, development and
production of a number of oil wells located in Yanjiawan,
Shananxi Province, the PRC (the “Yanjiawan Oil Field”) for
a period to 2023. The subsidiary also acquired, under the
assignment agreement, the business assets (other than
property, plant and equipment) and assumed the liabilities
of the Assignor associated with the Yanjiawan Oil Field, and
the rights to use the onsite plant, machinery and facilities
for the exploration, evaluation and development of the
Yanjiawan Oil Field.

38. WrkBHI B2 S (&)

b) #HZE2009412A31HIEEER

WERM B2 (8)
() ERBFRLA](E)
E%ﬁ%ﬁ RFEDZ2ERKERDH

REIZEBRMEEE ° BKFIE K& BN
RIEZ AP EEZEWER ZREER
ﬁ o

H200942 A17H £2009F12 A31H £
FSIMAEEAARNEB TR EXE
10,206,000 7T M & F112,261,0007% 7T °

fisl AN & B 1A2009F1 A1 H BB A & A ﬁ
BARIREMBAR  AIASE &

% R fE & 12 111,319,000/ 7T © M & =
2009F 12 H31H L FE 2 BE1E B[R FE R
42,521,0007% 7T °

mzoogigﬂm CAEE—RWEARF
H—RRF BRI 2B E =% 7
MERELEZANERAA ([EEAD T
VHEERE  REBERGE ZMBA
ANEEEARRECRRN B ER

REF BAHEEREG TEZHERA

A2EAR FAEREEMRFBEKE
tEREZEBH 2 ABFAKRER (M
FKEMHE]) BN RE EE20235F ° %
ME AR MR IRE R e W A

MREDHEBZEBEE (MWE - &
ERHRERIN REAEEBZzABAR
FEEDER - AT 4 KGR B B R & h | A iE A
BB - B3 S SR 2 BEF o

-
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38. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES 38. BB B AT (48)
(Continued)
b) Acquisition of subsidiaries during the year b) #HZE2009F12A31HIEEER
ended 31 December 2009 (Continued) W EEMIB AT (8)
(i) Yanjiawan Oil Field (Continued) (i)  BEXREHH (&)
As supported by a legal opinion issued by a firm of PRC ERBEEMESAEAEZEAZER I
lawyers, the directors are of the opinion that the Group is T EZRAEAEEHRERESR T2
entitled to the rights and obligations of the development WER| N B AL 0 I A 2 B R SR OE i A R R
contract and participate in the exploitation and production of AREEEE BRASBEHEEREND
crude oil in the Yanjiawan Oil Field. Since the Group has, in EERREHHEEE B REEER -
practice and in substance, the power to govern the financial B b A & B 2 FH2009F9A7H B i§ B R
and operational policies over the operation of the Yanjiawan EHA s AHEEEBEES AR -

Qil Field, the Group consolidated results of oil production of
the Yanjiawan Qil Field from 7 September 2009.

The fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired, Frus el sk R B E FE 2 AYE - B
purchase consideration paid and discount on acquisition BEREBENANKEALA ZWEBITIRAOT :
arising are as follows:

paywi sBUIP|OH SED pue |10 OulS e 0107 10daY [enuuy

w —
B

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FATT TAIT
Fair value of assets acquired and FriEEERAEGEZ
liabilities assumed ~NY¥E
Property, plant and equipment M - BB R (HRE17)
(note 17) 37,792
Intangible assets (note 20) & = (MisE20) 4,198
Trade and other receivables JE Ui BR 5k N B th R Ue 5ROE 759
Trade and other payables JFE {<F BR 30 N EL At FE 1< 5R0E (373)
Deferred tax liabilities (note 33) FEIER 1B & E (MY .&33) (1,529)
40,847
Satisfied by: XA
Cash consideration B 36,262
Excess of the Group’s share of SEBAERMGZ
net fair value of the interests NEFESREA
acquired over the cost of AN 2 5 FE (K E7)
acquisition (note 7) (4,585)

The Yanjiawan operation contributed HK$3,860,000 to the
Group’s turnover and a profit of HK$650,000 for the period
from 7 September 2009 to 31 December 2009.

It was not practical for the Group to obtain accurate
information on the revenue and result of the Yanjiawan
operation for the period from 1 January 2009 to 7
September 2009.

B20094F9A7H # £20094F12 A31H
HEERELELSAEEEEMEXER
3,860,0007 7t K & #11650,0007 JT °

7R £2 B KX AT e BR 1S 78 5% 2 R [ 12009
F1/81H §2009¢9H7EI IFHR 2 & E
WA R 48 7 B R -
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39. PRODUCTION SHARING CONTRACT

The Group currently has two production sharing
arrangements in the PRC.

(i)

On 28 March 2006, OEl (which the Group acquired on
15 November 2010 as set out in note 38(a)) entered
into a production sharing contract (the “Sanjiao PSC”)
with China United Coalbed Methane Corporation Ltd
("“CUCMCL") (the “PRC partner”) for the exploration,
development, production and sale of the coalbed
methane and other related or derivative products that
may exist in a total exploration area of approximately
461.74 square kilometers subject to reduction in
accordance with the Sanjiao PSC located in the Ordos
Basin of Shanxi and Shaanxi Provinces in the PRC (the
“Contract Area”).

Pursuant to the Sanjiao PSC, OEl is engaged as the
foreign partner and operator to provide the necessary
technology know how and assign its competent
experts to explore, develop, produce and sell coalbed
methane or coalbed methane products extracted from
the Contract Area. OEl and PRC partner have formed
a joint management committee as required under
the Sanjiao PSC and appointed representatives as
members of the committee (the “Joint Management
Committee”). The Joint Management Committee is
responsible to oversee the operation in the Contract
Area.

In April 2009, CUCMCL transferred all of its interests
and associated obligations with respect to certain gas
fields, including the areas covered by the Sanjiao PSC,
to PetroChina. The transfer has been approved by the
State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of the State Council. The formalities
and regulatory approvals and consents necessary
for the completion of such transfer of interests are in
progress. In the meantime, PetroChina has replaced
CUCMCL and already commenced participation in
the joint management of the project under the Sanjiao
PSC.

Under the Sanjiao PSC, the development of the
Contract Area is divided into the exploration phase,
development phase and production phase. OEI
is required to conduct core testing and run pilot
production to ascertain the potential commercial value
of the coalbed methane field in the planned exploration
area.
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39. PRODUCTION SHARING CONTRACT
(Continued)

(i)

(i

(Continued)

The exploration phase had an initial term of four
years and expired on 1 July 2010. The extension of
the exploration period to 30 June 2012 has been
approved. All costs incurred in the exploration phase
shall be borne by OEIl. The project will enter the
development phase when OEl has developed and
submitted a plan for the development of a coalbed
methane field or part of a coalbed methane field for
approved by the National Development and Reform
Commission (the “Overall Development Program”).

On commencement of the development phase, all
the development and operating costs shall be borne
as to 70% by OEl and 30% by the PRC partner,
except if the PRC partner chooses not to participate
in a particular site. If the PRC partner chooses not
to participate in a particular site, all the development
and operating cost will be fully borne by OEIl. Also, the
PRC partner’s participation can be less than 30% for
certain wells in respect of which the PRC partner will
not need to bear the development costs or will bear at
a specifically agreed percentage. As a result, the profit
sharing ratio will be adjusted according to their actual
participating interests in the coalbed methane field.

The Sanjiao PSC has a term of thirty years, with
production period not more than twenty consecutive
years beginning from the date of commencement
of commercial production to the expiry date of
the production period as specified in the Overall
Development Program, unless production is
suspended or abandoned in accordance with the
Sanjiao PSC or the production period is extended
under special circumstances, with the approval of the
relevant PRC authority.

As mentioned above, the development of the Sanjiao
PSC is currently in the exploration stage and no
income has been generated in the current year.

Details of the Jinzhuang PSC are set out in note 28.

The Group’s interest in the Sanjiao PSC and in the
Jinzhuang Oil Field under an operation agreement
which in substance is also a production sharing
contract, constitute jointly control operations, are
accounted for in accordance with the accounting
policy as set out in note 4(d).
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40. SIGNIFICANT NON-CASH
TRANSACTIONS

(a)

During the year, the Group acquired Power Great
Group at a consideration of HK$2,308,800,000 of
which HK$748,800,000 was settled by the issue of
1,560,000,000 shares of the Company (note 36(a)
(v)), issue of a convertible note with a carrying value
of HK$780,000,000 (note 32) and cash consideration
of HK$780,000,000. As at 31 December 2010, an
amount of HK$280,000,000 was paid and the balance
of HK$500,000,000 was included in “other payables
and accruals” as set out in note 30(i).

During the year, the Group disposed of Ally Bond
Group and King Giant Group for a consideration of
HK$150,000,000, comprising cash consideration
of HK$15,000,000 and promissory notes of
HK$135,000,000 (note 27). As at 31 December 2010,
the cash consideration receivables of HK$15,000,000
was included in “trade and other receivables, deposits
and prepayments as set out in note 26(j).

During the year, interest on loan to third parties of
HK$196,000 was capitalised as gas exploration and
evaluation assets (note 8(a)).

During the year 2009, the Group acquired a
subsidiary for a consideration of HK$75,872,000, of
which HK$26,881,000 was settled by the issue of
72,463,768 shares of the Company (note 36 (a)(v))
and an assignment of a note receivable with a carrying
value of HK$12,661,000 (note 38(b)(i)).

During the year 2009, the Group disposed of a
subsidiary group for a consideration of HK$19,556,000,
of which HK$18,056,000 was settled by way of a note
receivable. This note was subsequently assigned to the
controlling owner of the Company as partial settlement
of the loans due to him.
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41. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 41. BXER
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The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
owners and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of risk
and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between higher
owners returns that might be possible with higher levels of
borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by
a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the
capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the capital structure of the
Group consists of net debts, which include other payables
and accruals, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital and reserves.

The directors review the capital structure regularly. As part
of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through the payment of dividends,
new share issue as well as the issue of new debts or the
repayment of existing debts.
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41. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued) 4. EXEE (&)
The net debts-to-equity ratios at 31 December 2010 and 20104 200912 A31H 2 B FE
2009 were as follows: S =M
The Group
EEE
2010 2009
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHERT T T
Total debts: BEMERE
Other payables and accruals HtmENZREBERERER 878,952 21,767
Convertible note AR R - 16,824
Amount due to a controlling JE 151 428 iR AR 3R 53R
owner - 46,521
878,952 85,112
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B IREeNREEEY (242,529) (10,535)
Net debts B RE 636,423 74,577
Equity HEam 2,528,375 148,291
Net debts-to-equity ratio B FEEEm L = 25% 50%
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject RARKREEMHEBRRLNZINEBE
to externally imposed capital requirements. M2 EARREMBR -

42. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 42, EXEEHHE B &5 AR

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION EZ2EEHE
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the RERBASE 2 T BRE > EFAMN
directors are required to make judgement, estimates and ARELEMIFERNSZEERABZE
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and B 1E i #  fhAF RRER - b FT & 4E
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 2N mﬂ@ﬂ%ﬂfff““%ﬁ&/ﬁ\@?ﬁ?ﬁ)’fﬁﬁ
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on BREMEL - BERXEAEARIN
historical experience and other factors that are considered & E M o

to be relevant. Actual results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on Bt R AR BRR SRS EEER -

an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are AT E Z BRI R % fh5HE DTZHﬁ FEJ
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised R (MZETEZEZHE) - iﬁ/\ﬂx
if the revision affects only that period or in the period of AR R AR RARER (HEEFTFE
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both B MR REAMRE) -

current and future periods.
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42. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 42, E XS5 HE R &5 AHBAEA

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION EZ2EEHE(E)

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

a) Critical judgements in applying the Group’s a) AREEBRFAEAZEX
accounting policies S5 HER

() Recognition of share-based expenses (i) AR X2 B2

The Company has granted share options to directors and ARGEMEEEREERDBERE -

employees. Management has used valuation model to ERENEAMEENX BETERLE

determine the total fair value of the options granted, which f&tE 2 BATE - WHRFEBHARSH -

is to be expensed over the vesting period. Significant EREEAELDENHE  EREAZE

judgement, such as risk free rate, dividend yield and ERXN 228 WMERRNE  REX -

expected volatility and expectations of early exercise, is TEHIK B M FEBRAR R AT o E k- PRER

required to be made by management as the parameters for MZABRARBLEMNED K EERE

applying the valuation model. Accordingly, any changes to NFEZ BT ERNERTE -

the variables adopted may materially affect the estimation of
the fair value of share options.

(i) Participation in oil and gas exploitation and production (i) R 2 E S PR A
in the PRC

By way of a transfer agreement and an assignment ZREFEDELAEENS  A5EER
agreement, the Group has acquired the rights and 20095 2 R W BB 10 B 3 & A 2 #E M &
obligations of two development contract in 2009. Each B -BHHAEARFEAEER R ER
development contract enables to the Group to participate in REAKIER NPz mALEERKN
an oil and gas exploitation project to produce crude oil and RAR -BFAFELEXRHE  BA/KX
natural gas in an oil field in the PRC. Significant judgement SEE#2HE WHENEE S KA
is required from the directors that the Group has the rights RlRRXARBARREEZ A REE
to participate in, and the power to govern the financial and WE Bt ~"EEEREGEBA R
operational policies of the exploitation and production of KB 2EBINAREB ZEEA ©

crude oil and natural gas in oil fields in the PRC so that
the Group is entitled to consolidate the results from the
operation of these oil exploitation projects into the results of
the Group.
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42. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
which are described in note 4, management has made
certain key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimated uncertainty at the end of reporting
period, that may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, as discussed below.

(i) Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its
net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset, which requires
significant judgement relating to level of revenue and
amount of operating costs. The Group uses all readily
available information in determining an amount that is a
reasonable approximation of the recoverable amount,
including estimates based on reasonable and supportable
assumptions and projections of revenue and operating
costs. Changes in these estimates could have a significant
impact on the carrying value of the assets and could result
in additional impairment charge or reversal of impairment in
future periods.

(i) Impairment of receivables

The Group maintains impairment allowance for doubtful
accounts based upon evaluation of the recoverability of the
trade receivables and other receivables, where applicable,
at each the end of reporting period. The estimates are
based on the ageing of the trade receivable and other
receivables balances and the historical write-off experience,
net of recoveries. If the financial condition of the debtors
were to deteriorate, additional impairment allowance may be
required.
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42. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 42, E XS5 HE R &5 AHBAEA

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION EZ2EEHE(E)
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty b) @‘EIAHBERZEERRE
(Continued) (48)
(i) Income taxes and deferred taxation (i) BTiF PR R T
The Group is subject to income taxes in a number REBRBMNETRNEERZEH
of jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in EEMSMEERTZ(ELEXRAE -
determining the provision for income taxes. Transactions HFERGRFTEHAERAEXIEBIEF
and calculations may exist for which the ultimate tax BURERARE AEBZRBSS L
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of MEBINEBBIIE 2 (5T R TE N B &
business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated REEMELZBE MITFEFEHZR
tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes BN BERARYCZER 2B NR - Al
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters ZEERPETEFELARAREHBEZ
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, PSS SE R TR B4

such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is

made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary MR E R ER R B & ERDHE M Al #g
differences and tax losses are recognised to the extent RIBHE R Z R BIAEE - R A
that management considers it is probable that future ETERZBALRNBEBRABZELTR
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary BEE - WRBENNRAMGE  AIF
differences or tax losses can be utilised. Where the MEREN ARG EPH 2 HRTEER
expectation is different from the original estimate, such EMAEENMBIAZER -

differences will impact the recognition of deferred tax assets
and tax in the periods in which such estimate is changed.

(iv) Contingencies (iv) HEFE

Periodically, the Group assesses potential liabilities related AEBETHAGEEMBEARMAERRD
z to any lawsuits or claims brought against the Group or ZHBRIERATMBRERZEER
§_, any asserted claims. Although it is typically very difficult B BE " RMeBUREZEEFTLZ
kS to determine the timing and ultimate outcome of such REAIKEER NEEBEHKEH
3 actions, the Group uses its best judgement to determine BT tAMBAREHIAZEERE
3 if it is probable that it will incur an expense related to the MEERX  UMESHZFRIEERE
z settlement or final adjudication of such matters and whether (WMAE)EHE B - RBEFEGTE
3 a reasonable estimation of such probable loss, if any, AIEI7TH R HERBERKBEE -
2 can be made. In accordance with HKAS 37, Provisions, AEBREMEEAAREREBRETAS
2 Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, the Group Bt EReERELERBG - AN
g accrues a liability when it believes a loss is probable and RRBERAEZTIRERRZ B X
§ the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. Due to SEREHALAGESE kS
3 the inherent uncertainties related to the eventual outcome HETEEERR S BAMTEBL
% of litigation, although the Group believes that the estimates FIRBEELHIRERER -
E and judgements are reasonable, it is possible that certain
| matters may be resolved for amounts materially different
142 from any estimated provisions or previous disclosures.
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42. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 42, E XS5 HE R &5 AHBAEA

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)
(v)  Oil and gas reserves
Engineering estimates of the Group’s oil and gas reserves
are inherently imprecise and represent only approximate
amounts because of the subjective judgements involved
in developing such information. There are authoritative
guidelines regarding the engineering criteria that have to
be met before estimated oil reserves can be designated as
‘proven’ and ‘probable’. Proven and probable oil and gas
reserve estimates are updated on regular intervals taking
into account recent production and technical information
about each oil and gas field. In addition, as prices and cost
levels change from year to year, the estimate of proven and
probable oil and gas reserves also changes. This change is
considered a change in estimate for accounting purposes
and is reflected on a prospective basis in the related
amortisation rate for of intangible assets.

Despite the inherent imprecision, engineering estimates are
used in determining amortisation charges and impairment
losses. The capitalised costs of oil exploitation rights
and operation rights are amortised using the units of
production method based on the proven and probable oil
and gas reserves. The useful lives are reviewed annually in
accordance with the production plans of the Group and the
proven and probable reserves of the oil fields.

(vi) Estimation of impairment of coalbed methane

RZEEER(E)

b) FAHHEZEZEEERE
(48)
M S FE
ENREEAER P REBHE K&
EhREE 2 TREFFANETERE
M WEBREHE EHEFTABERER
ETAIFEREIRIHBBH#E] 2
Al FEERETERIREEZER
Mis - BERBBEREE 2G5 A
EHEH Wit ASEBERE&IZE
EREMER - o - AR ERE KKK
KFERFEESEE At BERBEHER
BREZHTHLELREH - HSTED
ME ZEBEAGFEERE Wi
BHREERMNEEEREERHEEF -

BEIRGAFAEANEZITREL B
ZEMMETAAEET#EEER MR ERE
B BN mARENREERXNANR
BB A MFEEAEEECORSE
AERFERRIEAREE 2 £E & KM
AreEBEMBREE SFEHN K-

(i) 1EET R B F f 1 B R 2 Bl 18

resources
The Group tests the exploration and evaluation assets for AEERBEMT4QMBZETERS
impairment according to accounting policies stated in note BRRNHEEETRENR - BEAE
4(g). The assets are reviewed for impairment whenever EESHNBERNE BTREHEEL

events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash
generating unit is determined based on value-in-use
calculations which require the use of assumptions and
estimates. While conducting an impairment review of the
assets, the Group makes certain judgements in making
assumptions about the future gas prices and production
costs, changes in these estimates may result in significant
variance to the statement of comprehensive income.

i T 161 A8 780 L ] Mg (B SRR B E TR (B AR
e —REES —HEELARSCEML
A E B RBEEBEE I EE (5
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42. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)
(vii)  Estimation of assets retirement obligations
Provision is recognised for the future decommissioning and
restoration of oil and gas properties. The amounts of the
provision recognised is the present value of the estimate
future expenditure. The estimation of the future expenditure
is based on current local conditions and requirements,
including legal requirements, technology, price level, etc..
In addition to these factors, the present value of these
estimated future expenditure are also impacted by the
estimation of the economic lives of oil properties. Changes
in any of these estimates will impact the operating results
and the financial position of the Group over the remaining
economic lives of the oil and gas properties.

. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate, currency and
commodity price risk arises in the normal course of the
Group’s business. These risks are limited by the Group’s
financial management policies and practices described
below.

a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a
customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to
meet its contractual obligations, and arises primarily from
the Group’s trade and other receivables and cash at banks.

(i) Trade and other receivables

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and
other receivables. Management has a credit policy in place
and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset, in the statement of
financial position after deducting any impairment allowance.
The Group does not provide any guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

As at 31 December 2010 and 2009, the Group had a
significant concentration of credit risk as 100% (2009: 94 %)
of total trade receivables was from one customer.

42, EXE;

FI &R & b=t A AR E
RZEEER(E)

b) I THANERZEERR
(48)
(i) HEEREHREZ 1G5
AEERMREERARIBRENEER
REE HeBRMAt AR 2RE -
AREFAX 2 A HEREMBRERR K
BERREFEL  BEERATE KTk
BERKFEZ -BRRZEARIN HABHE
EREFH A TeZEMEE RKH
MZBRE - EAZEAFZEDERE
AEBRMREECHBREBEFHANLZ
REXBE R BAR -

. R R E R

EE nHEL ME- -IHINERFmE

RERERAEE 2 ABEKBREFE
cRERBRNEBASEZMIEE R

BERFER (BT SARS

a) {EEEE
FERBREMEFAMBIARZ ST
EETANEEMERAKEEMBEE
ZRE BEBRRBREIERAAREZE
YRR N E A R R IB M RTTHR E -

()  EYIR R E M EW AR

$’§IZZT B E ZR B RUKRR R
HihEWRIE - EBEERMEZFEER
R-UTE %iitﬁ*ﬂﬁﬁ?%%ZE HEER

A
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o
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EMBEEZRREREEFIRERS -
AEEYEELEFNER BELAKE

EZEERR
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

a) Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Cash with banks

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by placing
cash and deposits with financial institutions that meet
the established credit rating or other criteria. Given these
high credit ratings, management does not expect any
counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.

As at 31 December 2010 and 2009, the Group had
significant concentration of credit risk as 89% (2009: 48%)
of total cash and cash equivalents were deposited at one
financial institution in Hong Kong with a high credit rating.

b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to
meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet
its liabilities when due, without incurring unacceptable
losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans
to cover expected cash demands, subject to approval
by the Company’s board when the borrowings exceed
certain predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s
policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and readily realisable
marketable securities and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity

requirements in the short and longer term.
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 43. BRI EE (F)
(Continued)
b) Liquidity risk (Continued) b) #REEE£EME(E)
The contractual maturities of financial liabilities are shown as BREaECENRBABERET
below:
Total More than ~ More than 2
contractual Within 1 1 year but years but
Carrying undiscounted year or on less than 2 Less than
The Group amount cash flow demand years 5 years
a8
L i 15/ 1£LE 2FENE
*5E fREE Heng HHREK B2 T B5 LT
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 00
TET TEL TET TEL TEL
2010 2010%F
Non-derivatives: FEOTE -
Other payables and H i fE S FR0R
accruals RERER 878,952 880,317 880,317 - -
2009 2009
Non-derivatives: FEOTE -
Other payables and HibENFRIE
accruals kERER 21,330 21,330 21,330 - -
Amount due to a non-controling B —FR KB A Al
interest of a subsidiary SRV AR 25 7R 270 270 270 - -
Amount due to a controlling owner J&ff —12 5% Bk R 78
- non current — JEENE 46,521 54,262 - 54,262 -
2 Amounts due to directors ENESHA 167 167 167 - -
5 Convertible note RREE 16,824 27,000 500 500 26,000
z 85,112 108,029 22,267 54,762 26,000
g ] = — —J —
g— c) Interest rate risk c) FIERIE
o Borrowings issued at variable rates and at fixed rates N B R 1% 0] 2 F5F R & E E A X2
g_’ expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair ZEEMSAASTRSAENERAR &
g value interest rate risk respectively. The Group’s interest ANEEF X o NEE 2 F RE e E
% rate risk arises primarily from its loans from certain non- R B HE A E i B RIEIEEE E A
g controlling shareholders included in other payables which KAt B 7 & FIEEBRREREEFHK - AR
'“3; bear fixed interest rate at 3% per annum. The Group has AEFBWERZIENRAB ZEE -
g: no cash flow interest rate risk as there are no borrowings WAREBWEIR S TRENERER - NE
3 which bear floating interest rates. The Group has not used BN {E A B 78 T B ¥ F| R 2 /&
1l|16 any financial instruments to hedge potential fluctuations in R & o

interest rates.
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)
d) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
recognised assets and liabilities that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the operations
to which they relate. At 31 December 2010 and 2009, no

43.

B 5 b E 28 (4])

d E%REKE

AEBAZ 7EKRBREZRE NG
EB2NeEB NN BT EZEE
REEKARE - B2010%F K2009F12 A
318 » AEE N EAE L BRSO o

related hedges were made by the Group.

(i) Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the
end of reporting period date to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the entity to which they
relate. The sensitivity analysis includes balances between
group companies where the denomination of the balances
is in a currency other than the functional currencies of the
lender or the borrower.

() FERIXZEEREE
TREJAKERBRERBAERBHRA
ERANERERZYEEB NI ZER
AEZEERABEMAR ZEREARF
B-BEREIMEBREEARAHE A
B MASEBRTIUNETRET 28
BBz EHEE -

The Group AE&EH
2010 2009
United United
Australian States Australian States
dollars dollars  Renminbi dollars dollars  Renminbi
Ax E ARE ax ES ARE
'000 '000 '000 '000 '000 '000
Tr T T T T T
Trade and other receivables JE R 30 e 2 A B W30 - - 406 - 14 573
Note receivable * EhEE 1,949 - - 1,943 - -
Deposits paid Bffke - 59 2,095 = - =
Cash and cash equivalents ReRAEEED 1 1 106 1 1 11
Amounts due from group companies  JEMNEE A AIFE - 922 3,883 - 8,091 1,871
Trade and other payables ENRAR LR A - (78,667) - - = (42)
Amount due to a controlling owner TR R A - - - - - (12,361)
Amounts due to group companies EEBARFE - (100) - - (2,539) -
Overall net exposure BEERTE 1,950 (77,785) 6,490 1,944 5,567 (9,948)

*

Included in interest in a jointly controlled entity

S — FhEHRERER DA 2010 F ]|

-
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 43. R EEEE (8)

(Continued)
d) Currency risk (Continued) d E¥&¥EK(E)
(i) Sensitivity analysis (i) BT

The following table indicates the approximate change in
the Group’s profit/(loss) after income tax expenses (and
accumulated losses) and other components of consolidated
equity in response to reasonably possible changes in the
foreign exchange rates to which the Group has significant
exposure at the end of reporting period. The sensitivity
analysis includes balances between Group companies
where the denomination of the balances is in a currency
other than the functional currencies of the lender or the
borrower. A positive number below indicates an increase
in profit/decrease in loss and other equity where the HKD

TRETHRBREARERSERNEEE
REAXNRERRZIMNEE KA fE 2 & B E

ERAEERAGHRH&EERN, (&
1B) (REFFER ARGaaHEtmE
RED 2N EE BEREINEES
BARBIMZ &R MRSERTINE
THRETZYEEB A 2 EHEFHE -
B TRBEER <EXRKS ATLE
R HE NG EERE bR -
EEATREMER ZEXRES) - RlATgE
HEREMEMEREXRESRFREER

weakens against the relevant currency. For a strengthening ZEE MATERAEEE AAH -
of the HKD against the relevant currency, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the profit or loss and other

equity, and the balances below would be negative.

The Group AEE
2010 2009
Increase Decrease/
in profit after (increase)
taxation and Effect on in loss after Effect on
decrease in other taxation and other

Weakening accumulated components ~ Weakening accumulated components

in HKD losses of equity in HKD losses of equity
BRE&
mHEN  HERHM REEER  HEZRR
REHE#E Clg by REHEH ARBS
ETRE B ZRE BETEE RBY/ (M) P47
% HK$' 000 HK$' 000 % HK$' 000 HKS' 000
% THAT THT % THET TAT
Renminbi ARE 3.5% 268 - 3% (366) -
Australian dollars BT 12% 1,853 - 10% 1,068 -

payiwi sBUIP|OH SeD pue |10 oulS « 0107 10day [enuuy

—
S
(0]
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 43. M EEEE (F)
(Continued)
d) Currency risk (Continued) d E&EEK(E)
(i) Sensitivity analysis (Continued) (i) HENESHT (E)
The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that R E 3 1T Th R 5% NP BB =R 2 B B A 3R
the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the CHIRAERREEBAERDHAEEET
end of reporting period and had been applied to each of the EERERZATEZCMBIEMIR
Group entities’ exposure to currency risk for the financial ZEERE mMAABEMEH (LER
instruments in existence at that date, and that all other FE)RIFTAE -

variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

The stated changes represent management’s assessment iz EHiEEEEBEHER N —ERSE
of reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates RS RIEABEZINEERATRESRIE 2
over the period until the end of the next reporting period. R fEeogmltms BESTKRE
In this respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate between TZHEERAeTRETHBEME
the HKD and the USD would be materially unaffected by MeEMBEZSH cERTE - EXRF
any changes in movement in value of the USD against TZOMEREHAEBETNSEEIR
other currencies. Results of the analysis as presented in the EMEEE T EWIRRE BREASERE 2
above table represent an aggregation of the effects on each RITEXRRERBTUARES 2B 2Kk
of the Group entities’ profit/(loss) after income tax expenses Frefx i ewss (B RiERS &

and equity measured in the respective functional currencies, LHE o 2 TR E20095F 48 A 2 &
translated into HKD at the exchange rate ruling at the end LT o
of reporting period for presentation purposes. The analysis

is performed on the same basis for 2009.

e) Commodity price risk e) FEmEEEKE

The Group engages in petroleum-related activities. The oil AEBREEARMBAZER - ABAT
market is affected by global and regional demands and BRXEREMEBEERRKBEREIZE o FE E
supplies. Prices of onshore crude oil are determined with R ER T2 BB TS 2 R h 815 i
reference to the prices of crude oil on the international TE o RM & 5 R EE fn B 1% T B& Al gt 3 A
markets. A decline in the prices of crude oil and refined SERTBERAERTFNEE - KREEB
products could adversely affect the Group’s financial £ R B OT A4 B 75 T B sk [Rm &
position. The Group historically has not used derivative BREE -

financial instruments to hedge against potential price
fluctuations of crude oil.

f)  Fair values f) A¥E
The fair values of all financial assets and liabilities are not FMEVBEERBREZAFEEAERE
materially different from their carrying amounts. BrETEERAER -

S— hEHRERER DA 2010 F ]|

—_
(o)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (JA7 7ot &)

44. COMMITMENTS

(a) Operating lease commitments

Group

At 31 December 2010 and 2009, the total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
were payable as follows:

44, KiE
(a) BEHEXIE
AEEH
R20104F K2009412 831H » fEfRT A A]
BeECEME R ERBREOT

2010 2009
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

F#&T FE T

Within 1 year 1FE R 3,302 1,656
After 1 year but within 5 years 1FERBESFERN 20 1,656
3,322 3,312

The Group is the lessee of a number of properties held
under operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial
period of one to two years without an extension option.
None of the leases includes contingent rentals.

Company
The Company does not have any significant operating lease
commitments as at 31 December 2009 and 2010.

AEERREKEHERAZENE L
EBEA—RME ZFHEZNTH
RN F1E2F Y EEHEEE-FTF
HEMERERIBERES -

AT
A B H20094F 2010F 12 431 H I #&
EMERKLEHEHRIE -
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44, COMMITMENTS (Continued) 44. %IE (48)

(b) Capital commitments

Group

(i) Authorised but no contracted for

As at 31 December 2010 and 2009, the Group was
committed to develop in total 16 (2009:19) new oil wells
under the development contracts of the Liuluoyu Oil
Field and Yanjiawan Oil Field. The estimated total capital
expenditure for developing these new oil wells is HK$16.4
million (2009: HK$17.3 million).

(i) Contracted but not provided for

(b) BEBFREIE

FEH

() EREEKRITH

R20104F K%2009F12H831H + &N &E
B R E S WA H B &R E EH
A R B 34 168 (20094 : 191@)
FmHF o EBARAEZEHBAHZIER
S H #8 %8 /16,400,00058 JT (20094 :
17,300,000 7T) °

(i)  BEETAIERIERE

2010 2009
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TERT FHETT
Commitments in respect M=REmMDKE R 2 FE
of the Sanijao PSC 118,750 -
Commitments in respect MEEEMDKE R 2 AHE
of the Jinzhuang PSC 4,590 -
123,340 -

Company
The Company does not have any significant capital
commitments as at 31 December 2009 and 2010.

. NN
AR RQ BIR20094F 2010512 A31 H It &
I E R E AN FHE o

-

UVI— REHRZERER DA » 2010 & ]|

—

4_‘ &
>

4



-

>
=)
5
c
0
el
)
o
)
g
-+
N
S
2
o
L]
@
3
)
]
Q
>
a
[a]
Q
wv
T
=3
2
=)
Q@
a
C
3
el
?
a

2

Notes to the Financial Statements

A% %5 8k 3R Mt 5E
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45.

46.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Environmental liabilities

The Group carries out oil exploitation operations in the PRC.
The PRC has adopted environmental laws and regulations
that affect the operations of the oil industry. The outcome
of environmental liabilities under proposed or future
environmental legislation cannot reasonably be estimated
at present, and could be material. Under the existing
legislations, however, management believes that there are
no probable liabilities that will have a material adverse effect
on the financial position of the Group.

The Group also engages in the exploration, development
and production of coalbed methane resources. The
consequence of coalbed mining includes dismantlement and
demolition of infrastructure in the mining sites. The Group
may have obligations to make payments for restoration and
rehabilitation of the land after the sites have been extracted.
However, such amount cannot be measured reliably at this
preliminary stage. Accordingly, no provision is made by
Group in this regard. The director of the Group will assess
such payments at the end of each reporting period.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

The directors consider that the following were related
parties of the Group during the years ended 31 December
2010 and 20089.

45.

46.

HBER

FHRARZAER
AEERTPELEAHRARER - FE
BEETRFRARIER  RFEERE
REBIOBTIRZEE - BEFHK
RZBRILEFMSIBZERRRZAERE
BRI EAR A - AEMREEK -
A RERELE EEERLS X
NrEEAAEAARNRETHRRAESE
ERNEEFEZRE -

AEETKLEREFRRERZGHE
FBEMAE METHRERBZRRE
BIFRBRIFGRES ZEANRE - AKE
FAABETKEBRSRER  XNE
BErERREEZER AW RE
FEE A EARE R EOA A SE M (A A AU S
W2 BR - BN EE IR LEHE
EE AEEEEHNESERSEHHE
R BN -

EXFABALXS

#H 220104 N2009412831H It F &
N BERE AEEZBEBALIT

Name of party

AL EH

Relationship with the Group
HMAEEZAE

Hong Chang Group Limited !
(“Hong Chang Group”)
BEEBERAR(EESRE])

Hong Chang China Limited (“HCC”) !

HEFBEBRAB([BEFE])

Mar/Reg Oil Company 2

Controlling owner of the Company, which is a company
controlled by Ms. Xing Xiao Jing, a director of the Company
RABZERRR - BARR A E SRR 2

A wholly-owned subsidiary of Hong Chang Group
BEKBEZ2ENB AR

Operator of a subsidiary

Mar/Reg Oil Company 2 —XMNBARZEER
Notes: Bt o
1. Hong Chang Group was no longer a controlling owner of the 1. BESEBR2010F12A31HTH AR

Company as at 31 December 2010 and Ms. Xing Xiao Jing
resigned from the Company’s director in March 2009.

2. Mar/Reg Oil Company ceased to be a related party of the 2.
Group after the disposal of King Giant Group set out in note

37(a).

REZERBE  MBERZLETER
2009F3HBEARAIES -

Mar/Reg Oil Company#? B 5237 (a) Fr &
HEEBEEMETIBAEAEE 2B
AL e
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46. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a) Recurring transactions

(i) Sale of crude oil

During the year, the Group sold crude oil of HK$734,000
(2009: HK$584,000) to Mar/Reg Oil Company in the US.

(i) Rental income
During 2009,
HK$582,000 from a related company. The spouse of Ms

the Group received rental income of

Xing Xiao Jing, a controlling owner of the Company, is a
director of that related company.

The directors are of the opinion that the above related party
transactions were conducted on normal commercial terms
and in the ordinary course of business.

(b) Non-recurring transactions

(i) Convertible note

During 2009, the Company issued a convertible note with
a nominal value of HK$25,000,000 to Hong Chang Group.
The convertible note was fully redeemed during the year.
Details are set out in note 32 to the financial statement.

(i) Indemnity

Ms. Xing Xiao Jing had given undertakings to indemnify to
the Group in connection with all losses the Group might
incur relating to an alleged loans and alleged interest
thereon relating to a subsidiary disposed of in 2007. At the
request of Ms. Xing, the Company has agreed to release
Ms. Xing from the indemnity with effect from September
2009. The directors are of the opinion that the risk of
losses associated with alleged loans and alleged interest as
mentioned above is now minimal.

The directors are of the opinion that the above non-recurring
related party transactions, were conducted for commercial
reasons and in the ordinary course of business.

e

>
/i
»

46. EXFBEAN LR 5 ()

(a) EEHRXS

() HERMH

FA - AEE MR EER ZMar/Reg Ol
Companyt & & 734,000/ 7t (2009
4 : 584,000/ 7T) °

(i)  HELA

M2009F A - AN & B A — K #A Bt A AUk
U € U2 A582,000/8 It ° A A &) 4% i
REMERL T2 RBRZARATZ
EEo

0|

F
o

EERA LABABALRZHUNER
EBBRETHLEBRGIET -

(b) EEMXS

() FARREE

20094 A + A A 7] LA H {B25,000,000
BLTETARBREETRESE - %A
BREBERAFERHER - FI15H
A BE T 3R = 2 M E32 o

(i) FHIEIRE
TOBE 2+ 2R ERENTAR
B W AEEE-KER2007F HEZ
MEBARBREIEBERREHS 2
EEMNEMEXEBLR  HEeRELAEE
i 2 BRK ML LER K
A @] [f] & F20094F9 A 7 44 7 & A B8 78
EREZ - EFRAEUNLBEEZEBER
REFTHIT 2 f5 T8 F) 238 A B g & K

EERR LAFERUERBALRS
R AERGERTRMEEHMAETT -
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46. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 46. EXFBALX 5 (&)
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(c) Key management personnel remuneration (c) TEEHWAEMSE
Remuneration for key management personnel of the AREBETFTEEEBAEMNE (BEMKE10
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s executive R EZERARNFRITEES S22
directors as disclosed in note 10, all of the highest paid B B EZERNE22E R 5 E
employees as disclosed in note 11, and three senior BEXfMzHRERRN=Z%GHEEAEX
management personnel are as follows: NZFEBE)WOT :
2010 2009
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FH T
Short-term employee benefits RHEESRN 6,649 4,909
Post-employment benefits B 2 12 A 90 27
Equity settled share-based AR AN 45 & LARR 9 7 2 SRR
payments 488 -
7,227 4,936
Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note & @I ATE TR F (R &
8(b)). 8(b)) °
(d) Financing arrangements (d) Bu&E=RHE
The Group The Company
AEE AT
Amounts due (from)/to Amounts due to
related parties related parties
As at 31 December As at 31 December
(FEd) /Fe - RRBE AN T RRIE FE £ BRESE N £ RRIE
#12A31H #12A31H
2010 2009 2010 2009

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET AT FET TET

Amount due (from)/to a (FBMR) /& 7L e =N

non-controlling interest I IR b e SN IE R AR
of a subsidiary, net (166) 110 - =
Amount due to a controlling JRE 1 422 AR AR R R 0B

owner - 46,521 - =
Amounts due to directors AN S0 - 167 - 167

(166) 46,798 - 167

payiwi sBUIP|OH SeD pue |10 oulS « 0107 10day [enuuy
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46.

47.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(d) Financing arrangements (Continued)

Amount due to a controlling owner as at 31 December
2009 represented loans of HK$54,262,000 which were
unsecured, interest free and repayable in December 2011.
The loans were stated at fair value as of the end of the
reporting period which was estimated by discounting the
nominal value of the loans at current market interest rate
of similar financial instruments. Imputed interest at 8% per
annum of HK$7,741,000 was credited to capital reserve
during the year (note 36 (c) (vii)).
were early settled and, the related capital reserve was

During 2010, the loans

released to accumulated losses accordingly.

The outstanding balances with other related parties are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. The
amounts due (from)/to related parties are included in “other
receivables, deposits and prepayments” and “other payables

and accruals” (notes 26 and 30).

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIE